## **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:		
Sonal Nalkur	Date	

# Moving Newspapers Online:

Newspaper Diversification and Viability (1990-2010)

By

Sonal Nalkur Doctor of Philosophy

Sociology

Advisor: Timothy J. Dowd, PhD
Committee Member: Susanne Janssen, PhD
Committee Member: Cathryn Johnson, PhD
Committee Member: Sabino Kornrich, PhD
Accepted:
Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D.
Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies
 Date

# Moving Newspapers Online: Newspaper Diversification and Viability (1990-2010)

By

Sonal Nalkur
B.A. McMaster University, 2000
M.A., University of Pennsylvania, 2002
M.A. Stanford University, 2005

Advisor: Timothy J. Dowd, PhD

An abstract of
A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the
James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
in Sociology
2013

#### **Abstract**

# Moving Newspapers Online: Newspaper Diversification and Viability (1990-2010)

#### By Sonal Nalkur

Traditional print newspapers have not thrived in the digital age. The number of print newspapers ceasing operations in recent years has increased just as the number of online news sources has increased. Online news production has involved much more than merely a shift from print to digital media – as the forms of news content and the organizations that deliver that content have been affected as well. The primary goal of this dissertation is to better understand the role newspapers have played in the construction of the online news world and how their involvement, in turn, affected their own viability. To illuminate the various factors that contributed to the rise of online news. I employ the Production of Culture analytic approach and demonstrate the ways in which government policy, occupational environments, changes in media ownership, and conceptions of newspaper audiences enabled and constrained online newspaper production. I then use event history analysis to examine the timing of key events that occurred for newspapers over twenty years, and employ neoinstitutional and ecological theoretical perspectives to illuminate my findings. More specifically, I quantitatively examine the factors that influenced 1) the year an existing newspaper decided to go online and 2) the year a newspaper ceased operations for all English daily newspapers in New York and Illinois.

Together, these empirical examinations demonstrate that the demise of newspapers is not merely a function of "supply and demand," so much as it is powerfully influenced by changes in production systems that extend far beyond newspapers. I find that high- and low-circulation newspapers were impacted by the diversification efforts of their peers, while medium-circulation newspapers were moved more by high-circulation or "successful" newspapers. Environmental factors, such as the previous year's activities – particularly with respect to the failures of other newspapers and the online density of high-circulation dailies – characterized the organizational environment for failing newspapers of the time. Diversification was not achieved by publishers that made "daring moves" into new, unknown lines of business. Instead, for newspapers, diversification was evidence of environmental factors that "launched" a new industry in complex but interconnected ways.

# Moving Newspapers Online: Newspaper Diversification and Viability (1990-2010)

By

Sonal Nalkur
B.A. McMaster University, 2000
M.A., University of Pennsylvania, 2002
M.A. Stanford University, 2005

Advisor: Timothy J. Dowd, PhD

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Sociology 2013

#### Acknowledgements

I am deeply indebted to my teachers, friends, and family for accompanying me on the adventure that took shape while I worked on this dissertation. Thank you for encouraging me to do this, for teaching me how to do this, and for sticking with me through this.

I am grateful for the generosity of my doctoral advisor, Tim Dowd, lover of music and art, protector of student passions, and dedicated night owl. A most unreasonably modest scholar himself, he could always see that which I could not. I am enormously appreciative of the fact that he brought life, discipline, and resolve to the questions that swirled about in my head.

Thanks to Susanne Janssen, Cathy Johnson, and Sabino Kornrich, my committee advisors, who gave me the benefit of their experience and expertise. At Emory, I was fortunate to have had countless informal advisors over the years, including John Boli, Irene Browne, Beth Griffiths, Karen Hegtvedt, Mike McQuaid, Leah Roesch, and Tracy Scott, who were generous with their support and guidance. Thanks also to Maggie Stephens, Katie Wilson, Pat Hamilton, and Kimberly Hall for making my journey a smooth one. I am grateful for this community that took me in to share some time together.

The Woodruff Fellowship from the Laney Graduate School generously funded my years of research, and I received additional support from the SIRE program and ORISE in my fellowship years. My academic successes, failures, and experiments were all made possible by these generous bodies.

My dear colleague-friends, Melissa Scardaville, Helene Lee, Jinwon Chung, Lesley Watson, Christina Steidl, and the great Rob O'Reilly cannot be thanked enough for reading drafts, hunting down data, interpreting tables, questioning my findings, and buying me coffee.

Over the years, my brilliant friends Menaka Pai, Kate Higginson, Rachel Gans, Patrick Platt, Jessica Waller, Vishal Rao, Manuel Kingsley, and Michael Norman could be counted on to provide me with insight, encouragement, and creative visions. Without the hours upon hours of wonderful conversations I have had with each of you, I certainly would have finished this project a lot sooner. Thank you for your sense and your nonsense, and for making strong demands of our friendships.

And to my wonderful family – Anil Nalkur, Meeta Nalkur, Priya Nalkur-Pai, and Roshan Pai. If only I hadn't depended so much on your competitive intellects, your aggressive editing practices, and your very evil senses of humor, I might not have recognized them as the most profound gifts of love. Written words and "acknowledgements" will always be inadequate to express just how deeply you reside in my heart.

Above all, my love and gratitude go to my parents for giving me the most complex education of all – for encouraging me to be inquisitive, and for stoking the fires beneath all my passions and adventures. Somehow, you always knew that life, learning, and love were limitless. For showing me the value of grace and the beauty in selflessness, you are forever my greatest teachers.

Thank you.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter Title	
List of Tables and Figures	
Introduction	1
Chapter 1: Production of Culture Approach to Online Newspapers  The Production of Culture Perspective – An Introduction  Law and Regulation  Technology  Industry Structure  Organizational Structure  Occupational Careers  Market	9 10 11 13 15 16 17 18
Discussion of "Why 1955?" by Richard Peterson  Legislation and Regulation Technology Industry Structure Organizational Structure Occupational Careers Market Factors	19 21 23 25 27 27 28
<u>Methods</u>	29
The Newspaper Industry and Its Move Online  Technology  The Internet Infrastructure The Web Interface Continued Innovation of Newspapers  Law and Regulation The 1996 Telecommunications Act The Impact of the Telecom Act on Newspapers 1998 United States v. Microsoft Case The Impact of the Microsoft Ruling on Newspapers The Digital Millennium Copyright Act The 2001 AOL-Time Warner Merger The Impact on Newspapers Industry Structure	30 30 31 33 35 41 42 44 45 47 48 48
Ownership & Newspapers Funding, Content, and Online Newspapers Organizational Structure Occupational Career/Labor Market	49 55 59 64 69

Discussion & Conclusion	
Chapter 2 Online Product Diversification (1990-2010)  Introduction  Historical Overview: From Print to Online, and in Between  Changes in Journalism  The Internet and the News	79 79 80 83 85
The Movement of Newspapers into Online News Imitation and Density: Lessons from the California Thrift Industry Density and Previous Entrants Isomorphism and Institutional Logics	87 97 97
<u>Data Sources</u>	103
Methods	106
Dependent Variables	109
<u>Independent Variables</u> Table 2-0. Descriptive Statistics: Independent Variables	109 110
Results and Discussion  Table 2-1a Diversification Trends among NY English Dailies Table 2-1b Diversification Trends among IL English Dailies Table 2-2a. Annual Trends and Circulation Rates by Organization Size among NY English Dailies Table 2-2b. Annual Trends by Organization Size and Circulation Rates among IL English Dailies Table 2-3. Large Organizations: Entry into Online News Arena Table 2-4. Medium Organizations: Entry into Online News Arena Table 2-5. Medium Organizations: Entry into Online News Arena	112 114 114 115 116 117 119 121
<u>Conclusion</u>	
Chapter 3: The Viability of Newspapers in an Online Age <a href="Introduction">Introduction</a>	123
Historical Overview: The Fall of the Business of Print Saving Print Newspapers Through Technological Innovation Saving Print Newspapers through Consolidation and Media Ownership	124 126 132
Organizations and Structural Inertia: Lessons from Finnish Newspapers	136

<u>Methods</u>	145
<u>Data Sources</u>	146
Dependent Variables	147
Independent Variables	147
Results and Discussion  Table 3-1a. Print Newspapers that "Failed" (and Closed	149
Completely)	149
Table 3-1b. Print Newspapers that "Merged" Editorial and Publishing Divisions	150
Table 3-2. Descriptives of Ecological Variables by Year	156
Table 3-3. Impact of Large Organizations Going Online (Large	
Density) on Failure of all Newspapers	159
Table 3-4. Impact of Large Density (Moving Online) on Failure of Small Organizations (or merger)	160
Conclusion	
Conclusion	163
Appendix	168
Table A1. Independent Variables - Summary Table,	
Definitions	168
Table A2. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Demographic and Ecological Variables, $N = 1265$	171
Table A3. Ecological Variables – Ecological Variables,	
Descriptives Over Time	173
Table A4. Sample Coding Scheme for "Clocks"	176
Bibliography	177

# **List of Tables and Figures**

Tables	Page
Table 2-1a Diversification Trends among NY English Dailies	114
Table 2-1b Diversification Trends among IL English Dailies	114
Table 2-2a. Annual Trends and Circulation Rates by Organization Size	
among NY English Dailies	115
Table 2-2b. Annual Trends by Organization Size and Circulation Rates	
among IL English Dailies	116
Table 2-3. Large Organizations: Entry into Online News Arena	117
Table 2-4. Medium Organizations: Entry into Online News Arena	119
Table 2-5. Medium Organizations: Entry into Online News Arena	121
Table 3-1a. Print Newspapers that Failed'(and Closed Completely)	149
Table 3-1b. Print Newspapers that Merged" Editorial and Publishing	150
Divisions	
Table 3-2. Descriptives of Ecological Variables by Year	156
Table 3-3. Impact of Large Organizations Going Online (Large Density)	
on Failure of all Newspapers	159
Table 3-4. Impact of Large Density (Moving Online) on Failure of Small	160
Organizations (or merger)	

#### Introduction

Traditional newspapers have not thrived in the digital age. The number of print newspapers ceasing operations in recent years has increased just as the number of online news sources has increased. Though the creation of online news has involved much more than merely a shift from print to digital media – as the forms of news content and the organizations that deliver that content have been affected as well – the trend is evident. And yet, the complexities of the initial rise of online news have yet to be understood. While the decline in newspaper readership long preceded the rise of online news' popularity in America, the world of online news is taking shape in the context of this decline, with the involvement of actors who are not primarily in the business of producing "the news." In particular, search engines (e.g., Ask.com), news aggregators (e.g., RSS feeds like NewzCrawler), and other online portals (e.g., Yahoo! and MSN) have become a hub of current events publishing in such a way as they now have key voices in discussions of the state of journalism today.<sup>2</sup> In fact, not only are newspapers losing money, but their efforts to publish online have yet to yield substantial profits – profits that would support editorial operating budgets. Despite this "failure" in the news business, newspapers remain invested in pursuing the online platform and in this way inspire questions about profit-making strategies, at the very least, and more importantly, their viability as a whole.

A long-term view of the newspaper industry demonstrates that it has long been a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> McChesney, Robert and John Nichol. 2010. *The Death and Life of American Journalism: The Media Revolution That Will Begin the World Again*. Philadelphia: Nation Books.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 2009. "Future of Journalism and Newspapers." in *Senate Committee on Commerce, Science and Transportation*. Washington, D.C.

market fashioned by both economic and cultural change. The challenge of financing newspaper publishing has been as unrelenting as the effort to protect the democratic promises of a free press. Newspapers, most often differentiated by their service to geographically-local constituencies, have been the subject of government interventions and protective legislation for decades, making for a somewhat complex marketplace. Subject to frequent changes in media ownership, newspapers have had to rapidly adapt their survival strategies since the 1990s. This period also marks a time when newspapers were managing their organizations amidst raw public expectations and amorphous cultural ideals surrounding the democratizing possibilities of the Internet. The powerful ideas of net neutrality<sup>3</sup> and widespread accessibility not only signaled the latent potential of an online news market, but also ushered in changing value systems for "breaking news" and investigative journalism.

Online news production has involved much more than merely a shift from print to digital media – as the forms of news content and the organizations that deliver that content have been affected as well. While the decline in newspaper readership long preceded the rise of online news' popularity in America, a new world of electronic publishing was taking shape in this context. And given that newspapers put their content online as an extension of existing operations – as opposed to the creation of an entirely new kind of organization – we can look to the state of newspapers just before online newspapers launched as a relevant and meaningful starting point. Included in the discussion that follows in the next three chapters is a consideration of legislative, organizational, and economic factors. Economic customs such as production, expansion,

<sup>3</sup> "Net neutrality" refers to the notion that all content online is equal, and should not be tiered; users should not be charged different amounts for different types of access.

innovation, and consumption have an impact just as do policies and decisions made by courts and legal bodies.

But given that newspaper organizations are complicated by the fact that they are private enterprises that also serve a public good, it is worth noting that their strategies to "innovate" by going online continued primarily along profitability lines, rather than along journalistic lines. As will be demonstrated in the subsequent chapters, after a period of experimentation, online newspapers ended-up looking a lot like their print counterparts, presenting very similar content. They did not focus on interactive journalism, or put resources towards managing a more "civic journalism." It is also interesting, of course, that newspapers pursued technological innovation at all. In the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, newspaper families responded to changes in the marketplace by turning to dynamics in their local marketplace. They understood their business relative to other organizations in their geographic vicinity, rather than relative to other newspapers.<sup>5</sup>

Among other factors, media consolidation in the early 1990s likely contributed to the idea that newspapers stopped looking locally and started considering competitive strategies that were more in line with the entire media conglomerate.

The issue of profitability was recurrent in the public discourse over newspapers during this time period (1990-2010). A huge shift was now solidifying – with newspapers and the Internet culture in which it was embedded – and yet, profit-making from online news was still a challenge. Publishers that operated profitable websites were in the minority. In addition to absorbing the costs of designing and setting up a site, web

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Civic Journalism refers to a style of journalism that is more engaged in the democratic process. Its aim is to better involve audiences in civic processes and conceives of audiences more as engaged citizens than as "consumers."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Schudson, Michael. 2003. *The sociology of news*: Norton New York.

publishers had to pay staff and account for other expenses related to maintaining the site, generating readership, and seeking advertising revenues. Nonetheless, publishers continued to investigate the new media, for fear of losing their core business, particularly classified advertising, to other publishers.

Over the past twenty years, general web use has increased in America, inspiring a myriad of new cultural products and behaviors dealing with interactive technologies.<sup>6</sup> Over these years, the key corporate actors and money makers of the Internet landscape have shifted a few times, as is evidenced in the case of news. With search engines becoming influential news distributors, news wire services more publicly accessed, and the proliferation of software that tailor news feeds to the individual user, newspaper publishers have not fared as well. The proliferation of content providers, blog writers, and online news publishers has grown alongside an entirely different force, namely the world of Google and the centrality of search engines as key portals for online content.<sup>7</sup> The web is used in a multitude of ways, but search engines and the intentions of the companies that support them have impacted the way in which users obtain online content, whether it be medical information, fashion blogs, or the daily news. Eszter Hargittai<sup>8</sup> reminds us that while Google has become an increasingly popular point of entry for Internet users today, a variety of other "portals," including MSN.com or Yahoo.com, together still host the majority of search efforts performed on the web. Portals and news aggregators not only offer consumers access to news stories from a variety of sources

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Hargittai, Eszter. 2010. "Digital Na(t)ives? Variation in Internet Skills and Uses among Members of the "Net Generation"." *Sociological Inquiry* 80:92-113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Auletta, Ken. 2009. *Googled: The End of the World As We Know It*. New York: Penguin Press.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Hargittai, Eszter. 2005. "Survey measures of web-oriented digital literacy." *Social Science Computer Review* 23:371-379.

including wire services, but also to email, entertainment, and other online content.

Today, the web's ability to give voice to news producers is funneled primarily through search engines and online portals. The visibility of a news source is dependent, in part, upon its accessibility as permitted by these online gatekeepers. In this way, the current role search engines or Internet portals occupy is one of intermediary, by which they are neither producer nor consumer, but a necessary conduit between. What these intermediaries have also done is allowed the "cost" of information to remain fairly invisible to the end user. News stories can now be accessed with little concern for the cost of that specific piece of information. Search engines are increasingly run by computer algorithms, making it likely that Internet traffic is highly localized. But interestingly, even among the most dominant news sources online, few have figured out significant profit-making strategies. At present, the winners along those lines are still the search engines and online portals.

The news story today has become highly "decentered," with the locus of news being the topic or category of news under consideration as opposed to the entire newspaper. The "atomization" of news has made the unit of news a searchable article as opposed to an entire newspaper. As such, new ways of navigating headlines are enabled and newspapers that decide to go online cannot merely reproduce their print media products on the Web with little regard for the different ways audiences may now read and process the news. The intermediaries are key gatekeepers to information on the web. And in the case of news, they are not *necessary* gatekeepers, in that people can go directly to the publishers' site. Yet, they are key profit-holders in the current state of the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Ibid.

world.

Undoubtedly, the story of the newspaper is still in flux, with news forms adapting to broader economic and cultural changes. Existing sociological theories suggest that there may be patterns that exist amidst this dynamism – patterns that can help us make sense of what has happened to newspapers in the past two decades and what may be likely in the near future.

Answering questions about the recent history of newspapers and their use of online platforms is at the heart of my dissertation. For instance, among American newspaper publishers, which ones decided to move their content online? And relative to one another, when did newspapers decide to do this? Did their efforts to establish online operations further exacerbate the existing challenges of the newspaper industry, or did they offer a temporary reprieve from decline? Thus, the primary goal of this dissertation is to better understand the role newspapers have played in the construction of the online news world and how their involvement, in turn, affected their own viability.

I will work towards this goal by developing, on the one hand, a detailed understanding of the history of news and newspapers in the U.S., with a particular focus on the factors that enabled the recent development of online news. To illuminate the various factors that contributed to the rise of online news, I employ the Production of Culture analytic approach in Chapter 1 to better organize and expand upon the creation of online newspapers as a cultural object. On the other hand, I will look closely at the timing of key events that occurred for newspapers over the past twenty years. In particular, I will quantitatively examine the factors that influenced 1) the year an existing newspaper company decided to go online (Chapter 2) and 2) the year a newspaper ceased

operations and the impact of product diversification efforts on these "failures" (Chapter 3). Together, these historical examinations will offer substantive insights for observers concerned with the state of newspapers in a digital age, wherein we see the rise of one product (online news) and the decline of an interconnected other (newspapers). To be sure, I examine a brief but critical period in the history of the newspaper industry in great depth, namely from 1990-2010. This period frames and contains the year the first newspaper in the US went online, as well as the years that all English-language daily newspapers are online.

My dissertation proceeds in three chapters. The first chapter offers a discussion of the historical situation of newspapers that allowed for online newspapers to become a viable product. I frame my discussion using the Production of Culture approach. The Production of Culture approach begins with the idea that cultural objects are powerfully shaped by the conditions of their production, as evidenced in the various factors that work to ensure their distribution and use. DiMaggio details the primary arguments of the perspective by noting that not only are the content and style of cultural works powerfully shaped by their social context, but that the sociological perspectives on work, organizations, and industries enable the analysis of this social context – noting that the context varies by place and time. And so I find the approach particularly valuable in understanding the various factors that allowed online newspapers to emerge into American society in the way they did.

Chapters 2 and 3 focus on all English-language dailies in New York and Illinois. I look at hard-news newspapers, and thus exclude any discussion of free newspapers. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> DiMaggio, Paul. 2000. "The production of scientific change: Richard Peterson and the institutional turn in cultural sociology." *Poetics* 2000:107-136.

second chapter offers my evaluation of newspaper publishers' timing in establishing online news operations. I model my analyses after Heather Haveman's work on the California thrifts market, which draws upon ecological and institutional theories and uses event history analysis. The third chapter discusses my analysis of the likelihood of newspapers going out of business as a consequence of putting resources towards an online product. I model my analyses after Amburgey et al.'s work on Finnish newspapers and use event history analysis to understand the factors that influence the timing of organizational mortality.

This study will focus on occurrences over the past twenty years, a time period wherein online news publishing experienced rapid growth and newspapers experienced remarkable challenges. Overall, I hope my study offers a thorough examination of the newspaper industry's move online between 1990 and 2010.

## **Chapter 1: Production of Culture Approach to Online Newspapers**

This chapter will offer a historical grounding of the newspaper industry and its movement toward online news, by employing the Production of Culture perspective.

Recent newspaper history is one shaped not by a single, overriding factor but rather by a confluence of factors necessary for the "launching" of online news in the modern sense, whereby newspapers offer their content in both print and online forms. From its inception, online news emerged at the intersection of disparate industries, its evolution and capacities dependent upon technological advances and the involvement of actors that were not primarily in the business of producing "the news." This chapter will employ the production of culture perspective to better understand these various actors and how they made way for the launch and mass use of online newspapers.

In the mid-1990s, the formative state of Internet technologies (i.e. dial-up connections, software platforms, etc.) that could deliver news content impacted the form and profitability of online news. These nascent technologies influenced how newspaper organizations initially saw the relationship between readers, advertisers, Internet Service Providers (ISPs), journalists, and the product they could create. By 2010, electronic news had become deeply integrated with online portals, search engines, and social-networking platforms. Over a very short period of time, America had changed the way online newspapers would be created and consumed.

With this, I turn to the "production of culture" perspective to better illuminate the cultural, economic, and political context that supported the production of online newspapers in America. As will be explained below, the production of culture perspective provides an ideal framework for approaching the rise of online news, as that

approach is built around understanding the interplay between important factors that can shape the pivotal moments when genres and other cultural forms – like online newspapers - become viable. I will begin with an introductory overview of the perspective, and then discuss in greater detail each of the six constraints commonly applied in the analytic approach.

#### The Production of Culture Perspective – An Introduction

Social scientists and media scholars have long been concerned with the issue of diversity in production. While there is much diversity in the products media organizations create for potential consumers, only a small number of products actually make it to market, and an even smaller number persist long enough in societies to impact lifestyles, identities, and patterns of behavior. Products do not merely enter the marketplace as a consequence of "demand," even as consumer response is crucial to sales and the persistence of a product. The production process itself, filters into the marketplace a set of products much smaller than the set of possibilities. These filters and constraints influence the marketplace long before consumers have a chance to create or disable demand, and consequently impact the range of products brought to market. The production of culture perspective demonstrates that diversification in media markets may be understood by examining the process by which people, organizations, and institutions together enable and constrain the production of a particular cultural object. 12

The production of culture approach provides an ideal framework for approaching the rise of online news, as it is built around understanding the interplay between six

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Dowd, Timothy J. 2004. "Production perspectives in the sociology of music." Ibid.32:235-246.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Peterson, Richard A. 2000. "Two ways culture is produced." Ibid.28:225-233.

factors that shape the pivotal moments when genres and other cultural forms become viable. The framework will help expose the confluence of factors (the rapidly changing industries, technologies, and organizational arrangements) that comprise the constituent elements of contemporary news consumption. By examining a particular time period wherein rapid change in the news was evident, we can better point to both the stable and destabilizing alterations that allowed online news to flourish in the way that it did.

The production of culture perspective highlights six factors in order to organize discussion of the social context of a given cultural object. These include: technology, law and regulation, industry structure, organizational structure, occupational careers, and market factors. Most scholars working from the production of culture perspective consider these factors as co-dependent and intertwined, in that changes in one are likely to impact the rest of the system of production. I will begin by discussing how each of these constraints function, and then I will turn to a specific example – the rise of rock 'n' roll – as a means by which to highlight the interplay between the six factors. After laying the groundwork to the production of culture perspective, I will apply the approach in order to detail how online news emerged as an entity at the turn of the century.

#### Law and Regulation

To better understand the social context of a cultural object, Peterson asks scholars to consider the laws and regulations that either support or disrupt production. He reminds us that the "law is not a neutral structure but is a resource that may be used to gain and consolidate power, shaping the nature and content of the popular arts in the process." <sup>13</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Peterson, Richard A. 1982. "Five Constraints on the Production of Culture: Law, Technology, Market, Organizational Structure and Occupational Careers\*." *The Journal of Popular Culture* 16:143-153.

For example, copyright law enables creative activity to be understood as property and consequently gives meaning to the relationships of exchange that produce and distribute art and media. By defining the ways in which products or services can and cannot be bought or sold, laws give meaning to exchange. Laws define legitimate exchange and thus also define theft, crime, and illegal exchange. Consequently, laws may delineate between that which is innovative and that which is stolen. Regulatory bodies and laws – patent and copyright in particular – are likely to answer questions of ownership, not only protecting creators, but also enabling the capitalization of creation. Laws may also make the persistence of one product cheaper or more efficient than a comparable product, as in the case of tariffs, consequently impacting the industry structure as both gatekeeper and promoter. Copyright laws, anti-trust laws, legislation put forward by the Federal Communications Commission (FCC), and laws concerning censorship are all among the many laws that most powerfully impact media industries and the arts. They shape what kinds of relationships of exchange are possible between organizations, industries, and individuals and consequently become the "groundrules" by which a creative marketplace flourishes or fails.<sup>14</sup>

Peterson also reminds us that even laws that come from government entities are not solely top-down efforts of coercion or constraint. The activity and process of regular lobby impact legislative decisions. This activity points us to the ways in which industries interact with one another and with relevant legislative bodies. <sup>15</sup> In other words, policies are often evidence of the interrelatedness of media industries (with one another, or with

Peterson, Richard A. and N. Anand. 2004. "The Production of Culture Perspective." *Annual Review of Sociology* 30:311-334.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Dimaggio, Paul and Paul M. Hirsch. 1976. "Production Organizations in the Arts." *American Behavioral Scientist* 19:735

non-media organizations). And further, the degree to which laws are enforced or ignored to suit the political or financial interests of those involved in legislative negotiations on any level also impact how laws influence media production. <sup>16</sup>

Undoubtedly, laws vary in the degree to which they are enforced or are enforceable and this fact will certainly have consequences for new industries.

## Technology

Technological developments may enable, influence, or constrain the production of cultural objects. They may also enable efficiencies in production, creativity in production, or limits in the production process. In introducing the Production of Culture perspective, Peterson pays homage to Marshall McLuhan's media scholarship that points us to the cognitive impact of a medium. Broadly-speaking, McLuhan argues that the medium through which messages are transmitted structures a person's cognitive experience of that message. Peterson extends McLuhan's "the medium is the message" argument to remind scholars that technology also shapes the *content* of communication. For example, "[a]t the microlevel, DeNora (1995) shows that Beethoven's ability to express his skills as a performer/composer depended on the development of a new music-making machine, the pianoforte." The harpsichord, which he would have otherwise had to have played, could not have captured the emotional sensitivity or wide range of playing styles enabled by the pianoforte. So, technological developments may also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Peterson, Richard A. 1982. "Five Constraints on the Production of Culture: Law, Technology, Market, Organizational Structure and Occupational Careers\*." *The Journal of Popular Culture* 16:143-153.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Peterson, Richard A. and N. Anand. 2004. "The Production of Culture Perspective." *Annual Review of Sociology* 30:311-334.

<sup>18</sup> Ibid

allow some artists and creators to shine, while others become part of antiquated artistic movements.

For Peterson, the relevance of examining technological aspects of social context is that communication between individuals and organizations is enabled, augmented, and at times, inhibited by technology. And all of this communication impacts production capabilities. Face-to-face communication aside, most interaction and messaging is mediated by technological interfaces. Styles of communication, habitual or ritualized interactions, are likely to be impacted by technological developments. And so both the form and the content of a cultural object may be impacted by the technologies that dominate or are available during a particular time period.

The technologies that become dominant in society are sustained due to characteristics of the technology that conform to or enable the persistence of existing social norms. Alternately, new technologies are often those that escape control. In other words, a technological innovation that faces little competition, little regulation, and powerful promotion by an influential sponsoring organization, is more likely to make it to consumers. In DiMaggio and Hirsch's discussion on organizational approaches to the study of artistic production systems, <sup>19</sup> the authors note that "Cultural production systems are characterized by a constant and pervasive tension between innovation and control." This "control" often exists in the form of social norms. So in the case of the technological innovation, new products or inventions may be proposed, but their survival is contingent upon mechanisms that gatekeep, limit, and control the proliferation of diversification. As DiMaggio and Hirsch remind us, "there are no clear formulas for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Dimaggio, Paul and Paul M. Hirsch. 1976. "Production Organizations in the Arts." *American Behavioral Scientist* 19:735.

novelty. Managers, creators, directors, and gatekeepers each develop their own criteria, all in an atmosphere of minimal direct feedback."<sup>20</sup> And so in exploring technological innovation, it quickly becomes apparent that variety is itself constrained by other social factors. Peterson's framework becomes ever-more valuable when we consider the ways in which the other five factors are deeply intertwined with technological developments, as they are likely to be shaped by regulations, markets, and other institutional factors.<sup>21</sup> Industry Structure

While not initially included as an analytic category in the Production of Culture approach, Peterson does address the idea of industry structure, as do DiMaggio and Hirsch, <sup>22</sup> and Peterson and Berger<sup>23</sup> in later discussions. At any given period in time, an industry may be characterized by factors such as the degree of vertical integration, the amount of horizontal integration, the number of niche-market divisions, or the likelihood that mass-produced products are widely supported. And further, industries will differ in the degree to which tasks are centrally-controlled, contracted out, or invested in by external bodies. Industries also vary by the number of firms that compete with one another. Diversity in production has been shown to vary as a function of the number of competing firms in an industry. Many scholars, including Peterson and Berger, "have shown that the greater the number of competing firms in the popular music industry, the greater the diversity in types of music presented." And so the way in which an industry is structured will impact competition, variety, and many characteristics of production.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> DiMaggio & Hirsch, Ibid.:740

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> DiMaggio and Hirsch, Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> DiMaggio and Hirsch, Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Peterson, Richard and David G. Berger. 1975. "Cycles in symbol production: The case of popular music." *American Sociological Review* 40:158-173.

# Organizational Structure

Examining the structure of an organization enables us to better understand how the creation of a product is influenced by the character of the relationships and routines of the creator's work environment.<sup>24</sup> The term "structure" refers to the set of relationships that enable the financing, distribution, and creative production of a symbolic product. Individuals, as employees, managers, or supporters, are brought together and must work in some collective fashion in order to put forth and distribute items. The nature of their collective arrangement is the organizational structure. Peterson and Anand delineate the three most prominent organizational forms in culture industries. They include: "a) the bureaucratic form with a clear-cut division of labor and a many-layered authority system committed to organizational continuity, b) the entrepreneurial form having neither a clear-cut division of labor nor a many-layered hierarchy committed to short-term success, and c) a variegated form of large firm that tries to take advantage of the potential flexibility of the bureaucratic form without giving up central control by acquiring creative services through short-term contracts."25 Each form has consequences for the lives of the individuals involved as well as the type of product that is enabled. Larger firms tend to establish more predictable routines and often control the means of distribution. Small firms, on the other hand, tend to make facile the exploration of new styles and fashions<sup>26</sup> as their relational arrangement is more simple and consequently enables entrepreneurial ventures from within. Decision-making can take a little longer in larger organizations as

<sup>24</sup> Dimaggio, Paul and Paul M. Hirsch. 1976. "Production Organizations in the Arts." *American Behavioral Scientist* 19:735.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Peterson, Richard A. and N. Anand. 2004. "The Production of Culture Perspective." *Annual Review of Sociology* 30:311-334., 2004.p. 316

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Crane, Diana. 1997. "Globalization, organizational size, and innovation in the French luxury fashion industry: Production of culture theory revisited." *Poetics* 24:393-414.

channels of communication are more complex,<sup>27</sup> even in instances where large firms organize into multiple small units. Standards of quality and excellence may vary significantly depending on the ways in which some types of relationships are enabled or disabled by the type of structures therein.

## Occupational Careers

In discussing "functions, roles, and careers" in artistic production systems,

DiMaggio and Hirsch detail three different relational arrangements that enable the

creation of new products. Creation can be individualistic or sequential, wherein a unique

creator designs a product or a plan for a product that may be executable by another;

interactive, in that production emerges through the negotiation between two artists or an

author and an editor; or it can be corporate, wherein creation requires the assembly and

bringing-together of many different creative and technological elements.<sup>28</sup>

The author or artist's understanding of her role in the production process is related to both the nature of the work she produces but also the entire set of relationships that impact production. Workers may have more or less freedom to define themselves, depending on such factors as whether they belong to a bureaucratic craft union, whether they are freelancers or contractors ("entrepreneurial mode"), or whether their working conditions constrain creativity or promote mechanized conformity.

It is also valuable to note that in different regions and at different periods in time, the skills of some creators might be in greater demand than the skills and capabilities of others. For example, it may be the case that the ability to digitally edit film is more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Peterson, Richard A. and N. Anand. 2004. "The Production of Culture Perspective." *Annual Review of Sociology* 30:311-334.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Dimaggio, Paul and Paul M. Hirsch. 1976. "Production Organizations in the Arts." *American Behavioral Scientist* 19:735.

valuable in Los Angeles than in Detroit, mainly because there is more demand for film editors near an industry hub. Training institutions and their ability to place creators in jobs that build on trained skills can also impact how careers in creative fields take shape.

Artists and creators are likely to generate work that responds to various demands and ideologies. For example, some artists may be more intent on having critics or elites as their primary audience, while others may create for the masses, or just for themselves. The decisions artists make along these lines (or the decisions made for them) are likely to influence the variety of strategies they employ for production, as well as their self-concepts and identities. Abstract ideals and ideas that govern artistic endeavors, such as the notion of "authenticity," can also inspire various forms of social control from within a creative community that demands its creators remain "true" to the traditions of their group.

#### Market

Peterson and Anand remind us that in discussing "markets," we are effectively attending to specific conceptualizations of audiences or consumers. More specifically, markets often denote audiences as financial decision-makers:<sup>31</sup> And so the various ways in which audiences are defined, measured, and generally understood by creators and industry will significantly impact the type of products likely to be distributed. Naturally, a potential consumer base is heterogeneous and somewhat unknowable. And so the ways in which they are imagined, or understood through research (itself a socially-constructed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> DiMaggio & Hirsch Ibid., 738

<sup>30</sup> Ihid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Peterson, Richard A. and N. Anand. 2004. "The Production of Culture Perspective." *Annual Review of Sociology* 30:311-334.

endeavor), is likely to impact market practices, and consequently the persistence and promotion of some cultural objects over others.

Ideas about the state of the marketplace can impact the socialization of employees, creators, and managers. How individuals learn their trade may be impacted by learning "what sells" or what is likely to resonate with potential audiences. They may more accurately assess the "demands" of various types of audiences.

### Discussion of "Why 1955?" by Richard Peterson

I now turn to an exemplary piece of scholarship by Richard Peterson in order to demonstrate how the Production of Culture approach has been applied by others. In this case, Peterson uses the framework to understand the factors that lead to the rise of rock'n'roll as a viable genre around 1955. I use this example to not only reveal how each of the constraints may be handled analytically, but also to evidence that the value of the constraints comes from understanding their confluence.

To better appreciate the value of the Production of Culture approach to analysis, I take-up Peterson's discussion of the advent of rock music in "Why 1955?" In applying the approach, Peterson is able to point to a specific point in time, the year 1955, as pivotal to rock music. In the study, Peterson asks, "If rock did not emerge spontaneously out of the Zeitgeist of the mid-1950s, then what did give rise to rock and why did it emerge so abruptly in this brief period?" Peterson questions the notion that a singular artist or creator, even if worthy of celebration, is solely responsible for an aesthetic revolution or movement. Instead, Peterson employs the production of culture perspective to delineate the contributions of the culture industry that created opportunities to be ceased by artists,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Peterson, Richard A. 1990. "Why 1955? Explaining the advent of rock music." *Popular Music* 9:97-116. (97)

producers, and broadcasters. He maintains that in any era there are a much larger number of creative individuals than ever reach notoriety, and that the emergence of notables, like Elvis, are the consequence of disruptions in the existing routines of culture industries. The multiple disruptions and changes from a variety of institutions – occupational, market, regulatory, and industrial - are what, in fact, allow opportunities for creative innovators to emerge. In this article, Peterson traces the advent of rock music and demonstrates the various forces that created the opportunity space for this genre to popularize. To ground his discussion, he asks: "What if the opportunities made available to someone like Elvis Presley were made available to someone else in a different time?" He then proceeds by using the Production of Culture analytic framework to parse-out the "opportunities" that enabled the rise of rock music.

Effectively, Peterson asks how it is that "demand" for a cultural good – like rock music – gets recognized and met. What factors might have created or impeded a recognition of the demand for rock music? Peterson looks at patterns of behavior, assumptions, and inertial thinking by decision-makers in the music industry that allowed the demand to remain unaddressed. And then he looks to the changes in these same factors that opened up the possibility for demand to be met, and for rock music to emerge. It is these factors that Peterson refers to as the "constraints" in the production of culture approach. He employs the word hesitatingly, though, as he conceives of the factors more as "forces" that organize and "stimulate" change. 34 In effect, he looks at legislative, technological, industry, organizational, occupational, and market dynamics that enabled the rock 'n roll explosion of the time. I summarize each of these discussions

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Ibid. p.97

<sup>34</sup> Ibid. p.98

below.

# <u>Legislation</u> and Regulation

Peterson points to three types of legislation that powerfully impacted the music industry in the case of rock music: copyright law, patent law, and FCC regulations. The US Copyright Law of 1909 changed the status quo by resolving to protect the owners of musical compositions. Prior to the legislation, writers, publishers and song-owners would not be compensated for the use of their music, and would not receive any royalties by the sheet-music printers who would sell their songs. They lobbied to have their work thought of as a piece of property capable of being bought and sold, a massive shift in the perception of artistic works of the time. It wasn't until 1914 that a group called the ASCAP (The American Society of Composers, Authors, and Publishers) was formed to collect royalties for public performances. Even though the enforcement of these policies was not particularly effective until the 1930s, ASCAP was able to influence what music would be listened to by the public. It was able to mandate that only ASCAP-licensed music could be played on the radio, among other areas. In 1939, the radio networks were in a dispute with ASCAP over increased licensing fees, and consequently formed BMI (Broadcast Music Incorporated), a rival agency intending to offer incentives to ASCAP publishers and songwriters to defect. By 1940, ASCAP-licensed songs were excluded from radio airplay, while BMI songs gained widespread public exposure. BMI was another third-party organization responsible for collecting fees and royalties from composers, artists, and publishers. To be sure, BMI wasn't just about getting ASCAP defectors, more importantly, it catered to music and musicians that ASCAP ignored (namely, R&B, blues, etc). And so its emergence contributed strongly to both the

diversity and the viability of rock music. While ASCAP eventually came to terms with the radio networks, the legislation and the pursuant feud between regulatory bodies impacted what music would get disseminated to the public. So ultimately, changes in copyright law of the time made it possible for artists to levy royalties on their work. Because the law provided no mechanism by which to collect money or monitor performance, third-party entities like ASCAP and BMI emerged. These two bodies were private membership organizations and consequently excluded many artists and genres. As a result, they would significantly influence what got played on radio stations around the country.

Peterson goes on to discuss the relevance of patent law in influencing rock music's emergence by noting the ways in which standards in the phonograph industry would limit or increase the amount of music that could be put on a record.<sup>35</sup> A number of media laboratories of the time experimented with different vinyl materials, thicknesses of material, and vinyl diameters to figure out which ones would best suit the market.

Peterson notes that the "'battle of the record speeds' went on for several years, by which time there were millions of record players on the market that were capable of playing both speeds, and 78s as well."<sup>36</sup> Government mediation would resolve the battle, by helping rivals pool patents, and settle on two forms: 45s and 78s. The 78s were delicate, and required special distribution systems that smaller companies could not sustain.

Consequently, the sturdier 45s were easier and cheaper to ship in 1948, facilitating mass distribution of music.

And finally, Peterson cites the relevance of FCC regulation in influencing the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Ibid. p.100

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Ibid. p.100

advent of rock prior to 1955 as it is the body that regulates the number of broadcasting stations available throughout the United States. Even as the popularity of radio grew in the 1930s, the FCC held tight restrictions on the number of stations licensed to each market, thereby favoring existing stations, such as NBC and CBS. Restrictions were increased during the War, as it was widely-reasoned that electronic materials for transmitters would go first to war efforts. These restrictions created a backlog of applications for radio stations which would rapidly unfurl in 1947. After that, new licenses went to smaller, independent stations that relied heavily on photograph records for their airplay. Much of the music on photograph records at the time, was rock music. Technology

Peterson credits the development of the vinyl 45 rpm record, the television, and the transistor radio receiver as the technological elements that contributed to the rise of rock music in America. Peterson discusses both "indirect" and "direct" effects of technology on rock music. He argues that the rise of television had an indirect effect on the rise of rock music in that it offered networks a reason by which to remove their objections to the licensing of additional radio stations. In turn, a glut of radio stations was made possible, many of which would play less expensive phonograph records with rock music on them. The "direct" impact of television on radio, Peterson would ascribe to changes in the market, rather than to technology. With the rising popularity of television in the late 1940s, radio network programs were increasingly transferred to television, consequently creating a great deal of open radio airtime. This increased amount of airtime had executives scrambling for new airplay strategies. At the time, radio executives pushed a wide range of programming on their airwaves, as they tried to

appeal to the sensibilities of a very heterogeneous audience. New strategies, however, reduced the aesthetic range of music often heard on any given radio station, and instead launched a practice of stations adhering to genres or categories of music and programming, which would eventually result in the successful creation of "Top Forty" stations. In the case of rock music, the Top 40 stations would create devoted fanbases by not only offering a specific type of programming, but also by targeting certain segments of their audience.<sup>37</sup>

Peterson cites one more technological advance of the time, the transistor radio, as having a significant impact on the increased popularity of rock music. The transistor radio came out of Bell Labs, but was widely distributed by Japanese manufacturers in the form of cheap, lightweight boxes that could be carried to parties or to work. The technology offered consumers a relatively cheap and effortless way in which to incorporate radio and rock music in their daily lives. All in all, the technological advances Peterson cites opened-up space in radio airtime, creating an opening for new programming, which was most cost-effectively occupied by rock music, which had been distributed on vinyl 45 rpm.

#### **Industry Structure**

In his discussion of the import of industry structure on the advent of popular rock music, Peterson contrasts industry structure in 1948 with industry structure in 1958, a few years "after rock music had become well established." He compares two industries – radio broadcasting and the record industry – over two points in time, 1948 and 1958.

Radio broadcasting, in 1948 was an industry that consisted of four primary national

<sup>37</sup> Ibid. p.113

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Ibid. p.103

networks that had local affiliates in various radio markets across the country. National programming did not play phonograph records, but instead had studio bands perform content. And further, content varied substantially, with station executives believing that they had to keep a vast audience with wide-ranging interests excited and entertained as long as they could.

Peterson describes the record industry of 1948, on the other hand, as "as concentrated as it had ever been and more concentrated than it has been at any time since."<sup>39</sup> At the time, four firms dominated the market, releasing 81% of records that hit the weekly top ten charts. Peterson demonstrates that these firms maintained their dominant position in three key ways: 1) by keeping creative talent under long-term contracts, 2) by monopolizing distribution channels, and 3) by remaining close to content gatekeepers in network radio who were responsible for determining airplay content. As a consequence, the record companies would become extremely powerful in determining what type of music would reach audiences. Over the next six years, radio stations and record companies would become deeply intertwined and bound to one another, instead of being in competition with one another.

By 1958, it was clear that television would not replace radio. National radio programming at the time was expensive, and competition was high, with each of the four networks vying for a greater share of the national audience. Programming efforts included creating new content in dramatic, comedy, and live music programs. Financing was achieved by national advertisers, making funding and programming by smaller, local stations more challenging. Smaller stations simply could not compete with the national

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Ibid. p.104

broadcasters. And so, they turned to local advertisers and cheaper, phonograph records for solutions. So now, instead of competing with the record industry, radio was now coupled with them, each bound symbiotically with the other. As smaller local radio stations began to compete with one another, more and more records were getting airplay, consequently increasing the aesthetic range of records being played across airwaves as a whole by the mid-1950s.<sup>40</sup>

The record industry of 1958 was experiencing a significant recovery, having been in decline in the late 1940s, with record sales increasingly gradually in the early 1950s. 41 While the large record companies were invested in the "swing and crooner" aesthetic, recently-founded smaller companies began to release tracks that were much more popular with audiences. And so a shift occurred in the industry, wherein the top four firms gradually lost market share through the early 1950s, and then rapidly lost sales, reaching 34% combined market share by 1959. The oligopolistic industry had transformed into an industry with a large number of small competitors who were successful due to the efforts by smaller radio stations to actively seek out records – regardless of their source – that resonated with their audiences. And further, the major recording companies were often resistant to the changing aesthetic of the time, making room for smaller labels to invest in new rock performers. And soon, national distribution channels were willing to distribute records by any firm willing to pay their fees, again changing the industry dynamic from what it had been only 10 years prior.

#### Organizational Structure

<sup>40</sup> Ibid.p.105

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Peterson, Richard A. 1990. "Why 1955? Explaining the advent of rock music." *Popular Music* 9:97-116. P.105

With regards to organization structure, phonograph record firms moved from being predominantly large, bureaucratically-organized entities in 1948 to smaller companies that were nearly "solo production" shops (meaning that all creative stages were performed in-house, often under the jurisdiction of one person) by 1958. The larger, major firms lost nearly three-quarters of their market share, as discussed above, but later adapted by becoming financing and distribution companies for the smaller firms by the 1970s.

Functionaries in 1940s bureaucratic record companies were often commissioned with finding the appropriate singer or band for songs written by the company's songwriters, while the 1950s saw the rise of the music "producer" who sought out promising groups who wrote and performed a selection all their own.

## **Occupational Careers**

In considering the impact of occupations and occupational changes as a force that supported the rise of rock, Peterson moves us from a macro level to a more micro level focus. The primary shift in occupational careers in the radio between 1948 to 1958 had to do with a change in the industry from being replete with craft and bureaucratic roles to an industry that would support one the rise of the showman-entrepreneur DJ. Craftsmen value competency and efficiency, but don't work to draw attention to themselves while functionaries fill bureaucratically structured organizations and maintain the continuity and stability of a firm. In the late 1940s, craftsmen radio announcers were praised for their ability to have a "radio voice," rising somewhat anonymously through the ranks to work at a major station or possibly a network. By the late 1950s, however, DJ's were praised for having distinct voices and personas. They would talk knowingly about the

excitements and heart-breaks of youth and were empathetic to young audiences who would request love songs. The "personality DJ" was active in local community, and became both trusted critic and gatekeeper to new music or potential hit songs.

Changes in the record business had to with a shift from predominantly craftsmen and functionary-based organizations to showman and entrepreneurial workers, with showman representing often-gregarious, attention-obsessed individuals and entrepreneurs as creative engineers who defied convention both externally and from within firms.

Peterson saw this change as reflective of the changing record industry as a whole.

Songwriters in 1948, often employed by publishing houses or publishing divisions at record companies, wrote songs to satisfy the demands of those commission the songs. By the late 1950s, however, singer-songwriters were increasingly seen to have an "image" and were seen to be speaking to their audiences, more and more out of personal experiences, a style that came to the helm by the 1960s.

### **Market Factors**

When discussing the relevance of market forces on rock music, Peterson emphasizes that from a production perspective, the "market" refers to the ways in which audiences are conceptualized by the industry. The basic market shift Peterson sees is the move from a homogeneous market in 1948 to a heterogeneous market by 1958. In 1948, the four competing radio networks imagined themselves trying to gain a greater share of a vast, homogenous market. Efforts to create programming that was attractive to wider audiences did less in creating appeal and more in creating programming that would offend as few people as possible. Even in the 1950s, programmers feared that audiences

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Peterson, 1990 Ibid., p.111

would become bored if radio stations did not offer a wide range of offerings. Instead, they found that people were drawn to a relatively narrow aesthetic range. Once these observations were made by some influential music directors, radio experienced the introduction of Top Forty, country, jazz, and genre-based stations. The vast number of small companies and stations were able to fill this seemingly new demand.

#### Methods

I now turn to a brief discussion of the methodological approach I used to apply the Production of Culture analytic approach to the study of the newspaper industry and its movement online. In this chapter, I use archival materials and relevant scholarly work to employ the production of culture approach analytic approach. I began by reading scholarly work by media scholars and historians that pointed to developments in media and newspaper industries in America over the 20<sup>th</sup> century. I then did Lexis/Nexis searches using "online newspapers," "online news" as my initial search terms from 1985-2010. For these searches, I primarily looked at coverage of the issue in both the popular press (primarily in The New York Times and The New Yorker), and in the trade press (Editor & Publisher International). I also did searches on the "Newspaper Association of America" and the "Association of Newspaper Editors" in the same time period. And finally, another significant archival resource for me was the Standard and Poor's Industry Survey – media and advertising editions. I accessed all editions from 1990 through 2010.

#### The Newspaper Industry and Its Move Online

So now, I take-up Peterson's challenge to perform analyses framed by the six constraints he delineates in the context of the newspaper industry during a time when it is

on the brink of launching online news.<sup>43</sup> These six constraints, the distinctions less a reflection of social forces working independently and more a valuable analytic framework for organizing inquiry of the many social forces at play, will help structure my discussion of the factors that made the emergence of online news possible.

## **Technology**

Pavlik reminds us that "[j]ournalism has always been shaped by technology." And while this statement is true, it understates the more widespread changes happening in American society at-large that were impacting the work of journalists in the 1990s.

Online news has been a part of American life for almost two decades now. In many ways, its rise parallels the rise of online literacy in this country – a literacy complicated by the fact that it involves understanding how to use a computer, but oftentimes, it has also necessitated the literacy of assembly and connectivity – knowing *how* to connect to the Internet - subscribe to an ISP, find a website, launch a browser, and navigate a now seemingly endless stream of hyperlinks. The Internet has, indeed, helped change the way we read news, when we compare it to standard newsprint-based forms. And so by the 2010s, many young news readers find themselves navigating the world of current events with exceedingly different habits than generations before them.

The technological elements that contributed to the construction and mass-use of online newspapers included 1) the creation of a national Internet infrastructure, 2) the creation of the interface, in the form of browsers, graphical user interfaces, and the World Wide Web, and 3) the wider popularity of Internet-based applications such as search

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> —. 1976. "The Production of Culture A Prolegomenon." *American behavioral scientist* 19:669-684.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Pavlik, John. 2000. "The Impact of Technology on Journalism." *Journalism Studies* 1.:229

engines, which ultimately increased web-based communication and digital literacy.

The Internet Infrastructure

The late 1990s to the mid-2000s witnessed the rapid expansion and development of the Internet's infrastructure. Digital technologies were increasingly incorporated into the daily routines of Americans, <sup>45</sup> and much of this use seemed to focus on the use of Internet technologies through personal computers. To connect personal and business computers to one another, households and the workforce would move from using telephone line dial-up connections, T1 lines, high speed Internet (DSL), and broadband capacities to improve the speed with which information was passed along through the Internet. Each of these developments in the technological infrastructure of the Internet would increase the number of Americans online, as well as the relative speeds by which information could be transmitted. The greater "bandwidth" that the electronic infrastructure could support, the more options media companies like newspapers, would have in terms of what they could put online.

What spawned the development of the national Internet infrastructure was the 1990 decommissioning of ARPANET, which effectively privatized the once government-run Internet. In 1969, the US government had issued a grant to develop a network linking computers at different sites to one another. The standards and set of protocols that enabled these technologies came to be referred to as ARPANet, because it was funded by the Advanced Research Projects Agency (ARPA). It was unique for its time, as it effectively created a "network" of computers. Later, the US would also sponsor the invention of the 1973 Transmission Control Protocol, which enabled digital information

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Mitchelstein, Eugenia and Pablo J. Boczkowski. 2009. "Between tradition and change: A review of recent researchon online news production." *Journalism* 10:562-586.

to be passed through these computer networks. Sending information from one computer to another in a reliable and orderly way created the potential for the Internet, as now different types of information could be transmitted, so long as programs existed that could turn that information into transmittable code. This programming system came to be known as TCP/IP (Internet Protocol). The technologies and the Internet system that was created was intended for government use only, as the commissioning of ARPANet stipulated. In 1990, this entire system would not only become publicly-accessible, but it would become the basis of an entirely new marketplace.

While the Internet – as a networked system that could electronically transmit switch signals, which would become the basis of computing code - had been in existence since the 1960s, primarily as a communications system for US military agencies – it had now entered a more public domain, one wherein private companies could cease its potential to offer services that would streamline business operations, thanks to promotions enabled by Al Gore's High Performance Computing and Communication Act of 1991. The more the Internet was used, the more its potential to be a valuable communications device for the masses. The emergent National Information Infrastructure (1991), <sup>46</sup> as it was called, seemed to hold the promise of increased research collaboration and new business ventures. By the time the first web browser, Mosaic, was launched in 1993, scholars and businesspeople alike began to see the potential for the technology to enable civic dialogue, and interpersonal communication. While it would still take a few more years for newspapers to figure out what they would look like when

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> In essence, this was a proposed mapping of the communications network and was a product of the Higher Performance Computing Act of 1991 (telecom policy). It proposed the various interactive services enabled by the network and the necessary infrastructure - from computer hardware, software to databases, bandwidth and data capabilities.

transferred onto this new technological infrastructure, the news industry was beginning to feel the need to respond to the rapidly changing technological tide.

## The Web Interface

Graphical User Interfaces (GUIs) would ultimately create the World Wide Web as we know it today. They emerged out of Human-Computer Interaction research done at Stanford Research Laboratory, MIT, and work on the Xerox PARC (Palo Alto Research Center Incorporated). Examples of early GUIs that were incredibly popular are the Microsoft Windows '95 interface, and the early Macintosh interfaces. Much of this work was government-funded and performed at industrial research laboratories at the corporate level (Xerox, IBM, AT&T). GUIs were designed for a particular user experience, one that would enable functionality based on mouse-pointing and windows visual displays. Much of the research done in designing GUIs focused on "direct manipulation of graphical objects," meaning "grabbing" items on screen, moving them, changing their size, etc. Just as Internet technologies were expanding, so too were capabilities along the lines of GUIs, which would prevent users from having to know keyboard commands, DOS, or other programming languages.

"Icons,"<sup>47</sup> text-editing capabilities, and mouse manipulations would all become part of what GUIs would enable.<sup>48</sup> The Xerox Alto would be the first device to use GUIs, by employing a mouse-like pointing device in addition to a standard keyboard.

Much of the evolution of GUIs would occur from a combination of advances in the

<sup>47</sup> The term was coined by David Canfield Smith in 1975.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Myers, Brad A. 1998. "A brief history of human-computer interaction technology." *interactions* 5:44-54.

computing industry, the video game industry, and the film industry (as with the National Film Board of Canada).

The Internet infrastructure merely allowed digital information to be passed along telephone wires from one networked station to another. What GUIs and the World Wide Web did, was to create a graphical interface that would make the use of the Internet more accessible to the masses. Prior to that, computer language coding would be necessary. Now, GUIs would take care of translating a computer user's motions into computer code for digital transmission.

One of the greatest challenges to Internet content in the late 1990s was the fact that most of it was not categorized or searchable. <sup>49</sup> The technologies necessary to categorize or search web content had not yet been developed in a way that could take hold of the American public. As the "website" became an increasingly popular way to distinguish one brand, product, service, or news source from another, users would have to know the unique url (Uniform Resource Locator) of the site they were looking for. Each website was now the unit of consumption, in that the primary url offered entrée into all the online offerings of a company or newspaper. While there were a number of online portals and web search engines, the launch of Google in 1998 changed the search world and the navigation of online content substantially. In fact, what it did was make subject-based "search" the means by which individuals would navigate web content. This approach won out over other attempts that included library sciences-based approaches to content and subject categorization. Increasingly, people used search engines and online portals to find the websites they needed. In time, search practices had users moving from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Mitchelstein, Eugenia and Pablo J. Boczkowski. 2009. "Between tradition and change: A review of recent researchon online news production." *Journalism* 10:562-586.

finding urls and websites to finding the precise kind of content they wanted, based on subject searches, regardless of the hosting website.

It is important to note that the Internet, in effect, and during the time period under examination did not simply compete with other media forms, it absorbed them by incorporating video and sound. In many ways, it reclassified all other media – most especially in the case of news wherein people could turn to television, radio, newspapers, magazines, and the like. Audiences had a number of options when it came to news consumption, and the widespread popularity of the Internet in the daily lives of Americans asked publishers and editors to de-institutionalize existing news outlets. They could no longer take for granted the technologies currently used for news dissemination. And consequently, they could no longer take-for-granted news cycles, news sources, and news audiences. The advent of Internet technologies would not merely offer the news a new technological platform. It would, instead, require new ways of thinking about the news and news dissemination.

#### Continued Innovation of Newspapers

Technological innovation in the news industry in the 20<sup>th</sup> century was not unusual. In fact, prior to the rise of the World Wide Web, the newspaper industry was already investing in new technologies that would improve the production and distribution of their product. Both production and distribution functions were becoming increasingly computerized over the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century,<sup>50</sup> and newspaper companies were experimenting with a number of different technologies that might help reduce distribution

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2004. "The Mutual Shaping of Technology and Society in Videotex Newspapers: Beyond the Diffusion and Social Shaping Perspectives." *Information Society* 20:255-267.

and printing costs. I take a closer look at some of these less popular efforts to better demonstrate what made Internet technologies unique.

Since the 1960s, newspaper publishers have engaged in the growing trend towards computerized production and distribution functions. The result of these efforts was that news pieces have been prepared for electronic redeployment for decades. So in 1990-1991, it made sense for many newspapers to experiment with various forms of electronic distribution as a great deal of the production process was already electronic. Throughout the 1990s, print newspaper readership persisted amidst the rise of personal computers and software, and dailies took a stab at offering subscribers news software. Some entrepreneurs even developed software that would allow individuals to produce and disseminate their own newspapers ("Journalism" software). Many newspapers experimented with potential BBS (Bulletin Board System) or software-based products, which seemed to attend to concerns over rising newsprint costs, less homogenized audiences, and the industry's greater reliance on advertising revenue.<sup>51</sup> While few Americans had any kind of Internet system readily available to them, Bulletin Board System software allowed some especially tech-savvy individuals and newspaper staff to exchange information through an electronic newspaper system. Videotex services, which allowed pages of text to be delivered and displayed on a television, were also an increasingly popular option newspapers explored. And in 1992, the *Chicago Tribune* allowed its content to become part of a newspaper service offered by AOL that provided its subscribers with a number of information services.

After the failure of videotex and videotex-based newspapers, a revival of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Ibid. p. 272

electronic publishing efforts began in the first half of the 1990s. As Boczowski argues, the resurgence was "triggered by a host of larger societal and technical factors ranging from an increase in the adoption of personal computers at work and home, to the development of the web in 1989, and its first popular browser Mosaic four years later, to changes in telecommunications policy and infrastructure at a global scale." During this time, newspapers continued to explore a number of technological alternatives, including CD-ROM, Fax, and PDA-based newspapers. In all cases, the motivation for testing out these alternate distribution methods was to save on distribution expenditure.

Key for newspapers, though, was the fact that Internet-based websites became a viable and increasingly popular form of content delivery in American culture at-large. The rise of the news website – wherein the news site itself was central to the dissemination of news content – was evident during this time. The creation of websites allowed companies and organizations to have a unique presence online – a space to clearly define as their own. Newspapers soon began to adopt this idea, and many newspapers began purchasing domain names and creating websites that would replicate print content.

The innovative imperative of the time focused more on the speed of putting content online with minimal disruption to the internal workings of the newspaper. As a result, many newspapers deprioritized creative exploration of the many interactive and technological capacities of web technologies, and instead put efforts and resources towards figuring out efficient ways to translate their print products into online products. For the sake of speed, newspapers would continue their print efforts as they existed, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Ibid. p. 272

put that same content online. The potential yield of the emerging online news business was still unknown, and so even as newspapers ventured online, they were cautious about disrupting established journalistic operations.<sup>53</sup> Gilbert argues that part of the reason for this may have been due to the "strong perception of outside threat from newcomers in the media industry," while incumbent media companies did not want to be left behind.<sup>54</sup>

It increasingly "made sense" to newspapers that they kept their "newspaper unit" intact online, in the form of a unique website. At first, the Internet enabled an extension of existing newspaper content, and the technology ensured the possibility of creating an interactive product. Initial efforts to enable interactive capabilities were quickly abandoned and publishers returned to what they most felt comfortable with – producing traditional journalistic content. <sup>55</sup> At this point in time, though, it was still unclear to both editors and publishers whether online media should replace or complement print newspapers. As Mitchelstein and Boczkowski note, <sup>56</sup> the degree to which online news would be complementary or displacing of traditional media depended upon temporal and socioeconomic factors of the audience. <sup>57</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Mitchelstein, Eugenia and Pablo J. Boczkowski. 2009. "Between tradition and change: A review of recent researchon online news production." *Journalism* 10:562-586.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Gilbert, Clark G. 2005. "Unbundling the structure of inertia: Resource versus routine rigidity." *Academy of Management Journal* 48:741-763.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Domingo, David. 2008. "Interactivity in the daily routines of online newsrooms: dealing with an uncomfortable myth." *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* 13:680-704.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Mitchelstein, Eugenia and Pablo J. Boczkowski. 2010. "Online news consumption research: An assessment of past work and an agenda for the future." *New Media & Society* 12:1085-1102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Because web content became institutionalized this way, newspapers online took the shape that they did. Of course, we see this changing now, as secondary sites or intermediaries become increasingly important as a means by which to broker content. We know that the technology alone did not necessarily mandate that content took this form. After all, the technology has changed little in terms other than in efficiency.

By the mid-90s, with the popularization of "shovelware," it was clear that the primary innovation for online newspapers would be technological, rather than content-based. While newspapers initially began exploring new content and technical capabilities as well as new information products, 58 shovelware was settled upon. The term "shovelware" described content that was essentially taken directly from print sources and put online. Efficiencies mandated by media owners often urged newspaper workers to make their work accessible to multiple media, which allowed them to maintain much of their original routines of news production. Shovelware proved to be an efficient use of resources, and kept newspapers from supporting an entirely separate set of editorial staffers to produce unique online content or redefine expectations of the printed word. Unfortunately, innovative content strategies would take longer to come about as modem speeds, video and image capabilities were still far from being fast enough or of high enough quality for mass consumers over the more forgiving technological early adopters. 59

In the mid-1990s, newspapers and ISPs were still experimenting with the form of publishable content. While content was primarily text-based, newspaper editors debated whether they would produce special web-only magazines, style sections, or interactive platforms for audiences to communicate with journalists. Publishers considered creating platforms that were primarily classified ads. Beyond that, it was unclear whether or not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2005. *Digitizing the news: Innovation in online newspapers*: The MIT Press. p. 173

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> The Newspaper Association of American (NAA) showed that by 1995, 175 US dailies were publishing on the web by the end of that year. In a survey of US online newspapers, Peng et al. (1999) have found that the three top reasons for publishing on the web versus other options were 1) availability of a large number of readers worldwide, 57 per cent, 2) ease of publishing, 27 per cent, and 3) superior graphical presentation, 15 per cent.

breaking news should be posted online. It was unclear to publishers how readers would find content online, how that content was protected by copyright laws, and how long content should be kept online once it was made accessible to the public. Larger organizations like the *NYTimes* and the *Chicago Tribune* were among the first innovators online and experimented with the new platform by putting their style and entertainment sections online. The idea that news and content would be "interactive," however, was salient from the start as evidenced by the launch of some user-oriented news software.

And so staff resources often went towards managing potential user feedback or response.

Once newspapers began to realize that shovelware was often acceptable to audiences, they failed to innovate along other technological lines. Other than improving the audio visual quality of their websites, most newspapers did little to figure out how the interactive features afforded by the technologies would change online news. Effectively, they became "online newspapers," in that they were not a unique product unto themselves — the online versions were often interchangeable with their print counterpart. 61

So in many ways, the introduction of Internet technologies into newspaper businesses was part of the ongoing change in an already-changing industry. But as more and more newspapers began to move online amidst rapid changes in American commerce and Internet technologies, the news industry became increasingly impacted by media and telecommunications policies. These policies would come to affect how content and publishing industries could function online.

<sup>60</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2004. "The Mutual Shaping of Technology and Society in Videotex Newspapers: Beyond the Diffusion and Social Shaping Perspectives."

Information Society 20:255-267.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Cook, Timothy E. 2006. "The News Media as a Political Institution: Looking Backward and Looking Forward." *Political Communication* 23:159-171. p. 4

## Law and Regulation

By 1990, the newspaper industry was already in a state of perpetual change, still reeling from decades of debate around the protection of joint operating agreements, antitrust enforcement against newspaper mergers, the 1970 Newspaper Preservation Act and tax laws that impelled once family-owned businesses to become private enterprises which were later absorbed by larger media conglomerates. As far as daily newspapers were concerned, the industry was now characterized by either geographic monopoly or duopoly – a significant change from the industry's heyday nearly 80 years prior. 62

Legislative and regulatory events that impacted the online newspaper industry during this time period not only reinforced the rapid technological developments that were taking place, but also guided them. I address the impact of four development, namely the 1996 Telecommunications Act, which impacted how competition on the Internet infrastructure would take shape; the 1998 Microsoft antitrust case, which ultimately influenced how web interfaces would come to be understood; the 1998 DMA, which attended to content concerns, and the 2001 AOL-Time Warner merger, which addressed Internet speeds and capacity.

#### The 1996 Telecommunications Act

The impetus for newspapers to pursue product diversification strategies along technological lines was likely provided, in part, by the federal government through the US Telecommunications Act of 1996. The Act was intended to increase competition on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Picard, Robert G and Aldo van Weezel. 2008. "Capital and control: Consequences of different forms of newspaper ownership." *The International Journal on Media Management* 10:22-31.

Picard, Robert G and Jeffrey H Brody. 1997. *The newspaper publishing industry*: Allyn and Bacon Boston.

existing telephone infrastructure, material that would eventually provide the ground work for Internet capabilities. It was considered the first major overhaul of the landmark 1934 Communications Act and signed into law by Bill Clinton on February 8, 1996. The act effectively deregulated the market for telephone, radio, broadcast television, cable television, and satellite communications.

The 1996 Act does not deal in great detail with the Internet itself. But the new legislation changed what was possible on existing technological infrastructure. And from there, the possibility and viability of Internet markets increased substantially. It was assumed at the time that web pages and online services were sufficiently competitive without federal intervention. In the early days of dial-up connections, Internet use functioned very much the way phone usage did. When a user was online, their phone line was considered engaged. But because the new technologies remained relatively unregulated, a new open playing field was made available for a number of communications technologies.

Other than privacy laws and "good Samaritan" laws that were intended to restrict the accessibility of indecent material by minors, online technologies were still far too young for lawmakers to understand what their potentials were. The online marketplace had as yet not taken shape, but with Internet Service Providers requiring the use of telephone infrastructures to deliver their product, they were, undoubtedly affected by the fact that a once-monopolistic infrastructure would now be shared (now telephone companies could not singularly use particular network structures).

Early Internet and telecommunications policy powerfully affected what Internet content could look like, and how it could be accessed. The 1996 Telecommunications

Act would declare that the content accessible through the telephony infrastructure would be non-tiered, unlike cable television, which had been legislated to a more open playing field. Content was separate from the mechanisms that would help Internet users find it. The legislation introduces a new distinction in mass media lexicon. Now "information services" and "telecommunications services" were decidedly separate entities, and content was something that was not bound to a particular technological infrastructure or company.

Beyond the opening-up of competitive markets, another crucial component of the 1996 Act was the concept of "universal service," which ultimately mandated that the FCC regulate electronic communications so as to enable access to rapid, efficient communications services at reasonable rates to all Americans. "Universal services," something of an ambiguous term, referred to services considered essential to education, health or safety; services thought to be consistent with the public interest. So, for instance, telecom companies had to ensure basic services to rural areas so they could access services deemed essential to individuals. In many ways, the 1996

Telecommunications Act represents an attempt to conceive of the Internet as a universal service.

And so ultimately, the Telecommunications Act of 1996 required that providers of telecommunications services sell access to their networks. In so doing, the act created a distinction between "information services" and "telecommunication services" – with deregulation for the former and regulation for the latter. For instance, cable television, which fell under the category of "information services," was now able to use coaxial cables to provide high speed access to its consumers. The Telecommunications Act of

1996 changed the meaning and the capabilities of the communications infrastructure.

Now, the technology that had been laid down by the monopolistic companies that owned all traffic on those lines, was now legislated to be shared. Competition within the telecommunications market was enabled on that infrastructure. But the legislation also opened up the possibility of creating entirely new markets as video and cable TV could now send their data streams through lines once reserved for telephone communications only. And content providers like newspapers would be held separate from Internet service provider, software platforms, and browsers. In other words, newspapers wishing to use the Internet infrastructure for distribution could remain primarily in the business of journalism without having to negotiate business partnerships with ISPs or software companies.

The Impact of the Telecom Act on Newspapers

The democratization of the telephony infrastructure would offer the newspaper industry a new opportunity for technological innovation, particularly in the area of content distribution, as they were among the most obvious bodies that would comprise "information services." The newspaper industry, having experienced decades of declines in circulation, now saw before it growth strategies that were previously unavailable to it. Most consumers (and potential consumers) of online services still didn't know what the medium was all about. To many, it was a threatening space, open and unknown. Except for the tech-savvy, most users dabbled some online but stopped short due to the suggestion of interconnectivity, yet with no knowledge of who else was online. Even online users – whether or not they were willing to pay for service – did not know how to use the medium.

Still, the technology in its inception was fairly slow, and so newspapers kept testing the waters in terms of how they might become involved in this new industry. And so the shape and design of online newspapers was still very much in flux, and there were no established models of success by which to understand how to innovate in this new field. While legislation opened up the opportunity for innovation based on technology, newspapers would still have to figure out what the implications were for its content and its internal organizational structure. Unlike Videotex services, however, the technological infrastructure that would enable content distribution was being promoted and supported by legislative acts. The 1996 Telecommunications Act served to encourage increased use of the telephony infrastructure by content providers. Now telephone lines would become a new potential source of distribution for newspapers.

## 1998 United States v. Microsoft Case

A key anti-trust case in the late 1990s would come to impact the way in which the Internet's interface, in the form of web browsers, would be used and navigated by organizations like newspapers. In the 1998 United States v. Microsoft case, Microsoft was accused of abusing monopoly power by bundling its Internet Explorer web browser software with its Microsoft operating system. With Netscape as a dominant tech player at the time, browser wars were dominant in the online world, an event that provided the context in which online news was taking shape. The way online newspapers would come to look and feel was dependent, in large part, on what browsers and graphical user interfaces would allow. A key ruling during the Microsoft Antitrust investigations in the late 1990s, would help define what web browsers were, and would ultimately influence the barriers to market entry for newspapers and other content providers.

The FTC investigation of Microsoft's licensing practice garnered a great deal of media coverage, as it came to signify what competition policy in the new Internet economy would look like. 63 Of concern at the time, was what economists referred to as "network effects." 64 Network effects referred to the way in which a demand for a product increases with the number of other users of that product. So, demand for the Internet would increase as a function of the number of people already using the Internet. At the time, different types of programming code would perform differently on different browsers. And so the more content providers or retail companies that began to put their products and services online using Internet Explorer, the more the demand for the Internet Explorer browser. Consequently, software programmers who could build applications that would allow businesses to move operations online were unlikely to write code for any system or platform that did not have a significant base of users. 65 Dominating browsers would just become more dominant. And Microsoft, software king at the time, was on the brink of becoming the dominant browser, creating the possibility of a monopoly in the browser world.

The FTC investigation of Microsoft in 1991 would effectively separate the online world from the operating system world, the software world, and the ISP world. Prior to the investigation, Microsoft argued that its browser, Internet Explorer, was not a "product" but a "feature" of the Windows operating system. In this way, consumers with the wildly popular Windows operating system would also run the Internet Explorer browser, consequently squashing any type of competition in the browser market. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Gilbert, Richard J and Michael L Katz. 2001. "An economist's guide to US v. Microsoft." *The Journal of Economic Perspectives* 15:25-44. p5

<sup>64</sup> Ibid. p.9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Ibid. p.10

Department of Justice did not agree with this reasoning, and brought Microsoft to trial to prevent a monopolization of Internet graphical user interfaces. The ultimate ruling against Microsoft would enable competition to the browser marketplace for now the "Internet" would be considered an entity all its own, something distinct from the software and operating system market. With multiple platforms as possibilities, content providers like newspapers could have a direct presence online, rather than one that would be contingent upon alliances with ISPs or browser compliance.

The Impact of the Microsoft Ruling on Newspapers

It was going to be tough for newspapers to get the kind of tech support they needed if they weren't sure that there were enough users online to begin with.

Effectively, the way the browser wars would take shape, the ways in which ISPs were able to bundle their services with browsers, would all provide barriers to market entry for newspapers. The browser wars were significant, indeed, as the form browsers took would lay the foundation for what could be built on the Internet, and how content could be delivered to and accessed by audiences.

At the beginning of this time period (1990), most high circulation newspapers were affiliated with ISPs. And while newspapers were still testing out the Internet waters, this time period marks a major shift from software-based approaches to news, content, and the web to web-based applications.

The Digital Millennium Copyright Act

With the 1998 Digital Millennium Copyright Act, the key legislative innovation was that ISP's and other such intermediaries were exempt from copyright infringement liability; ISPs were separate from content (even as they are bundled services). And now

the law could criminalize technologies that circumvent protections to copyright material.

The 2001 AOL-Time Warner Merger

The 2001 AOL-Time Warner merger also added complications to the emerging online content industry of the time. The FTC gave approval for the merger but required the combined company to allow rivals to offer high-speed Internet over Time Warner's cable system, again democratizing the technological infrastructure, as it did with the local telephone companies in 1996, and then opening up the potential for future competition. As yet, newspapers and other publishers still hadn't devised a stable product. The technological innovation enabled with this legislation was that Internet use would no longer be subject to telephone lines<sup>66</sup>. Increased speed and technological capacity – now accessible to many different ISPs – would better promote innovation in content itself. Photographs and video would now be downloadable at increased speeds, and Internet penetration among households would rapidly increase. No longer subject to early adopter issues, the medium could now be more accessible to the masses, keeping to its promise of instantaneous information access.<sup>67</sup>

#### The Impact on Newspapers

These two events really marked a change for newspapers in that they were now, more than ever, independent entities online. Newspapers would now host and maintain their own content. Additionally, what high-speed Internet really enabled was the ability

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> The FCC approval included 3 additional restrictions designed to protect an open, competitive nature of Internet: 1) maintain common access over high-speed cable lines; 2) interoperability of instant messaging via cable lines (but not immediate) and 3) ownership issues between AT&T and Time Warner. While Instant Messenger became a controversial issue, the ruling seemed to mimic significantly the 1996 legislations, only with now-advanced technologies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Standard & Poor's Industry Survey, 2002

for users to remain online all the time. During the dial-up days, newspapers were very aware of periods in the day where there was "high Internet traffic." Now, if users were effectively online all day, there wouldn't be periods of the day that were "better" for advertisers or content-providers. So now, newspapers could easily offer their audiences articles online. An online newspaper could be accessed in 2-minute intervals throughout the day, in between emailing, working, or reading other information online.

Democratizing high-speed Internet would undoubtedly change the way online content, and consequently, online reading habits would change.

#### **Industry Structure**

# Ownership & Newspapers

General trends for newspaper ownership over the course of the 20<sup>th</sup> century consisted of a move away from family-ownership to corporate-ownership, an increase in media consolidation and newspapers mortality, <sup>68</sup> and an increase in local newspapers as regional monopolies. <sup>69</sup> Industry trends in the late 1990s were characterized by mergers and acquisitions that occurred at a very rapid pace. Picard and Weezel discuss the 4 forms of newspaper ownership that characterize the American newspaper industry, including private ownership, publicly traded ownership, foundation or not-for-profit ownership, and employee ownership. <sup>70</sup> As of 2001 in the United States, the dominant form was private ownership. Publicly traded media firms owned about 40% of all

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> This meant that corporate owners would own multiple dailies. Mergers, buy-outs, and failures also increased.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Schudson, Michael. 2003. *The sociology of news*: Norton New York.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Picard, Robert G and Aldo van Weezel. 2008. "Capital and control: Consequences of different forms of newspaper ownership." *The International Journal on Media Management* 10:22-31.

newspapers – including most mid- and large-sized newspapers<sup>71</sup> - while employee-owned and non-profit forms of ownership accounted for less than 1% of all daily newspapers. Comparatively, worldwide, newspaper ownership was nearly 60% private ownership by families, 3% publicly-traded, and 4% employee-owned, while most of the remainder were government-owned.<sup>72</sup>

The late 20<sup>th</sup> century witnessed significant changes in the movement towards newspaper chains, which Carroll defines as "firms owning and operating papers in more than one locale." As of 2002, the holdings of only ten newspapers chains accounted for more than half of US' daily circulation, with the top three – Gannett, Knight-Ridder, and the Tribune Co. – representing one-fourth of the circulation of US newspapers. By comparison, in 1920, there were thirteen chains that operated in the US, a number that increased to 167 by 1976, then constituting more than 70 percent of the nation's total daily circulation.

While consolidation by media owners continued, the total number of newspapers had fallen over the last 40 years from 1748 to approximately 1480 with only 5 US cities having more than two competing daily newspapers (Tucson, LA, Chicago, NY, and Seattle). A decrease in the number of daily newspapers across the country, and a decrease in local newspaper competition had been matched by a general decline in newspaper

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Ibid. p.24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Carroll, 1995

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> The first newspaper chains were started in the early 1900s, the largest one created by E.W. Scripps (Adams, 2001). Scripps' chain owned twenty-four newspapers around the country, a centralized news features syndicate and a telegraph news service. The creation of the chain was intended to provide a centralized news service that would offer content to local newspapers, many of whom eventually came to have only one-third of their content actually locally-produced at the time (Adams, 2001).

circulation in recent years.

Consolidation efforts were often intended to streamline operations, reduce expenses, and invest in financial growth. Media owners became increasingly complex entities around the turn of the century, as most had multiple holdings in newspapers, television, and Internet companies. During the dawn of the Internet, media firms and other newspaper owners would have to figure out how they would put money towards online ventures. Most dailies that did choose to put money towards online newspapers initially found funding within existing and familiar funding bodies. Picard<sup>75</sup> distinguishes between three major categories of investors in newspaper companies, including individual investors, insiders, and institutional investors. Institutional investors might include banks, investment funds, insurance firms, or venture capitalists that manage funds belonging to others. While these different investors may impact a newspaper's economic growth in different ways, each seems to represent an entirely different attitude towards developing a newspaper. Meyer<sup>76</sup> argued that private owners of local newspapers in the past may have preferred to maximize influence rather than profitability, using the medium as a tool for wielding ideological, political, or economic influence. Institutional investors, on the other hand, were likely to understand newspaper ownership as part of a larger investment strategy. 77 Oftentimes, criticisms over the loss of journalistic independence or editorial control, and the diminished ability of newspapers to keep their civic promise are most clearly heard under this form of ownership. That

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Picard, Robert G. 2004. *Strategic responses to media market changes*: Jönköping International Business School.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Picard, Robert G and Jeffrey H Brody. 1997. *The newspaper publishing industry*: Allyn and Bacon Boston.

said, other research has demonstrated that large media corporations have been more likely to provide autonomy to newsrooms, placing an emphasis on urgency and quality.

In the mid-1990s, institutional investors became increasingly active in introducing newspapers to online platforms. Media companies at the time were beginning to rethink the way they handled innovation, and to follow the corporate trend of the time, they found themselves looking outside of themselves to new media companies. In other words, instead of turning to internal R&D departments, they now turned to joint ventures, acquisitions or university-based collaborations to innovate. Media companies had to build new relationships with other organizations to enable online innovation; new relationships that would cost money and involve financial risk. Venture capital funds could enable movement in such processes and facilitate the business partnerships that could inspire innovation. By offering seed money to companies, venture capital firms were often both funding sources and strategic advisors to many media companies. Other times, venture capital firms would invest in newspapers and require, as terms of the contract, that partnerships and collaborations with tech experts guide any efforts at digital innovation. This activity, which came as a consequence of venture capital funds being funneled into the new media world, ended-up being a powerfully influential way of conducting business at the time. Venture capital funds facilitated market entry for many firms at the time – both new ventures, existing ventures, and publicly-traded existing ventures. This movement undoubtedly impacted the newspaper industry. Instead of looking within themselves for innovative strategies – instead of trying to do better what they already did - they followed (and were encouraged to follow) the common corporate trends of the time and look to financial partners and smaller tech companies in order to

locate strategies that could save their businesses.<sup>78</sup>

A number of media firms even managed their own venture arms. In September 1999, for instance, Scripps Ventures – created in 1996 – announced a venture fund of \$100 million for investing in Internet companies. Their first venture in 1996 put \$50 million towards 19 different e-commerce companies with the intent to not only reap profits, and to also own long-term growth opportunities for E.W. Scripps Co. in digital media. At the time, Scripps Co. owned 19 dailies, nine network-affiliated TV stations, and two television networks, among many other media holdings. By 1999, it was operating 31 different websites. The venture capital arm of E.W. Scripps Co. was effectively a financial investment center that served the interests of Scripps holdings in newspapers and television. While Scripps Ventures went out of business in 2002, other venture capital firms stayed strong and remained involved in funding print newspapers for online ventures.

Tribune Ventures is the venture capital arm of the Tribune Company and invested in a number of new media and technology companies so as to promote broadband communications and infrastructure, digital television, and other electronic services related to Tribune's core publishing business. Founded in 1995, the venture firm not only offered newspapers seed money to move operations online, but also recommended strategy and direction. Popular strategies of the time involved creating partnerships between editorial and content companies with technological companies. And this

<sup>78</sup> Gompers, Paul and Josh Lerner. 2001. "The venture capital revolution." *The Journal of* 

Gompers, Paul and Josh Lerner. 2001. "The venture capital revolution." *The Journal of Economic Perspectives* 15:145-168.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Scripps Venture II will invest \$100M. *Editor & Publisher*, 0013094X, 10/02/99, Vol. 132. Issue 40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> "Venture funding down, but not out." By: Moses, Lucia, *Editor & Publisher*, 0013094X, 03/12/2001, Vol. 134, Issue 11

strategy of building partnerships and turning to other companies to make online newspapers run was certainly symptomatic of broader industry activities of the time. In the case of the Internet, cross-industry innovation was evidenced in the form of bundling, wherein ISPs like AOL partnered with various established content providers so as to shape and define the product they were able to offer their subscribers.

Venture capital activity was certainly tied less to the newspaper industry and more to the growing diffusion of the Internet. And while media ownership certainly played a key role in getting newspapers to move online, <sup>81</sup> the institutional investors may have been incredibly influential in creating a new set of profit-makers – namely, technology companies that could help newspapers move online. Corporate venture funds provided media companies with a new way to explore technological innovation, but also challenged existing ways of doing business. Now newspapers wouldn't be losing their own funds, as they had when exploring Videotex capabilities. <sup>82</sup> They would be able to use the funds provided by financial investors. On the other hand, they would become increasingly subsumed in the world of "information," having a less distinct place contentwise online. Newspapers were valued less for the *type* of content they could provide audiences, and more for the mass of content they could quickly get online. As content online had yet to be categorized, organized, or even legitimated (in that it was still unclear to many audiences if they could trust or not trust online content), it was still

0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> The increasing consolidation of newspaper chains impacted the evolution of online newspapers, when companies like Knight-Ridder standardized all their newspaper sites, exercising an option to impose standard corporate models on its papers. They relaxed these efforts after receiving much criticism over standardizing operations at the San Jose Mercury-News, a newspaper considered to be one of the pioneers of online newspapers. <sup>82</sup> Gompers, Paul and Josh Lerner. 2001. "The venture capital revolution." *The Journal of Economic Perspectives* 15:145-168.

unclear how dominant a player newspapers would become in the online information world. What some media owners may not have realized at the time was that the organizations that had the capability of organizing content would eventually become the distributors of content.

Funding, Content, and Online Newspapers

Over the past twenty years, the key corporate actors and money makers of the Internet landscape shifted a few times, as evidenced in the case of news. With search engines becoming influential news distributors and news wire services becoming more publicly accessible, newspaper publishers would not become dominant players in Internet landscape. The proliferation of content providers, blog writers, and online news publishers grew alongside an entirely different industry player, namely the world of Google and the centrality of search engines as key portals for online content. The web would be used in a multitude of ways, but search engines and the configuration of the companies that relied on them came to impact the way in which users obtained online content, whether it be medical information, fashion blogs, or the daily news.

Before newspapers launched their own independent websites in the mid-90s, many had already begun to put their content online by using two main content distribution systems made possible by software platforms and ISPs. In the early 1990s, a few daily newspapers experimented with putting their text online even as graphical user interfaces and Internet speeds on telephone lines were slow. Newspaper content was most commonly offered in "bundled" packages through Internet Service Providers such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Hargittai, Eszter. 2010. "Digital Na(t)ives? Variation in Internet Skills and Uses among Members of the "Net Generation"." *Sociological Inquiry* 80:92-113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> —. 2004. "Internet access and use in Context." New Media & Society 6:115-121.

as AOL, CompuServe, or Prodigy etc. In conjunction with these providers, news companies used software-based applications like Bulletin Board Systems (BBS) and StarText in order to make their content electronic. At the time, software was still king and considered to be the technological platform that would enable newspapers to make use of the online medium. Again, partnerships with other tech service companies would be key for newspapers to distribute their content.

In 1994, we begin to see newspapers moving to the web with their own websites – an event still understood to be extremely innovative for its time. The *San Jose Mercury News* is often credited with being the first to do this in the US, as it began beta testing the Mercury Center Web. Another big move towards independent websites came from Gannett's *USA Today* in 1995, which began offering its content free via the World Wide Web. In 1995, the *Arizona Republic* put news content on AOL, and used a corresponding website for local entertainment news.<sup>85</sup>

In the mid-90's, many high-circulation ("large") newspapers would test out a number of strategies for putting their content online, and generating revenue from that content. In 1996, the *NYTimes* would open its website, which was free, but required user registration. It did not hold all of the newspapers' content, and editors were experimenting with possibilities that would allow audiences to interact with journalists, and with Sunday magazine-style content. In the same year, the *Chicago Tribune* launched a full-newspaper website and the *San Jose Mercury News* announced it would leave AOL and concentrate on its own independent Mercury Center Web efforts. Around this time, wire services also get in on the action and the APonline was launched as a web

 $<sup>^{85}</sup>$  Scott, Ben. 2005. "A contemporary history of digital journalism."  $\it Television~\&~New~Media.$ 

service for online newspapers. Finally in 1999, the *NYTimes* discontinued its AOL product, an event that occurred as a number of newspapers decide to focus on their web presence, one now understood to carry most of a newspaper's content. In 2001, Wikipedia launched becoming a key player in "collective web content generation" and social media.

In the late 1990s, online newspapers experimented with a number of revenue-generating models, asking readers to subscribe to news sites and working with companies like AOL and Yahoo! to offer bundled packages of a number of online services. Most of these models were quickly abandoned and soon replaced by advertising models similar to those currently used by print newspapers (one notable exception was *The Wall Street Journal*, which offered a subscription-based service for over a decade). Part of the challenge news publishers faced was that content was seemingly uncontrollable, and a news item intended to be accessible only by subscription could (and would) appear on other sites for free. Challenges were particularly acute when it came to breaking news wherein a story from a wire service (e.g., Associated Press) could appear on one site, drawing consumers away from their subscription sites.

Larger questions over how web content would be organized persisted and were expected to be solved by entrepreneurial activity and tech companies. With search engines, much of the drive to "organize" content – as librarians have done with books held under their jurisdiction – would now become understanding how to "navigate" content, as online portals and search engines would become merely a point of entry to

<sup>86</sup> In this same year, the *NYTimes* cuts 100 positions, and Knight Ridder down 10% staff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Auletta, Ken. 2009. *Googled: The End of the World As We Know It*. New York: Penguin Press.

Internet content, with a great deal of potential. In other words, "browsing" and "searching" became a behavioral by-product of the market's inability to organize content. Instead, users would now be left to their own devices, and to their ability to use appropriate search terms to access content.

Eszter Hargittai<sup>88</sup> reminds us that while Google became a popular point of entry for Internet users in the early-to-mid 2000s, a variety of other "portals," including MSN.com or Yahoo.com also offer readers alternate ways to browse or find news articles. Portals and search engines are key entry points that not only offer consumers access to news stories from a variety of sources including wire services, but also to email, entertainment, and other online content. By 2010, electronic news had become highly "decentered," with the locus of news being the topic, searchable category, or individual news article under consideration, instead of the entire newspaper. This "atomization" of news, then, becomes one way of evidencing the sedimentation of online news' institutionalization, wherein partnerships with non-news producing companies like online portals, search engines, and social networking platforms become central to the way online newspapers would be created and consumed. Undoubtedly, not all readers rely on search engines or online portals to access news articles. At the same time, the screen layout of an online newspaper offers news readers more categories, teasers, and headlines to browse than the more complete articles displayed in the layout of a broadsheet newspaper. The use of hyperlinks and interconnected news stories is made possible by the news story's "atomization," as a stand-alone article. As a consequence, the boundaries of any given newspaper are much more permeable online.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Hargittai, Eszter. 2005. "Survey measures of web-oriented digital literacy." *Social Science Computer Review* 23:371-379.

## Organizational Structure

The primary movement of the changing organizational structure of the time had to do with single newsrooms first branching out to create additional digital newsrooms, and then later integrating these separated newsrooms but becoming highly cognizant of larger media integration going on at the time. Reflecting trends increasingly apparent across American businesses, newspapers launched efforts to develop online operations by adding editorial divisions dedicated to digital media. Beyond that, the media upon which news could be distributed could no longer be taken-for-granted. This "deinstitutionalization" of media meant that journalists and editors not only had to figure out what their news stories were, but also what medium would best communicate the story. With more and more newsrooms becoming one small section of a larger media conglomerate, the ways in which journalists, editors, and publishers would be integrated with other players in the media organization – including digital content experts – would come to disrupt existing bureaucratic structures. The social and economic contingencies that shape the process of newsroom integration and media convergence were ground in broader changes around changes in media ownership and cross-ownership.<sup>89</sup>

Already, by the late 1990s, single newsrooms rarely produced content for a single medium. Efficiencies mandated by media owners, and organizational structures that resulted from various consolidations, often had newspaper workers in the routine of producing their work for different media and different timelines. In many ways, newspapers were well-positioned to launch into the new online medium given that they were already in the business of providing content. Surely this content could translate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2005. *Digitizing the news: Innovation in online newspapers*: The MIT Press.

well onto a new medium, whose potential was yet unseen. A number of scholars remind us that the changes in the newspaper industry over a 30-year span that witnessed ownership consolidation, diversification, and partnerships between companies, had also changed content production in that content produced in one newsroom could be delivered across multiple forms of media. <sup>90</sup>

Still, it was unclear to editors and publishers how audiences would access and receive online content, so new digital editorial divisions were created – separate enough so as not to jeopardize the work of the print editorial staff – but still in existence so as to make some work into a medium that was still understood to be experimental. In Boczkowski's study of a European news organization in the late 1990s, 91 the newspaper establishes an "Electronic Extensions Department," comprised primarily of existing staffers who seemed to already have a "higher than average" knowledge of computers. The department was understood to function as an "extension" of the core news business. This development affected the journalists in the division as workers cite that the newspaper editors tended to ignore them because they thought of them more as computer experts and less as legitimate journalists. Over time, new employees were hired for this department, which was finally transformed into the "Internet Department" in 1999. As respondents describe, 1999 was the year digital media turned into a 'white swan' from an 'ugly duck' in that up until that point, publishers were still uncertain how many resources

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo and José A. Ferris. 2005. "Multiple Media, Convergent Processes, and Divergent Productions: Organizational Innovation in Digital Media Production at a European Firms." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 597:32-47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2004. "The Mutual Shaping of Technology and Society in Videotex Newspapers: Beyond the Diffusion and Social Shaping Perspectives." *Information Society* 20:255-267.

should be funneled into that division. Once the "Internet Department" was established – in that its identity and purpose were a lot clearer – the division began to expand. As Boczkowski explains, The Internet Department began to expand and "was charged with the mission of overseeing all the content of its online publications; developing and implementing new tools to support these publications; pursuing new opportunities in nonprint businesses; and, in general, infusing the whole company with a new media ethos."

Just as quickly as Internet divisions were established in media organizations, uncertainty and fear had editors, publishers, and journalists rethinking their risks. In March 2000, when the Nasdaq dropped, forcing many Internet companies to go out of business, newspaper workers began to understand themselves to be solely in the content business, and not in the technology business. Again, part of the deinstitutionalization of media companies of the time was for organizations to re-recognize their role in the media landscape. Newspapers were no less in the "paper" business as they were in the "Internet" business. Rather, they had to take-up the task of understanding what their content would look like when carried out on this new medium. For many dailies, this would mean that they could once again consolidate some journalistic efforts, while using their online divisions to manage media convergence to enable proper newsroom integration.

When it became clearer to media owners that consumers were now getting their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2005. *Digitizing the news: Innovation in online newspapers*: The MIT Press.

<sup>93</sup> Boczkowksi, 2005 Ibid.

news from multiple media sources, the idea of "media convergence" began to gain currency. According to Boczkowski & Ferris, media convergence refers to "the notion that because of the capabilities of digital technologies, content and services previously offered through various media will in the future be conveyed to a single artifact, usually a networked computer." Media convergence would change the way audiences accessed and content and the way organizations would need to understand their audiences and organizations. So, while individuals may have once gone to a bank for banking, picked-up a newspaper for the news, and gone into their office to work, banking, news-reading, and work could all be accomplished from one computer.

Mergers and acquisitions continue at a strong pace in the media industry, more broadly-speaking, in the late 1990s, and these events ended-up inspiring many "newsroom integration" efforts. Most newspaper organizations became subject to consolidation, meaning that large media corporations would grow through acquisition in an effort to deal with traditional industry challenges, like moderate sales gains. <sup>96</sup> At GMS, the news and media organization studied by Boczkowski & Ferris, "[w]hat resulted from this process of self-examination was a major structural change, bound to strongly influence the content production process: the integration of the newsrooms of different media in the same content areas." The authors explain that what was going on at GMS

\_

<sup>94</sup> Ibid.35

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo and José A. Ferris. 2005. "Multiple Media, Convergent Processes, and Divergent Productions: Organizational Innovation in Digital Media Production at a European Firms." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 597:32-47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Mitchelstein, Eugenia and Pablo J. Boczkowski. 2009. "Between tradition and change: A review of recent researchon online news production." *Journalism* 10:562-586.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2005. *Digitizing the news: Innovation in online newspapers*: The MIT Press.

was not unlike what was happening at a number of American newspapers. Newsroom integration often involved a significant amount of organizational transformation as workers had to think through how they would respond to the demands now put on them — many of which would not come only from the newspaper division of their media company. Strategic reorientation in editorial and content divisions by media owners was one of the main responses to losses in advertising revenue that were coming as a consequence of a tanking economy

This time period was, indeed, significant for newspapers in terms of how their organizational structure shifted. Many publications shifted from a single newsroom with distinct units to digital newsrooms that accompanied traditional media to a single newsroom producing content for multiple media. The trend of the time seemed to involve a convergence of production processes across a number of media.

# Occupational Career/Labor

News cycles and news gathering routines were also being revolutionized as many dailies were closing their afternoon editions on account of changing work and commuting habits (primarily with factory workers no longer ending midday), as well as with 24-hr news channels made popular by Gulf War news coverage. Technological revolutions that had begun in the 1980s, with changes in typographical technologies and microelectronics, not only impacted the newspaper workforce, but also the strength of the unions as membership in the International Typographical Union and the Newspaper Guild declined. And even though employment rates fluctuated in the industry throughout the 1990s, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo and José A. Ferris. 2005. "Multiple Media, Convergent Processes, and Divergent Productions: Organizational Innovation in Digital Media Production at a European Firms." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 597:32-47.

unions had already been significantly affected by the pre-1990s declines and media conglomeration that was making negotiating with newspaper owners ever-more challenging.

The key changes in the newspaper industry that impacted workers had to do with changing news standards brought about by powerful media conglomerates. Two key changes happened: 1) newspaper workers – particularly those who worked in typography and with print presses - would be less protected by unions, and increasingly under the jurisdiction of media owners, 2) the work of print journalists was also increasingly under threat, now that 24-hr television news was better equipped to handle "breaking news." News cycles were certainly changing, consequently affecting editorial workflow and the acceleration of content production. These factors, together with the increasing power of media owners with significant profit motives, made for a number of shifts in the occupational roles of the newsroom.

The move to online operations and the difficulties that come with media conglomeration and re-organization of news divisions greatly impacted journalists and news workers, whose power and voice in the industry was radically diminishing.

Technological revolutions that had begun in the 1980s, with changes in typographical technologies and microelectronics, not only impacted the newspaper workforce, but also the strength of the unions as membership in the International Typographical Union and the Newspaper Guild declined. And even though employment rates fluctuated in the industry throughout the 1990s, the unions had already been significantly affected by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> News cycles and news gathering routines were also being revolutionized as many dailies were closing their afternoon editions on account of changing work and commuting habits, as well as with 24-hr news channels made popular by Gulf War news coverage.

pre-1990s declines and media conglomeration that was making negotiating with newspaper owners ever-more challenging. Below, I discuss the Detroit newspaper strike as an example that demonstrated the increasing power of media owners over news workers. The imbalance of power would create a work environment wherein news workers would increasingly comply with new work conditions and arrangements the arose during the early days of online newspapers.

Industry financial analyst John Morton<sup>100</sup> argues that union power at newspapers began to wane from the 1970s onwards, in part due to the technological revolutions that were sweeping the industry. Advances in microelectronics and computer technologies allowed more work to be done by fewer workers and one of the major unions representing newspaper workers of the time, the International Typographical Union (ITU), saw its membership fall from 105,300 to 77,100 between 1970 and 1982.<sup>101</sup> As the number of workers declined, so too did union membership and bargaining power. So by the time the 1995 Detroit Free Press workers strike came about, industry workers were already in a weak position, subject to increasing power on the part of newspaper publishers.

In 1995, the newspaper workers at the *Detroit Free Press* and the *Detroit News* went on strike against Gannett and Knight-Ridder newspaper chains. The publishers were charged with unfair labor practices and limiting the unions' ability to bargain over compensation and work conditions. The publishers had planned to impose a merit pay plan on the Newspaper Guild and to transfer work out of the printers' bargaining unit. In

<sup>100</sup> John Morton (1996: 51, 56)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Dertouzos, James N and William B Trautman. 1990. "Economic effects of media concentration: estimates from a model of the newspaper firm." *The Journal of Industrial Economics*: 1-14.

The Broken Table, Rhomberg writes that the Detroit strike was "fundamentally not about traditional dollars and cents, but about the control of the workplace and the future of the bargaining relationship." Thought to be among the most bitterly fought labor battles of the 1990s, the 1995 strike at the Detroit Free Press and the Detroit News lasted 19 months and involved 2500 workers and 6 labor unions representing workers. While the strike did not end in a union victory, battles continued in court for well over five years. <sup>102</sup>

With media convergence and newsroom integration becoming the organizational forces of editorial divisions, journalists and workflow would adapt to new expectations. As Mitchelson and Boczkowski explain in their review of online news scholarship, "Four aspects of changes in journalistic practices have attracted most of the attention of scholarly research on online news: modifications in editorial workflow, alterations in news-gathering practices, acceleration of temporal patterns of content production, and the convergence of print, broadcast, and online operations." While scholars differ

<sup>103</sup> Mitchelstein, Eugenia and Pablo J. Boczkowski. 2009. "Between tradition and change: A review of recent researchon online news production." *Journalism* 10:562-586.

The strike and its impact escalated quickly as a vigorous local boycott caused circulation at the newspapers to drop precipitously, resulting in an estimated \$100 million loss for the papers in the first six months of the strike. Unfortunately, the boycott didn't force the employers to settle. On June 19, 1997, an NLRB (National Labor Relations Board) administrative law judge found the newspapers guilty of unfair labor practices that had 'caused' and 'prolonged' the strike. Two days later, more than 60,000 union workers from across the country arrived in Detroit to march and rally – a national show of solidarity led by the AFL-CIO (American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations). But it seemed that the newspaper chains had deep enough pockets to ride out the strike, despite the local and labor support the strikers received. The six striking unions organized as the Metropolitan Council of Newspaper Unions (MCNU)<sup>102</sup>

And while the Detroit resolution took much longer, a similar case was brought to the Supreme Court by the owners of the Sacramento Bee. In July, 1998 the Supreme Court refused to hear McClatchy Newspapers' petition to impose a merit pay on Guild members at the Sacramento Bee. So, company-determined pay schemes would not replace collectively bargained board-wide wage increases.

significantly on whether or not these changes are positive changes, all agree that the work of journalists and editors have been significantly impacted.

The expectation that journalists would be multiskilled and tech-savvy, was not new, in that journalists have always used various technological tools to engage in effective newsgathering. 104 What was new in the use of the web – particularly during this time – was that most journalists still did not trust web content. Because the medium was new and foreign, journalists would still find alternate ways to gather news, drawing upon different media and more traditional forms of news-gathering. Suspicions over online content persisted because it still seemed to many that there was a lack of gate-keeping for content and facts, and that the values of speed, immediacy, and individuality (meaning that anyone could post content anywhere so long as they were online) were stronger than reliability.

As time went on, however, and the digital division of a newsroom went from being an extension of existing operations, to an integrated way of thinking about the news, journalists seemed to believe that the platforms have become less important than before. Journalists would stay focused on their story, knowing that the medium was increasingly irrelevant, in that their work would need to be prepared for any possible medium. In other words, the journalists increasingly see themselves as working in the "news" business, rather than for the "newspaper" business. Nicholas et al. <sup>105</sup> remind us that in the UK, even as late as 2000, one-third of journalists did not have Internet access,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Bromley, Michael. 1997. "The end of journalism? Changes in workplace practices in the press and broadcasting in the 1990s." *A journalism reader*:330-50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Nicholas, David, Peter Williams, Peter Cole, and Helen Martin. 2000. "The impact of the Internet on information seeking in the Media1." Pp. 98-114 in *Aslib proceedings*, vol. 52: MCB UP Ltd.

and that there was still a significant degree of mistrust of the medium. Journalists remained skeptical of websites and the information they would find online.

The other significant change in workflow had to do with the 24-hr news cycle that had once uprooted the television news industry, but would now impact print news as well. Instead of the traditional twice-a-day news cycle, journalists and editors would have to manage what Pavlik calls the "high-speed news." <sup>106</sup> In their study of some of the leading online news sites in Argentina, Boczkowski and De Santos<sup>107</sup> demonstrate that the constant publication of news stories has now become an institutionalized norm. Boczkowski refers to these workflow changes as the 'de-reification of media options.' In other words the introduction of the web's potential into the workplace now required journalists to choose which medium or media to use for a particular story. They would not take-for-granted the use of print media. 108

The changes in news production practices certainly lead to shifts and stress in the professional identity of journalists. Mitchelstein and Boczkowski point to research that tells us that convergence was not uniform across organizations, industries, and countries, making the stress of merging of old and new logics of content production something to be put on the shoulders of journalists and editors. Most publishers voluntarily tightened their reporting practices. The ABC (Audit Bureau of Circulations – a third-party accounting of newspaper business activities) also took immediate steps to clarify its policies and toughen reporting standards in order to improve the accuracy and reputation

<sup>106</sup> Pavlik, John. 2000. "The Impact of Technology on Journalism." *Journalism Studies* 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J and Martin De Santos. 2007. "When more media equals less news: Patterns of content homogenization in Argentina's leading print and online newspapers." *Political Communication* 24:167-180.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2005. Digitizing the news: Innovation in online newspapers: The MIT Press.

of ABC circulation reports. As a consequence, a number of news workers experienced a great deal of stress and frustration during these changes.

Towards the end of this time period, while journalists did, indeed, retain their traditional gate-keeping role as online news became legitimate product with consumers, they began what Boczkowski called 'gate-opening', engaging in practices that fostered user participation rather than the kind of content selection associated with the traditional gate-keeping tasks." <sup>109</sup>

#### Market

By the 1990s, television and magazines had moved their advertising strategies more towards target-marketing – an approach that tailored advertising and editorial content towards a narrow and specific audience demographic - newspapers remained one of the few mass media outlets with a truly "mass" adult audience. Oftentimes, the only thing that might distinguish one newspaper's audience from another was geographic location (or the tabloid-form of paper), as opposed to the gender-age-racial demographics often used to target media consumers of different socioeconomic backgrounds. As the promise of online ventures were touted wildly within media industries, newspapers publishers began to worry that their audiences would 1) substitute online news for print news, and 2) be difficult to find online. While print revenue and existing finances were expected to fund the initial losses of online news, a few misconceptions of the audience would keep online news operating at a financial loss for years to come. Some of those misconceptions included the fact that 1) audiences did not immediately trade one media form for another and 2) audiences would no longer consume "newspapers," so much as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Ibid.

they would consume new articles and individual stories.

Newspaper publishers' need to understand audiences was driven primarily by the need for advertising revenue. In the late 1990s, 110 advertising represented roughly 80% of revenue for US newspapers. 111 Among media industries that sold advertising space, newspapers were second only to television in terms of revenue generated. In 1999, Standard & Poor's industry report on newspaper publishing states that there was an overall 6% rise in newspaper advertising, with national advertising gaining about 8.8%, retail rising 6.8%, and classified ad growth slowing to a 5.2% rate. The annual rise in advertising rates was admiral for the profit-makers. Unfortunately, it would take some time before online newspapers could boast similar increases in revenue. Part of the problem with online news – since its inception – was that online advertising proved to be an imperfect substitute for advertisers. 112 Doug Ahlers notes that revenue from newspaper advertisers subsidized 80 to 85 percent of the cost to consumers. Online advertising at the time was unable to achieve anything close to that level of subsidy. 113 And furthermore, it was unclear to publishers and advertisers alike, what kind of audiences would receive the advertising.

Business journalists of the time noted that many media companies felt an urgency to move operations online, as they believed audiences had begun to abandon traditional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> Standard & Poor's Industry Survey, 1999

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> In 1998, newspapers earned \$43.93 billion in advertising revenues, up 6.3% from 1997's \$41.33 billion. Add to that about \$10.27 billion in circulation revenues, and newspaper publishing was a \$54.2 billion industry in 1998. While in 2005, total newspaper advertising revenues totaled nearly \$10.5 billion in the first quarter, up 2.4% from the first quarter of 2004. By segment, retail rose 2.8% to \$4.93 billion, classifieds rose 3.5% to \$3.72 billion, and national declined 0.6% to \$1.84 billion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Ahlers, Douglas. 2006. "News Consumption and the New Electronic Media." *Press/Politics* 11:29-52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Ibid.

media. The fact was, that technologies weren't advanced enough and content providers weren't plentiful enough for audiences to be doing little other than "surf," or mindlessly search for content. At the same time, publishers lacked sophisticated methods by which to tell advertisers how much reach and impact their online marketing campaigns were likely to have. Newspapers were not only scurrying to find out where their audiences might go online, but they were also trying to figure out how they might convert online readership into advertising revenue. Publishers would ultimately decide that it would become important for newspapers to have a presence online – regardless of the quality of that presence. The justification behind this was offered by another important innovation in marketing, which focused on cross-media "branding" and brand-recognition. 114 Popular market logic of the time would make the case that it was important for a newspaper's name to appear in any possible medium so as to expose and broaden an organization's name to potential audiences. This was often achieved by ascribing an "identity" to a brand or organization, suggesting that they were much more than profitgenerating firms that would appear on one medium. In fact, it was more the company identity than its content that became important to media owners.

With powerful branding strategies in-hand, publishers began to launch their content online at more rapid rates. "Driving users" to the websites that piggy-backed on print operations quickly became a concern, much of which was done by suggesting to audiences that the quality associated with a brand's print efforts could be found on their online counterpart. While the websites at the time were experimenting with various revenue-generating strategies – dominant among them, online banner ads - newspaper

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Auletta, Ken. 2002. World War 3.0: Microsoft vs. the US Government, and the battle to rule the digital age: Broadway Books.

websites ultimately offer "free" content. Advertisers launched banner ads that proved unsuccessful. "Making money" on content became a popular press issue.

In their review of online news scholarship, Mitchelstein and Boczkowski cite several studies that show few online newspapers were making a profit by the early 2000s. The reasons given included: 1) having inadequate business models; 2) changing revenue models (new revenue-generating strategies never became successful, consequently having publishers resort to traditional sources such as advertising and subscription); 3) failing to secure advertising revenue; and 4) blurring commercial and editorial content in the online environment.

Boczkowski<sup>115</sup> argues that newspaper market dynamics of the time could be attributed to "a particular culture of innovation marked by reactive, defensive, and pragmatic traits." According to Boczkowski, many online news operations were launched as "a reaction to prior moves by new competitors" rather than any proactive effort to seek new horizons in journalism or news production. Boczkowski characterizes the approach to online news as less competitive and more defensive in that publishers were more interested in defending their existing territory rather than in conquering new ones. <sup>116</sup> They were more concerned with keeping the audiences they had, out of fear of losing them to the unknown Internet world. Fear of the new medium may have had publishers searching for the audiences, rather than creating true innovations that might build new audiences. Again, editorial innovation was compromised in favor of strategies that were less focused on innovation, and more focused on preventing revenue loss. With

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2005. *Digitizing the news: Innovation in online newspapers*: The MIT Press.

<sup>116</sup> Ibid.

geographical barriers to newspaper readership now down, publishers would have to find a way to get their news to the readers who might want it.

The new digital distribution channels enabled by 1996 Telecommunications Act and then further developed by the AOL TimeWarner legislative responses remind us that new distribution channels can change who the consumers are. In other words, now newspaper content could be accessible to audiences who couldn't purchase a newspaper otherwise sold outside their specific geographic market. And further, distribution channels change not only *how* customers consume but also *what* they consume. So now customers didn't have to invest in an entire newspaper. The design of graphical user interfaces – as organized through a systematic web of interconnected hyperlinks – would allow individuals to access individual news articles, thereby extracting the story of interest from the rest of the newspaper. With the news article as the new unit of online news commerce, advertising strategies would have to change. The mass appeal of newspapers was facilitated by the fact that in order to gain access to a specific section of any newspaper, a subscriber would have to purchase the entire newspaper. The online platform no longer made this an imperative. Readers could access the stories of their choice, completely by-passing the headlines and advertisements in other sections.

One of the consequences of this new electronic distribution system was that, in theory, its interconnectivity allowed audiences to go beyond geographic localities. Most businesses – whether or not they chose to be – now had the option of becoming globally competitive in that they could have a presence online, and their information would be accessible to anyone who could get online. Even those who once only sold their wares within local or regional markets could now, conceivably, make those beyond that market

aware of their products and services. This new approach to business proved to be a huge change for an industry so dependent upon local advertising. Publishers would now have to reconsider the place of local advertisers, and accommodate the resources they may or may not have to move advertising online. At the time, publishers were still unsure about what their audiences would actually do once online. As Drucker reminds us, just because an innovation has the potential to change the way consumers behave or consume, doesn't mean they actually will. He asks, "Why, for instance, did the railroad change both the mental and the economic geography of the West, whereas the steamboat – with its equal impact on world trade and passenger traffic – did neither?" Publisher fears that audiences with seemingly endless access and endless desire to access geographically non-local content ran alongside the still as-yet unknown Internet landscape. In reality, audiences still consumed information and news in somewhat patterned ways.

The truth was, audiences were not simply choosing one medium over another; replacing one medium for another. Doug Ahlers studies another social phenomenon evermore apparent during this time period by noting that for most consumers of news, the concept of single media usage was fading. Even as most Americans of the time were consumers of print media, television, and radio, this time period not only enabled consumers to receive content on their computers, but we saw the beginning of content transmitted to mobile devices. As Ahlers describes it, most Americans were now evermore in a media environment in which people consumed "a varied diet of media." <sup>117</sup>

But policies and government conceptualization of the various media kept our conceptualization of media separate, so that businesses only thought of one medium

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Ahlers, Douglas. 2006. "News Consumption and the New Electronic Media." *Press/Politics* 11:29-52.

either complementing or displacing the other. Different policies for different media made it more difficult to think of them as seamless distributors of content wherein it may have been more valuable to think of how and when complementarity and displacement happen, rather than whether they are happening. Because different types of media are understood by the Dept. of Justice to be in separate product markets, cross-media competition arguments were received skeptically. "To date, the DOJ and the courts have recognized that newspapers operate in two separate product markets. They also indicated that these markets are interrelated. However, explicit consideration of these interactions does not appear to have played a significant role in the market definition exercise." Instead, it was more likely the case that offline and online usage was related to convenience, routine, and comfort with new media.

## **Discussion & Conclusion**

In this study, I explored changes in the newspaper industry, Internet industries, media ownership, and media legislation that shaped the environment that would enable the emergence of online news. My analysis shows that legislation made certain technologies accessible the public. More specifically, the Internet infrastructure was no longer solely the property of the government, but could now be used by the public. Beyond that, legislation enabled competitive markets to develop on that infrastructure, which would later ensure that information published online could be accessed by the masses.

Technologies would serve to make online activity accessible to the masses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Sacher, Seth. (2009) *Antitrust Issues in Defining Markets in the Newspaper Industry* (Doctoral Dissertation), Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Database. Available at *SSRN 1967667*.

Graphical User Interfaces would now allow people who didn't know any kind of computer programming to access, exchange, and share content online. Key decisions during the "browser wars" also ensured that the Internet would remain accessible to the masses, and not tied to operating systems or software that would cost consumers money. The Internet would be understood to be unique and distinct, and not like software or hardware (i.e. computers) which were only ever available by purchase.

Cross-media ownership and the involvement of new financial investors in the online world opened-up the opportunity for newspapers to invest in online operations with some protection around their risk. Resources from other holdings or from external investors would serve to cushion any significant losses that newspapers might incur from investing in their new online product.

These resources also allowed for editorial staff on newspapers to experiment with digital content. Larger organizations could experiment with the new platform to see if online content would take the form of a "Sunday magazine"-type of publication, or whether users would want a more interactive platform by which to engage with journalists. Digital newsrooms often functioned in a more entrepreneurial fashion, with workers trying out new forms of news dissemination. At the same time, journalists in digital divisions lacked a great deal of legitimacy with other workers in the initial stages of experimentation.

Changes in the news production labor force demonstrated that workers and unions had less and less power, and media owners would dictate the terms of the workplace. For many journalists, this meant learning to do the task of many, including adapting to the new technologies required of the online medium.

And finally, market-based conceptions of the audience would have publishers and media owners feeling a sense of urgency to get content online. Even with inadequate business models, and little idea of how to generate revenue online, industry perceptions of a tech-savvy, "eager-for-change" audience induced some urgency in trying to get some kind of product online.

My analysis shows that the entrepreneurial energy of the late 1990s began much earlier, with legislation opening up a number of possibilities to be ceased. This chapter has focused on a specific event, the launch of online news in America, which occurred rapidly, but in the span of a few years. This launch was made possible by a confluence of factors, as discussed above. While the newspaper industry may have initially been blind to a number of the legislative and market forces that would come to impact them, changes within the industry were already making them poised and ready for the tidal wave of change.

## **Chapter 2: Online Product Diversification (1990-2010)**

# **Introduction**

The previous chapter delved into the broader context that shaped the rise of online news. In this chapter, I hone in very specifically on this historical context to see when individual newspapers decided to go online – decisions shaped by contextual and organizational factors. In order to do so, I will employ lessons learned from organizational ecology and neo-institutionalism as theoretical frameworks.

There are a number of competing actors in the field of online news, and one of the fascinating problems of the field has to do with its current arrangement wherein the profit-makers (e.g., Google) are not always the product-makers (e.g., newspapers). <sup>119</sup> In fact, not only are newspapers losing money, but their efforts to publish online have yet to yield substantial profits – profits that would support editorial operating budgets. <sup>120</sup> Despite this "failure" in the news business, newspapers remain invested in pursuing the online platform and in this way inspire questions about profit-making in digital publishing, on the one hand, and about the viability of print newspapers as a whole on the other.

In this chapter, I ask, which newspaper publishers decided to move their content online, and what factors influenced the timing of their movement? What factors influenced publisher efforts to establish online operations? The primary goal of this chapter is to better understand the role newspapers have played in the construction of the online news field. I will work towards this goal by looking closely at the timing of key

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Auletta, 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Allan, 2006

events that occurred for newspapers over the past twenty years. In particular, I will quantitatively examine the factors that influenced the year an existing newspaper company decided to go online. This historical, quantitative examination will offer substantive insights for observers concerned with the state of newspapers in a digital age, wherein we see the rise of one field (online news) and the decline of an interconnected other (newspapers). <sup>121</sup>

As newspapers were among the first organizations to put news content online, relevant findings from the event history analysis will be discussed to best understand the early years of the online news field. These analyses are intended to better explain the factors that most powerfully influenced diversification efforts, and consequently, the construction of a new field. Factors that affected timing of diversification are of particular relevance to more thoroughly understand, at a descriptive level, the dynamics of the population of newspapers at the time.

# **Historical Overview: From Print to Online, and Everything in Between**

A brief look at the history of the newspaper industry demonstrates that it has long been a field fashioned by economic and cultural change. The challenge to financially support newspaper publishing is not new. As a commercial entity, newspapers have met with financial challenges for over a century. And yet, as a consumer good understood to be of vital political importance to a democratic society, newspapers have also been the subject of government interventions and legislation, from being the subject of various

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> The latter to be discussed in the next chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> McChesney, Robert and John Nichol. 2010. *The Death and Life of American Journalism: The Media Revolution That Will Begin the World Again*. Philadelphia: Nation Books.

congressional hearings to being protected from antitrust laws. 123 While Chapter 1 in my dissertation presented a detailed account of the contextual factors that impacted the rise of online newspapers in America, I offer here broad strokes of key historical developments in the history of newspapers that lead the news industry to the 1990s.

While newspapers are understood to have been part of American life since roughly 1690, the late 1800s marked a dynamic period of change for newspapers that powerfully shaped the industry as we know it today. In the nineteenth century, widespread industrial expansion took shape under a rapidly changing US economy. With mass urban growth and the US moving from regional economies to a national one, newspapers began to play an increasingly important role in commerce and in the advertising of goods and services. 124 Amidst the national cultural overhaul of the nineteenth century, the number of newspapers in the country grew significantly. 125 Mass industrial expansion would come to create an energetic landscape for the printed paper that inspired great competition among large urban dailies. In the 1890s, figures like Joseph Pulitzer and William Randolph Hearst grew their empires amidst significant population shifts in the United States, with more and more people moving away from rural areas and into cities, consequently expanding the pool of news consumers. 126 Urban expansion, population growth, and a thriving economy persisted just as competition among large urban dailies increased. As immigration escalated and urban centers flourished, growing population and affluence in America carried over into the 20<sup>th</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> Demers, David Pearce. 1997. "Structural pluralism, intermedia competition, and the growth of the corporate newspaper in the United States." *Mass media and society*:85-108. <sup>125</sup> Carroll, Glenn R. 1984. "Dynamics of publisher succession in newspaper organizations." Administrative Science Quarterly:93-113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Schudson, Michael. 2003. *The sociology of news*: Norton New York.

century, supporting, along with it, developments in America's media industries.

While the role of American newspapers during war time in the 20<sup>th</sup> century powerfully connected the American public with journalists and the press, <sup>127</sup> the business of newspapers evolved alongside other developments in the news industry. Other forms of media became sites for the production and dissemination of news. Radio became a viable, commercial industry in the 1920s, adding news/talk programs and emergency reporting to their roster of entertainment programs. <sup>128</sup> In 1941, another medium entered the news world when two television stations in New York City began broadcasting news programs to small local audiences. At the time, television had not been adopted by the masses, but as its popularity and affordability grew, so too did its potential to perform many of the civic functions of the printed press. <sup>129</sup> However, neither the growth of news radio nor the growth of television hurt the newspaper industry as much as initially expected by publishing executives.

While televised news itself has a complex history, becoming important fixtures in middle-class households, especially during the Kennedy Assassination and the Vietnam War, 130 it contributed to the creation of new standards for investigative journalism and an appeal for live coverage of important national events. These standards grew in a number of ways, most notably during the reporting of the Gulf War in the 1990s, an event that

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Zelizer, Barbie. 1992. "CNN, the Gulf War, and journalistic practice." *Journal of Communication* 42:66-81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> Huseyin, Leblebici, R Salancik Gerald, Copay Anne, and King Tom. 1991. "Institutional change and the transformation of interorganizational fields: An organizational history of the US radio broadcasting industry." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 36:333-63.

Donovan, Robert J. 1992. *Unsilent revolution: television news and American public life, 1948-1991*: Cambridge University Press.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Zelizer, Barbie. 1992. "CNN, the Gulf War, and journalistic practice." *Journal of Communication* 42:66-81.

spiked the popularity of CNN, and 24-hr cable TV network. While CNN's popularity increased substantially during this period, it was not to the detriment of newspapers, with *The Boston Globe* and *The Philadelphia Inquirer* selling up to 20,000 more copies a day in 1991 than the year prior. CNN's centrality amidst Gulf War reporting arguably created opportunities that were seized by newspapers offering supplements and special editions providing more coverage of the war, but also editorials and coverage of the cable news reporting itself. Although the financial impact on radio, television, and print media during their coexistence is somewhat unclear, all three news media have survived and, at times, flourished in the same time period.

### Changes in Journalism

Numerous environmental factors have influenced the newspaper industry, including the mass appeal of new technologies, and changing cultural expectations of journalism. Along the way, newspaper organizations have successfully adopted a number of innovations. The 1960s has commonly been recognized to have supported innovations along the lines of typesetting and photocomposition. In the 1970s, computers began to appear in newsrooms, an event that would revolutionize journalistic research, news databases, wire services, and typesetting. The 1970s witnessed a significant elevation of the figure of the journalist in the American consciousness with Hollywood producing films that further glamorized and called attention to the inner workings of newsrooms. *Washington Post* reporters Woodward and Bernstein created the figure of the celebrity journalist, bringing mass awareness to journalistic standards and the journalist's role in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Nord, David Paul. 2001. *Communities of journalism: A history of American newspapers and their readers*: University of Illinois Press.

<sup>133</sup> Ibid.

society.<sup>134</sup> And around the time that the American public came to valorize the work of journalists, the financial troubles of newspaper organizations became the concern of policy makers. The government's voice in supporting the newspaper industry would be made clear in 1970, when Congress passed the Newspaper Preservation Act of 1970.<sup>135</sup> The legislation relaxed antitrust laws and permitted joint operating agreements between competing newspapers, allowing them to merge operations and printing resources outside the newsroom if one or both were in financial distress.

More general trends for newspapers over the 20<sup>th</sup> and into the 21<sup>st</sup> century have involved a move away from family-ownership to corporate ownership, increasing consolidation of corporate ownership, increasing mortality among daily newspapers and an increase in local newspaper monopolies. As of 2002, only ten companies owned newspapers that accounted for more than half of US' daily circulation, with the top three newspaper companies (i.e., "chains")<sup>136</sup> – Gannett, Knight-Ridder, and the Tribune Co. – representing one-fourth of the circulation of US newspapers. A decrease in the number of daily newspapers across the country, and a decrease in local newspaper competition has been matched by a general decline in newspaper circulation in recent years. Despite this decline over the 2000s, there has been an upward trend in the popularity of Sunday newspapers. While only 538 newspapers published Sunday editions in 1970, as of 2002,

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> Zelizer, 1992.

<sup>135</sup> Schudson, Michael. 2003. *The sociology of news*: Norton New York.

Newspaper chains are "firms owning and operating papers in more than one locale" (Carroll, 1995). The first newspaper chains were started in the early 1900s, the largest one created by E.W. Scripps (Adams, 2001). Scripps' chain owned twenty-four newspapers around the country, a centralized news features syndicate and a telegraph news service. The creation of the chain was intended to provide a centralized news service that would offer content to local newspapers, many of whom eventually came to have only one-third of their content actually locally-produced at the time (Adams, 2001).

a total of 917 Sunday papers were being published.<sup>137</sup> Given that the Sunday newspaper is a relatively recent phenomenon in the history of newspapers, its increasing popularity seems to suggest that the idea of print as an obsolete medium may be somewhat insufficient in explaining the general decline of newspapers.

### The Internet and the News

And finally, one of the more significant trends of recent times has to do with the popularity of the Internet as a news medium. In the late 1990s, the US experienced a massive economic boom fueled mainly by companies and initiatives that expected to exploit the seemingly limitless potential of the online medium. 138 During this time, newspapers experimented with a number of revenue-generating models, asking readers to subscribe to news sites and working with companies like AOL and Yahoo! to offer bundled packages of a number of online services. Most of these models were quickly abandoned and soon replaced by advertising models similar to those currently used by print newspapers (one notable exception is *The Wall Street Journal*, which has offered a subscription-based service for over a decade). Part of the challenge news publishers faced was that content was seemingly uncontrollable, and a news item intended to be accessible only by subscription could (and would) appear on other sites for free. Challenges were particularly acute when it came to breaking news wherein a story form a wire service (e.g., Associated Press) could appear on one site, drawing consumers away from their subscription sites.

The increasing consolidation of newspaper chains impacted the evolution of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> World Press Encyclopedia, 2002

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> Auletta, Ken. 2009. *Googled: The End of the World As We Know It*. New York: Penguin Press.

online newspapers, when companies like Knight-Ridder standardized all their newspaper sites, exercising an option to impose standard corporate models on its papers. They relaxed these efforts after receiving much criticism over standardizing operations at the San Jose Mercury-News, a newspaper considered to be one of the pioneers of online newspapers. <sup>139</sup>

Over the past twenty years, web use has increased in America, inspiring a myriad of new cultural products and behaviors dealing with interactive technologies. <sup>140</sup> Over these years, the key corporate actors and money makers of the Internet landscape have shifted a few times, as is evidenced in the case of news. With search engines becoming influential news distributors, news wire services more publicly accessed, and the proliferation of software that tailor news feeds to the individual user, newspaper publishers have not fared as well. The proliferation of content providers, blog writers, and online news publishers has grown alongside an entirely different force, namely the world of Google and the centrality of search engines as key portals for online content. <sup>141</sup> The web is used in a multitude of ways, but search engines and the intentions of the companies that support them have impacted the way in which users obtain online content, whether it be medical information, fashion blogs, or the daily news. Portals and news aggregators not only offer consumers access to news stories from a variety of sources including wire services, but also to email, entertainment, and other online content.

Today, the web's ability to give voice to news producers is funneled primarily

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> Hargittai, Eszter. 2010. "Digital Na(t)ives? Variation in Internet Skills and Uses among Members of the "Net Generation"." *Sociological Inquiry* 80:92-113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Auletta, Ken. 2009. *Googled: The End of the World As We Know It*. New York: Penguin Press.

through search engines and online portals. The visibility of a news source is dependent, in part, upon its accessibility as permitted by these online gatekeepers. In this way, the current role search engines or Internet portals occupy is one of intermediary, by which they are neither producer nor consumer, but a necessary conduit between. What these intermediaries have also done is allowed the "cost" of information to remain fairly invisible to the end user. News stories can now be accessed with little concern for the cost of that specific piece of information. Search engines are increasingly run by computer algorithms, making it likely that Internet traffic is highly localized. But interestingly, even among the most dominant news sources online, few have figured out significant profit-making strategies. At present, the winners along those lines are still the search engines and online portals.

Undoubtedly, the story of the newspaper is still in flux, with news forms adapting to broader economic and cultural changes. Existing sociological theories suggest that there may be patterns that exist amidst this dynamism – patterns that can help us make sense of what has happened to newspapers in the past two decades and what may be likely in the near future.

#### The Movement of Newspapers into Online News

# Imitation and Density: Lessons from the California Thrift Industry

While the movement of newspapers into online news operations is a recent development that may appear unique, it is actually but one example of a general process described as "diversification." Broadly speaking, diversification refers to entry, on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Hargittai, Eszter. 2004. "Internet access and use in Context." *New Media & Society* 6:115-121.

part of an organization, into new lines of activity. 143 Product-unrelated diversification involves organizational expansion into operations that are very different from existing product or service lines, as in the case of Ling-Temco-Bought, which produced missiles and steel, but owned a rental car company. 144 Product-related diversification involves the creation of goods and services that are market extensions more in-line with existing competencies, as in the case of chemical companies that produce paint or explosives. 145 By extending existing competencies into new domains, whether related or unrelated to their previous domain, organizations may enter into a market that is otherwise new to the firm (as when newspapers ventured into the emerging world of online news). To better understand the diversification of US newspapers – that is, the rate at which they entered into online news – I turn to Heather Haveman's 146 evaluation of similar processes that occurred in the California savings and loan (thrift) associations. Haveman draws upon both neoinstitutional and ecological theories to make sense of diversification among California thrifts, heeding the role of imitation (neo-institutional theory; e.g., DiMaggio & Powell, 1983) and the impact of total numbers ("density"; ecological theory; e.g., Hannan & Carroll, 1981).

It is helpful to begin by first describing the context of Haveman's <sup>147</sup> study regarding the California savings and loan industry. From 1977 to 1987, the population of California thrift associations moved from being primary lenders for home mortgages to

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> Haveman, Heather A. 1993. "Follow the Leader: Mimetic Isomorphism and Entry into New Markets." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 38:593-627.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Fligstein, Neil. 1985. "The Spread of the Multidivisional Form Among Large Firms, 1919-1979." *American Sociological Review* 50:377-391.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> Fligstein, 1987

Haveman, Heather A. 1993. "Follow the Leader: Mimetic Isomorphism and Entry into New Markets." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 38:593-627.
 Ibid.

being firms that administered a much wider range of financial products. Thrifts were, effectively, savings and loan associations – financial institutions that specialized in holding savings deposits or making mortgages and loans possible. Prior to the time period Haveman examines, in the early 1970s, extensive technological innovation in the broader financial services sector was occurring and took the form of new electronic dataprocessing and telecommunications systems. Economic changes at the time took the form of volatile interest rates and increased competition that thrifts faced from securities firms and the money-market sector. Together, these factors made survival difficult for savings and loan associations. If the thrifts did not want to fail altogether, they could no longer stick to their traditional asset base by managing mortgage loans. They would have to expand their lines of business (i.e., diversify). Their situation was further complicated by deregulation in the early 1980s (namely, the Depository Institutions Deregulation and Monetary Control Act of 1980, DIDMCA; and the Garn-St. Germain Depository Institutions Act, 1982). These Acts now allowed thrifts to invest in commercial lending, offer a wider variety of consumer loans, and extend their operations into the domains of real estate development and consumer nonmortgage financial services. Thus, this deregulation had increased the scope of choices thrifts had for investments and money management (i.e., more diversification). But the thrifts did not have well-established industry models by which to develop new investment and operations strategies. That is, while they were somewhat well-versed in how to handle home mortgages, they initially lacked the experience (and hence expertise) to deal with these new domains of finance.

Haveman gets at the complexity of the California thrift industry by heeding some fundamental factors that could (and did) shape the diversification of these organizations.

She begins by drawing upon neoinstitutional theory, namely its notion of "mimetic isomorphism." As mentioned above, California savings and loan associations eventually faced a number of environmental changes, including regulatory changes that ultimately increased both opportunity and uncertainty. Organizations in the thrift industry experienced confusion in devising strategies, including those regarding diversification, that might best respond to environmental changes. Haveman reminds us of DiMaggio and Powell's argument<sup>148</sup> that efficient responses to uncertainty often involve mimesis, wherein organizations achieve conformity through imitation. Of course, the key question is which particular thrifts were imitated by others. She answers that it is not only important to acknowledge that organizations imitate one another, but to take a close look at which actors are more likely to be imitated. 149 Haveman sets forth a variety of possibilities, arguing that thrifts are likely to diversify when they see particular types of thrifts doing so: they may be more likely to imitate those thrifts that are similar in size to them; those that are highly profitable; or those that are relatively large in size. She draws these possibilities from the basic rationale behind DiMaggio and Powell's discussion of isomorphism that organizations tend to model themselves after others they perceive to have similar resources, face similar challenges, or be more successful. Profitable and large firms exemplify distinct types of success in a particular domain, and in turn, may prompt all firms to follow them into other domains.

While Haveman emphasizes the role of imitation in diversification, she also notes

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> DiMaggio, Paul J. and Walter W. Powell. 1997. "The Iron Cage Revisited: Institutional Isomorphism and Collective Rationality in Organizational Fields." Pp. 50-72 in *Classical Tradition in Sociology: The American Tradition*, vol. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> Haveman, Heather A. 1993. "Follow the Leader: Mimetic Isomorphism and Entry into New Markets." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 38:593-627.

that it is not without its limits. Knowing which organizations were imitated is only half the story. Knowing when imitation occurred is likely to better characterize the emergence of the field. Ecological theory helps us better understand how the total number of thrifts (i.e., density) involved in diversification could shape the rate at which others diversify. The core of the "density-dependent" argument – whether applied to organization foundings or diversification – emphasizes the competing processes of legitimation and competition. The Density-Dependence model has been used by organizational ecologists to study organizational foundings and failures, and is particularly valuable in enabling a look at legitimation and competitive processes. For example, the initial increase in the annual density of an industry signals its rising legitimacy, as it shows the securing of resources and constituents. This bodes well, in the subsequent year, for both annual foundings (which should rise) and annual failures (which should decline). However, after reaching a plateau ("carrying capacity"), high annual density signals competition for existing resources and constituents. This bodes less well – as subsequent foundings will likely decline and subsequent failures will likely increase. 150 Haveman argues (and finds) that diversification, as a new venture, is akin to organizational founding in that new resources are accessed, relationships are established, and changes are incurred. Initially, at lower levels of density, a rising annual number of organizations engaged in diversification serves to legitimate movement into a new domain – demonstrating that it is both increasingly accepted and beneficial.

For California thrifts, this meant that a growing number that dealt with financial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Carroll, Glenn R. and Michael T. Hannan. 1989. "Density Dependence in the Evolution of Populations of Newspaper Organizations." *American Sociological Review* 54:524-541.

products beyond home mortgages legitimated the diversification effort and could thus spur other thrifts to follow suit. Later, at higher levels of density, legitimation processes give way to competition, as a relatively large number of organizations now vie for the same limited resources and clients in this new domain. Thus, high annual numbers of diversified firms discourage firms from diversifying in the subsequent year, given the now-crowded environment. California thrifts, then, may think twice about diversifying beyond home mortgages when many of their competitors have already done so. In short, density may have an inverted-U shaped relationship with movement into a new domain: diversification rates are proportional to the degree to which this movement into a new domain is initially legitimated and inversely proportional to the level of competition that later ensues.

Haveman<sup>151</sup> links the density argument to isomorphism, then, by looking at the total number of particular types of firms that have moved into new finance domains and the impact that may have on subsequent firms in terms of diversification – what she calls "mimetic density." Given this inverted-U effect, imitation should be initially spurred by growing numbers of particular types of thrifts that have diversified and later dampened by high numbers of such thrifts. Thus, she inspects the impact of the respective density of (a) similar-sized thrifts that have diversified, (b) large thrifts that have diversified, and (c) profitable thrifts that have diversified. She does so by looking at diversification into six different financial markets (e.g., the commercial loan market, the real estate market). One hypothesis, then, is that a growing number of large thrifts active in the commercial loan market will prompt thrifts of all sizes to diversify into commercial loans. However, a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Haveman, Heather A. 1993. "Follow the Leader: Mimetic Isomorphism and Entry into New Markets." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 38:593-627.

high number of large thrifts in that same domain will repel thrifts from venturing into this domain, as they are at a disadvantage given the preponderance of large thrifts already active in commercial loans.

Deregulation opened up six new markets thrifts could enter, which enabled Haveman's study to evaluate repeated tests for her mimetic density hypotheses. The six markets opened up by deregulation included: 1) nonresidential mortgages, 2) mortgagebacked securities, 3) consumer loans, 4) commercial loans, 5) real estate, and 6) service corporation subsidiaries. Haveman looks at diversification into each of the six markets by size- and success-based mimetic density. She then goes on to make comparisons across the six markets to evaluate her original hypotheses. Her results across the six markets demonstrate little support for the hypothesis that firms imitate the actions and strategies of similarly-sized firms. Instead, she finds that in four of the six markets, large organizations served as influential role models, confirming her hypotheses by having inverted-U shaped relationships between diversification and large-firm density. And in another four of the six markets, profitable firm-density demonstrated the expected curvilinear relationship. So Haveman's study finds that the density of large thrifts and the density of profitable thrifts have a curvilinear effect on the diversification of other thrifts, while the density of similarly-sized thrifts has an inverted-U shaped relationship only in one market, non-residential mortgages, and a negative linear effect in the case of mortgage-backed securities.

More broadly speaking, then, Haveman finds that large organizations and profitable firms serve as powerful role models for other organizations in the thrifts industry. She finds that large organizations actually have a more pronounced influence

over market entry of other large organizations, while profitable firms are imitated by all thrifts. Entry by large and profitable firms legitimated the new market, making it more attractive to potential entrants. On the other hand, thrifts do not imitate similarly-sized firms, choosing instead to model themselves after successful firms. Haveman's discussion of mimetic density demonstrates how the population of California savings and loan associations began to offer a much wider range of financial products. Key growth strategies, namely product-diversification efforts, on the part of large and profitable thrifts were imitated by other thrifts. Over time, these events came to comprise a new market arrangement of financial services altogether.

By incorporating the notion of mimetic isomorphism into the density-dependence model, Haveman considers the impact of organizational size and success on imitation pursued by other firms. I will replicate Haveman's work by looking at the type of newspaper that most substantially affects the rates of diversification for other newspapers. Unlike Haveman, I only have one market of diversification, versus her six. I will not be addressing any other potentially relevant markets for newspapers

In one application of her mimetic density argument, Haveman hypothesizes that organizations look to other companies that seem like immediate competition and monitor these organizations more closely than others. According to this logic, newspapers will attend most carefully to others that are similar in size in that they may have access to similar types of resources for growth, or may employ similar strategies in times of crisis or failure. As such, the likelihood that an organization will imitate the strategies of a similar organization is high, just as the expansion strategies undergo a process of legitimation. However, when the density reaches high levels, then newspapers may be

discouraged from following their similar-sized competitors into online news.

H1: The rate of entry into online news by newspapers will have an inverted-U shaped relationship with the annual density of similarly-sized newspapers that have gone online

According to Haveman's mimetic density argument, another hypothesis is that organizations imitate those in their population that are or are perceived by organizational decision makers to be successful. While Haveman bases success on measures most applicable to thrifts, namely profits and organizational size, some researchers have found that key to "success" is a sense of high levels of prestige. One proxy for success in the newspaper industry might be circulation numbers.

H2: The rate of entry into online news by all newspapers will have an inverted-U shaped relationship with the annual density of large (i.e., high circulation) newspapers that have gone online.

Haveman also acknowledges that other factors could shape the rate at which California thrifts diversified. One such factor that applies to both thrifts and newspapers is that of organizational age. While Haveman uses age as a control variable, she notes that previous research suggests that organizational age influences rates of change. In some cases, age has been associated with stability independent of size, <sup>152</sup> consequently making them more conservative and reluctant to make such changes as diversification. <sup>153</sup>

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Freeman, John, Glenn R. Carroll, and Michael T. Hannan. 1983. "The Liability of Newness: Age Dependence in Organizational Death Rates." *American Sociological Review* 48:692-710.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> Boeker, Warren. 1989. "The Development and Institutionalization of Subunit Power in Organizations." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 34:388-410.

Hannan and Freeman<sup>154</sup> observed that older organizations may be especially likely to suffer disruption due to change. Internal structures and routines may be more thoroughly established, making change more disruptive in its effects. In the case of newspapers, age may impact the likelihood of diversification and will consequently be included in analyses.

H3: The rate of entry into online news is positively shaped by the age of a given newspaper.

Haveman was also sure to control for economic environmental forces. One potential lesson to draw from Haveman's study is that economic difficulties (rather than economic stability) prompted thrifts to diversify. While she used a measure more applicable to the thrifts industry, namely changes in interest rates, it is worth controlling for economic fluctuations that occurred over the past twenty years, most especially because the dot.com era marked a period of significant growth for online businesses, rapid diffusion of Internet use, and the creation of a significant economic speculative bubble in America. And so it makes sense to consider both the state of the broader economy (as measured by annual GNP or the annual value of the US stock market) and the state of the newspaper economy (as measured by annual total revenues).

H4a: The rate of entry into online news will be spurred by years in which the overall economy and decline when economy declines.

H4b: The rate of entry into online news will be spurred by years in which the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> Freeman, John, Glenn R. Carroll, and Michael T. Hannan. 1983. "The Liability of Newness: Age Dependence in Organizational Death Rates." *American Sociological Review* 48:692-710.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> DiMaggio, Paul and Bart Bonikowski. 2008. "Make money surfing the web? The impact of Internet use on the earnings of US workers." Ibid.73:227-250.

newspaper economy is declining.

## **Density and Previous Entrants**

Haveman's combination of institutional and ecological approaches, while useful, does not exhaust some common arguments of both camps. Ecologists who study organizational foundings within a given population often look at two other factors: the total density of organizations and the previous year's entries into a new market. <sup>156</sup> Their argument for total density is comparable to the density hypotheses offered by Haveman – with the exception that it takes into account the curvilinear impact of all organizations (rather than those of particular size and success) on foundings – with density showing a positive effect in the initial phase of legitimation and a negative effect in the later phase of competition. Their focus on previous foundings also entails an inverted-U relationship with current foundings, but for different reasons. An increase in the number of foundings in one year indicates a hospitable environment and signals opportunity for other similar organizations, thus prompting more foundings in the next year. However, a high number of foundings in one year signals a crowded environment, thus dampening the number of foundings in the next year.

H5: The rate of entry into online news by all newspapers will have an inverted-U shaped relationship with the annual density of all newspapers that have gone online.

H6: The rate of entry into the online news market will have an inverted U-shaped relationship with the number of entrants in the previous year.

### Isomorphism and Institutional Logics

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> Dobbin, Frank and Timothy J. Dowd. 1997. "How Policy Shapes Competition: Early Railroad Foundings in Massachusetts." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 42:501-529, —. 2000. "The Market That Antitrust Built: Public Policy, Private Coercion, and Railroad Acquisitions, 1825 to 1922." *American Sociological Review* 65:631-657.

To be sure, mimetic isomorphism is but one form of isomorphism evaluated by neoinstitutionalists. In the case of newspapers, media ownership has played an increasingly influential role in recent years, as operations and strategies for a family of newspapers under one owner may be shared to exploit economies of scale. As such, it may be the case that coercive measures by media owners are a more powerful influence in diversification efforts than mimesis. Coercive isomorphism may be the mechanism by which media owners ensure that their newspapers diversify.

H7: The rate of diversification will be higher among those newspapers owned by large media owners than those owned by smaller media owners.

A third form of isomorphism addressed by DiMaggio and Powell is "normative isomorphism," and stems from notions of professionalization, but has come to be more broadly understood as the legitimated attributes of an organization. Organizational norms may come from professionals within a field, training institutions, or any structures that normatively sanction or legitimate a common set of attributes (including styles of speech or dress). Institutional, or "taken-for-granted" factors of an organizational environment may consist of legitimated beliefs, shared scripts, and norms. Schneiberg and Clemens argue that the cultural mechanism of legitimacy may be located in norms evidenced by counts of news articles. They refer to scholars who have successfully used a measure of press coverage (number of articles) as an index of taken-for-grantedness or

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> Carroll, 1995

DiMaggio, Paul J. and Walter W. Powell. 1997. "The Iron Cage Revisited:
 Institutional Isomorphism and Collective Rationality in Organizational Fields." Pp. 50-72 in *Classical Tradition in Sociology: The American Tradition*, vol. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> Schneiberg, Marc and Elisabeth S. Clemens. 2006. "The Typical Tools for the Job: Research Strategies in Institutional Analysis." *Sociological Theory* 24:195-227.

the growing acceptance of particular cultural objects, distinguishing between the preponderance of positive over negative mentions as a measure of legitimacy and normative evaluation. So the more US press coverage "online news" receives (in terms of annual # of articles), then the more legitimate that entity is in the broader American culture.

H8. The rate of diversification into online news will increase as legitimation of online news grows.

The efforts of profit-making firms to diversify have been generally understood as a rational response to economic imperatives. But as Fligstein and Dauber<sup>161</sup> find, in reviewing an expanse of economic and sociological studies of organizations, efficiency-based economic explanations of diversification have gathered only modest empirical support. And so they argue that a more complete understanding of the impact of organizations' diversification efforts necessitates a sociological perspective. In other words, it is important to consider the institutional and political processes that shape the changes within a field that may further impact a population. Ideas around diversification strategies intended to generate profits, may, in fact, increase mortality rates or give other actors an advantage in a new field.

The neoinstitutional perspective urges scholars to consider the field in which a population of organizations exists so as to enable a look at cultural factors that impact an organization and its competition – including what they call "institutional logics." These logics stress culture's constitutive mode, or the ways in which the actions of individuals and organizations are an enactment of internalized values and beliefs. As Hayagreeva

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Fligstein, Neil and Kenneth Dauber. 1989. "Structural Change in Corporate Organization." *Annual Review of Sociology* 15:73-96.

Rao<sup>162</sup> explains in his study of French gastronomy, "[i]nstitutional logics are the belief systems that furnish guidelines for practical action...logics constitute the identities of actors and generate obligations." While Rao looks at the logics that play into French chefs taking on nouvelle cuisine, institutional logics also constrain and impel the actions of organizations.<sup>163</sup> Existing institutional logics may be replaced by new logics that shift role identities for French chefs or expansion efforts by news publishers. A relevant consideration of the ways institutional logics impact organizational change can be found in Potter and Dowd's<sup>164</sup> study of executive turnover in California hospitals.

Potter and Dowd<sup>165</sup> draw upon a key argument repeatedly evidenced in neoinstitutional scholarship that demonstrates the impact of legal environments on organizational outcomes.<sup>166</sup> More specifically, their study looks at hospital incorporation and tax laws, in their ability to define the legal form of an organization as being either a for-profit or a not-for-profit entity. These legal forms shape the logics by which organizations operate, and, as the study finds, the logic by which hospitals evaluate and replace executives. Of special note was the study's examination of period effects and change over time. Potter and Dowd find that when hospitals change form, executive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Rao, Hayagreeva, Philippe Monin, and Rodolphe Durand. 2005. "Border Crossing: Bricolage and the Erosion of Categorical Boundaries in French Gastronomy." *American Sociological Review* 70:968-991.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Thornton, Patricia and William Ocasio. 2008. "Institutional Logics." in *The Sage Handbook of Organizational Institutionalism*, edited by R. Greenwood, C. Oliver, R. Suddaby, and K. Sahlin-Andersson. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Potter, Sharyn J. and Timothy J. Dowd. 2003. "Executive Turnover and the Legal Environment: The Case of California Hospitals, 1960–1995." *Sociological Forum* 18:441.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Dobbin, Frank and Timothy J. Dowd. 2000. "The Market That Antitrust Built: Public Policy, Private Coercion, and Railroad Acquisitions,1825 to 1922." *American Sociological Review* 65:631-657.

turnover increases, demonstrating that the divergent logics of these two legal forms (namely a logic of profit maximization in the case of "for-profits" and the logic of collective goods in the case of "not-for-profits"), <sup>167</sup> impelled change in the decisions of field actors, and in the actors themselves. While legal forms constitute only one example of institutional logics, a consideration of environmental factors may better clarify population dynamics.

The movement of the population of American newspapers onto online platforms accounts for only part of the innovation involved in the online news field. Activity external to the newspaper population, such as licensing agreements between wire services and technology companies, may impact the operations of news organizations, as well as decisions to pursue growth strategies such as diversification. I will consider the impact of the valorization of search engines in news consumption on the likelihood of failure for newspapers. Specifically, I intend to look at the shift in logics, from one in which newspapers were once the dominant players to one in which other players (e.g. Google) are dominant.

While news aggregators and online portals were not a part of the original competitive set of organizations expanding into the field, they are now dominant players, assuming powerful roles as intermediaries between news producers and audiences. The original logics that dominated the newspaper field, wherein news producers were the profit-generators ("logic of producer-dominance"), have over time been replaced by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Potter, Sharyn J. and Timothy J. Dowd. 2003. "Executive Turnover and the Legal Environment: The Case of California Hospitals, 1960–1995." *Sociological Forum* 18:441.

cultural notions that appear to benefit wire services and search engines. 168 Web content classification services became increasingly sophisticated in the mid-1990s, to the point that news content was an identifiable category of information to which search engines could channel users. 169 With Yahoo! launching their news site in 1997 and Google in 2002, <sup>170</sup> the late nineties and early 2000s marked a time of rapid expansion for online content, and news content in particular. Evidence of this logic may be located in formal partnerships or licensing agreements established between intermediaries and news wire services. An ecological approach to field analysis, combined with an institutional approach is likely to allow for a consideration of the dominance of online portals and their impact on the field.

I examine the potential impact of these events by considering them as "period effects," understanding, for example, that once Google launched its browser, it remained in existence thereafter. I hypothesize impact of period effects as follows:

H9a. The shift from a "logic of producer-dominance" to a "logic of intermediarydominance" became more pronounced and increased the rate of diversification after 1995, the year America Online (AOL) established licensing agreements with news wire services.

H9b. The shift from a "logic of producer-dominance" to a "logic of intermediarydominance" became more pronounced and increased the rate of diversification after 1997, the year Yahoo! established licensing agreements with news wire services.

<sup>169</sup> DiMaggio, Paul, Eszter Hargittai, W. Russell Neuman, and John P. Robinson. 2001. "Social Implications of the Internet." *Annual Review of Sociology* 27:307.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> Auletta, Ken. 2009. *Googled: The End of the World As We Know It*. New York: Penguin Press.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> Carlson, Matt. 2007. "Order versus access: news search engines and the challenge to traditional journalistic roles." *Media, Culture & Society* 29:1014-1030.

H9c. The shift from a "logic of producer-dominance" to a "logic of intermediary-dominance" became more pronounced and increased the rate of diversification after 1998, the year Microsoft Networks (MSN) established licensing agreements with news wire services.

H9d. The shift from a "logic of producer-dominance" to a "logic of intermediary-dominance" became more pronounced and increased the rate of diversification after 2002, the year Google established licensing agreements with news wire services.

### **Data Sources**

The primary source for the dataset is the *Editor & Publisher International Yearbook.* I have supplemented this with data from the following sources:

- Standard & Poor's Industry Surveys
- World Press of the Nation
- Bacon's Newspaper Directory
- Library of Congress (this includes data on all name changes a newspaper experienced over its entire life – since established)
- Bureau of Labor Statistics
- Whois.com (for website domain registration information
- The World Bank databases

The data set will amount to a pooling of annual information from the complete population of newspapers in New York State and Illinois from 1990 to 2010. I selected Illinois, as it is somewhat representative of other states in America. It has one large city, and many other smaller towns, most of which publish their own daily newspaper. The state does not house one dominant industry or community, as we might find in Hollywood or

Washington, D.C. Instead, it is home to a wide range of industries and daily newspapers that service large towns and smaller communities. I include New York State as it is something of an exception, home to Manhattan, an industry center for publishing and news media. At the same time, New York State is also home to a number of small dailies. To only study New York, however, might be to study an anomaly as its media landscape may be different – more innovative, competitive, or fast-paced - given all the activity in Manhattan (which may influence neighboring townships). I include in my dataset information on every English-language daily newspaper that was not a tabloid publication, and was not distributed for "free."

Because all data were in printed yearbook form, all information was entered by hand into a database. The database included variables on every relevant newspaper for each year from 1990 to 2010. While my analyses only used variables for which data was complete (in some cases, there were several missing cases, and these variables were excluded from analysis), data was collected on a number of variables, including the following: name of publication; the date the newspaper was first established and the dates of any mergers; the website url, the date (day, month, year) of initial online domain registration; the length of the publication cycle (5-day, 6-day, Sunday paper); the city serviced by the newspaper, the county, census estimates, "newspaper designated market" estimates, census estimates at the nearest decade mark (1980, 1990, or 2000); daily circulation rates; the time of day the newspaper was published (morning, evening, all-day, or afternoon); the public relations group representing the newspaper (because the yearbooks I used were primarily used by ad-buyers); the daily, weekly, monthly, and annual subscription rates, advertising rates (open inch rate) daily and for Sunday editions;

news wire services used by the newspaper in that year; the amount of newsprint consumption (in metric tons or short tons); newsprint dimensions; the number of pounds of black ink used annually; the number of pounds of color ink used annually; the number of single pages printed daily; the official political affiliation of the newspaper (more than 90% declared "Independent," including The New York Times and The Wall Street Journal); and a listing of all magazine supplements offered by the newspaper. I used the Bacon's guides to get information on media ownership. Unfortunately, I am still missing 3 years of data, and do not have complete information for my entire population of dailies.

From these data, I constructed the ecological variables (density, etc.), and coded for size, based on circulation rates.

I corroborated some of the variables (such as established date) with the Library of Congress databases. From there, I also gathered information on the number of "name changes" a newspaper had had since its inception. Some of these name changes occurred with mergers, or for branding purposes (in cases where the "The" is dropped from the title of the publication).

Editor & Publisher and The World Bank databases gave me information on a number of aggregate-level variables. These variables included: national circulation rates per year; national advertising expenditures per year; total number of print newspapers in operation in any given year. World Bank variables included: Gross Domestic Product by year; and Internet Penetration, or the percent of total American households online, defined as "people with access to the World Wide Web network."

### Methods

This section of my dissertation will investigate entry by American daily

newspaper organizations into the business of online news. Just as I have modeled my theoretical approach and hypotheses after Haveman's study of the California thrifts industry, I intend to model my analyses after her work. I will use event history analyses to better understand newspaper diversification into the online arena. This approach mandates the use of longitudinal data while allowing for analyses that take into account the possibility that the dependent variable itself evolves over time. As Petersen notes in his discussion of event history analysis, "[d]ata on such processes typically contain information about the date a sample member entered a social state, for example, an employment state, the date the person was last observed in the state, and, if the state was left at that date, the value of the next state entered, and so on." <sup>171</sup>

Event history analysis will allow me to evaluate the conditional probability that an event occurs for a given newspaper in a given year. <sup>172</sup> In this way, I will be able to point to the factors that impacted the likelihood that a newspaper would foray into online news. Like others who have employed this analytic approach, I will look at the year of online expansion or newspaper closure, as opposed to the exact date of change. As event history analysis offers an appropriate analytic approach for this study, I intend to learn the approach formally during the course of my dissertation work.

As Paul Allison explains,<sup>173</sup> event history analysis refers to a class of statistical methods that allow for the study of the occurrence and timing of events. Also known as

<sup>171</sup> Peterson, 1993: 426

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Potter, Sharyn J. and Timothy J. Dowd. 2003. "Executive Turnover and the Legal Environment: The Case of California Hospitals, 1960–1995." *Sociological Forum* 18:441.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> Allison, P. D. 2012. *Survival analysis using SAS: a practical guide. Second Edition.* SAS Institute.

survival analysis, the methods are designed to help understand when an event may occur. An "event" refers to either a transition from one discrete state to another. For example, a transition in the status of being single to being married is a qualitative change that occurs at a very specific moment in time. This transition is referred to as an "event" in event history analysis.

Survival analysis was designed for longitudinal data, and consequently examines the occurrence of an event occurring at a particular moment in time. So, if we are examining a population of single people to understand when they might get married, our dataset needs to record more than just who got married and who didn't. We will also need to know *when* the change occurred. In the case of newspapers moving online, I mark the event by the exact year the newspaper operated under a unique url or domain name. Since survival analysis is most often used with retrospective or historical data, it enables descriptive, rather than predictive analyses.

It is also worth noting that event history analysis involves "discrete time analysis." In other words, time is not measured on a continuum in the models I have generated in this dissertation. The unit of time used in this study is "year," but in reality, a newspaper may fail or move online in any one of 365 days in a year, and at any given hour or minute of the day. Because I use annual data, and do not have daily or weekly measure for all my variables, I employ discrete time analysis, which offers a good estimation of the event occurring. The COX regression models used in this study do not make the assumption of continuous time.

Allison discusses two types of Cox Regression models, namely partial likelihood and maximum likelihood models. This dissertation makes use of the latter model. Partial

likelihood estimates depend on "the rank" (129) of event times, not on their numerical value. (This may occur if we are interested in knowing if an event occurs earlier in time as compared with other events.) And further, with partial likelihood, estimates may be inaccurate if the number of events that occur is a substantial proportion of the number of events as yet to occur (or at "risk" of occurring). Maximum likelihood estimation is more appropriate for my study as it does not take

In order to implement the maximum likelihood method, the dataset must be organized in a particular way. First of all, each newspaper's history must be broken-up into a set of distinct observations, one for each year (which is the unit of time in this study). So, I have annual data for each daily newspaper in my dataset – each year containing information on the newspaper's circulation, advertising rates, etc. I only keep the newspaper in my dataset up until the moment the event occurs. So, once a newspaper goes online, successive years are removed from the dataset.

Secondly, for each organizational-year (each observation), the dependent variable will be coded as a "1" if the event occurs. This variable is also known as a "censoring variable" in that it enables the "logistic" procedure in SAS to determine the likelihood of a "0" or a "1" appearing in any given year. Explanatory variables take on whatever value occurs during that time unit (or may be lagged). And finally, all observations will be collected, and the "logistic" procedure will be used to estimate the maximum likelihood of the event occurring each year.

The model says that  $P_{it}$  is the conditional probability that an individual i has an event at time t (given that that even has not already occurred to that individual case). The unit of time is set and t=1,2,3,... as expressed in discrete units. The model used is as

follows:

$$\log \left[ \frac{P_{it}}{1 - P_{it}} \right] = \alpha_t + \beta_1 x_{it1} + \dots + \beta_k x_{itk}$$

### **Dependent Variable**

The dependent variable will be the waiting time to diversification for newspapers, measured by the year of online entry. The measurement is on the first day of the year on the year the newspaper had a unique url. The year the unique url representing that newspaper was first purchased (sometimes this was purchased by the newspaper itself, other times by the media owner). In the case of a few small dailies that share a media owner and are in close geographical proximity to one another, the url purchased contains content from multiple newspapers. In more technical terms, this year is the year of "domain registration." The year a newspaper company decided to go online will be measured by the year their online domain was registered. These data will be collected from www.alexa.com, a web information database, as well as from www.whois.com. The data are annual and will cover the period from January, 1990 through December, 2009.

### **Independent Variables**

The bulk of the data on organizational characteristics are available from *Editor & Publisher's International Yearbook*, which includes information on media ownership, newspaper circulation, newsstand price, affiliated news wire services, and the age of the newspaper (See Appendix I and II). Measures that capture environmental forces are also available from EPIY, such as target city size, and region. The date a newspaper ceased operations is given in *Editor & Publisher's International Yearbook*.

A table describing all independent and control variables follows below.

Table 2-0. Descriptive Statistics: Independent Variables

Variable	Minimum	Maximum	Mean
Census	1,687	8,191,949	220,052
Weekday Publication Cycle	5	6	5.79
Print Founding Year	1785	2002	1878
Online Year	1991	2009	1999
Total Density - Online	0	125	20
Total Density-sq - Online	0	15,625	1,437
Total Previous Foundings - Online	0	23	6
Total Previous Foundings-sq - Online	0	529	98
Total Previous Failures - Online	0	2	0
Total Previous Failures-sq - Online	0	4	0
Total Previous Failures - Print	0	9	1
Total Previous Failures-sq - Print	0	81	6
Large Density - Online	0	19	5
Large Density-sq - Online	0	361	66
Large Previous Foundings - Online	0	7	1
Large Previous Foundings-sq - Online	0	49	5
Large Previous Failures - Online	0	0	0
Large Previous Failures - Print	0	1	0
Large Previous Failures-sq - Print	0	1	0
Medium Density - Online	0	64	10
Medium Density-sq - Online	0	4,096	399
Medium Previous Foundings - Online	0	16	3
Medium Previous Foundings-sq - Online	0	256	32
Medium Previous Failures - Online	0	0	0
Medium Previous Failures - Print	0	3	0
Medium Previous Failures-sq - Print	0	9	1
Small Density	0	40	5
Small Density-sq	0	1,600	112
Small Density - Online	0	15	1
Small Density-sq - Online	0	225	10
Small Previous Foundings - Online	0	2	0
Small Previous Foundings-sq - Online	0	4	0
Small Previous Failures - Online	0	5	1
Small Previous Failures-sq - Online	0	25	2
Small Previous Failures - Print	0	1	0
Small Previous Failures-sq - Print	0	1	0
Age of Newspaper	0	212	116
Age-squared	0	44,944	15,121
Advertising Rate (per inch)	2.38	872.06	41.68
Circulation (in thousands)	1,195	1,857,131	53,078
National Aggregate Circulation (in thousands)	48,597	62,649	59,420
National Aggregate Ad Expenditure (in thousands)	3,834	8,083	4,456

National Aggregate Total Papers Printed (in thousands)	1,408	1,626	1,556
GDP	5	14	7
Internet Penetration (National)	0	75	10

Density variables that look at similarly-sized newspapers and large newspaper publishers will be a count of newspapers categorized by the relative size of their circulation numbers. The prestige of a newspaper will be determined by a count of the number of Pulitzer prizes earned by a particular newspaper in a given year. The age of a newspaper will be given by the original founding year as offered by *Editor & Publisher's International Yearbook*.

Environmental factors will include measures of state of the overall economy, by GDP, and by the specific newspaper economy, as measured by annual national circulation numbers (also provided by *EPIY*).

Please see Appendix 1 for a complete description of all independent and control variables.

I replicate Amburgey et al.'s use of control variables and use the population of the city of publication, a measure of the region in which the newspaper is commonly distributed, distinguishing between those who claim to have national reach.

Dummy variables were used in this study to assess the impact of geography and to test for period effects. Data were used from both NY and IL, and all NY-based papers were coded "0", while all IL-based papers were coded a "1", to test for the impact of being in Illinois.

Institutional logics will be treated as dummy variables, marking years of interest that are coded "1" during the period of interest, and a "0" during all other years. It is common to measure institutional logics via period effects, using binary dummy

variables.<sup>174</sup> For example, if a licensing agreement exists between an online portal (or search engine) and a wire service then it is coded a "1", and then coded as "0" if no licensing agreement exists that year. Media ownership is given by *Bacon's Directory*, as the name of the parent company, and the relative size can be assessed by the circulation under its jurisdiction. I tested for the impact of now-popular search engines that launched in 1998 using a "0" for all years prior to their launch, and a "1" for all years after. I used a similar coding scheme to test for the impact of the 1996 Telecommunications Act, and for the dot-com era economic bubble between 1998 and 2000, and for the impact of 9/11 in 2001.

# **Results and Discussion**

Table 1 in Appendix 2 presents descriptive statistics, including means, standard deviations, and intercorrelations for all independent and control variables. Many correlations are positive and significant, and multicollinearity between variables is a pressing problem. As such, I have removed a number of variables from analysis, so as to avoid the issue in my models. In testing for period effects, I created "Economic Period" variables, with Periods 7 and 8 being highly correlated with my dependent variables. Aggregate variables were eliminated from my analyses as they were correlated with all of the variables used to test for period effects. These variables included "aggregate circulation," meaning national circulation numbers annually; national aggregated advertising expenditure; and the total number of newspapers in operation in any given

Dobbin, Frank and Timothy J. Dowd. 2000. "The Market That Antitrust Built: Public

Policy, Private Coercion, and Railroad Acquisitions, 1825 to 1922." *American* 

Sociological Review 65:631-657.

year, nationally. Media ownership variables were excluded from analysis due to a few missing years.

Tables 2-1a and 2-1b present descriptive statistics by state. In the period under examination, from 1990-2008, NY state goes from having 70 daily newspapers down to 56. Illinois goes from having 70 daily newspapers down to 63. While these numbers suggest that NY lost many more newspapers than IL, it's actually the case that there were more consolidations – particularly in Westchester County. In 1998, Gannet consolidated 10 of its daily newspapers into one.

The tables below also show that New York state-based newspapers went online much faster than Illinois-based papers, hitting the 100% mark in 2003, instead of in 2009 in Illinois. While New York also lead the way by having a few of its newspapers purchase domain names in 1993, these papers already had more of a "national" audience, with the *Wall Street Journal* purchasing its own domain name in 1992, and the *New York Times* purchasing its domain name in 1993.

Table 2-1a.					Table 2-1b.				
	Diversification Trends among NY English Dailies			Diversification Trends among IL English Dailies					
Year	# print dailies	# online	% online		Year	# print dailies	# online	% online	
1990	70	0	0.00		1990	70	0	0.00	
1991	69	0	0.00		1991	69	0	0.00	
1992	69	1	1.45		1992	70	0	0.00	
1993	69	2	2.90		1993	69	0	0.00	
1994	68	3	4.41		1994	68	3	4.41	
1995	67	4	5.97		1995	68	16	23.53	
1996	66	15	22.73		1996	68	29	42.65	
1997	65	25	38.46		1997	68	32	47.06	
1998	65	35	53.85		1998	68	36	52.94	
1999	56	43	76.79		1999	68	48	70.59	
2000	56	49	87.50		2000	68	56	82.35	
2001	55	49	89.09		2001	68	58	85.29	
2002	55	54	98.18		2002	66	60	90.91	
2003	56	56	100.00		2003	66	60	90.91	
2004	56	56	100.00		2004	66	61	92.42	
2005	56	56	100.00		2005	67	63	94.03	
2006	54	54	100.00		2006	66	62	93.94	
2007	56	56	100.00		2007	66	64	96.97	
2008	56	56	100.00		2008	64	63	98.44	
2009	55	55	100.00		2009	63	63	100.00	

Tables 2-2a & b present descriptive statistics, emphasizing differences in diversification by organization size. While in New York, larger newspapers lead the way, the story is a little different in Illinois. A few medium- and small- newspapers began to experiment online fairly early. Together, the tables show us that between 1996 and 1998, we see a great increase in the number of newspapers purchasing urls for the first time.

I offer these tables to also emphasize how coding in my dataset worked. In New York, "large" newspapers had significantly higher circulation rates than "large" newspapers in Illinois (roughly in the 600,000 range in New York, and in the 200,000

range in Illinois.) Because most newspapers in the United States serve a very specific geographic locale, I felt it important to make this distinction by state. Indeed, what qualifies as a relatively "large" or "medium" newspaper in New York, does not qualify as a "large" or "medium"-sized newspaper in Illinois, and vice-versa.

Table 2-2a. Annual Trends and Circulation Rates by Organization Size among NY English Dailies									
	LARC	SE ORG'S		MED ORG'S			SMALL ORG'S		
	#	#	Avg.	#	#	Avg.	#	# # Avg	
Year	Print	Online	Circulation	Print	Online	Circulation	Print	Online	Circulation
1990	10	0	679,734	41	0	30,916	19	0	6,061
1991	10	0	678,236	40	0	29,939	19	0	6,124
1992	10	1	635,562	39	0	29,604	20	0	5,984
1993	10	2	647,736	41	0	30,535	19	0	5,802
1994	10	3	639,306	38	0	29,974	20	0	5,874
1995	10	4	621,312	38	0	29,712	19	0	5,806
1996	9	5	595,842	38	9	29,107	19	1	5,646
1997	8	6	648,852	37	15	31,416	20	4	6,124
1998	8	6	645,556	38	22	30,626	19	7	5,827
1999	9	7	583,261	34	27	30,398	13	9	5,455
2000	9	8	582,757	34	30	29,761	13	11	5,322
2001	9	8	584,652	33	29	28,920	13	12	5,258
2002	9	9	600,187	32	31	29,129	14	14	5,448
2003	9	9	606,293	32	32	29,087	15	15	5,455
2004	9	9	646,301	32	32	29,418	15	15	5,183
2005	10	10	583,468	31	31	26,671	15	26	5,155
2006	8	8	683,143	31	31	28,742	15	15	5,440
2007	9	9	612,725	31	31	28,148	16	16	5,288
2008	8	8	653,589	30	30	27,909	18	18	5,791
2009	8	8	634,158	28	28	29,773	19	19	5,868

Table 2-2b. Annual Trends by Organization Size and Circulation Rates among IL English Dailies									
	LARC	GE ORG'S	S	MED ORG'S			SMALL ORG'S		
	#	#	Avg.	#	#	Avg.	#	#	Avg.
Year	Print	Online	Circulation	Print	Online	Circulation	Print	Online	Circulation
1990	8	0	211,831	29	0	25,186	33	0	5,427
1991	9	0	193,124	28	0	24,496	32	0	5,394
1992	8	0	212,729	30	0	24,643	32	0	5,541
1993	9	0	195,167	28	0	24,073	32	0	5,311
1994	9	0	192,255	29	1	23,447	30	2	5,207
1995	9	6	189,216	29	7	23,015	30	3	5,147
1996	9	8	186,523	29	14	22,680	30	7	5,025
1997	8	7	203,181	29	16	23,295	31	9	5,181
1998	9	9	181,518	28	18	21,492	31	9	4,970
1999	8	8	201,086	29	20	21,827	31	20	4,893
2000	8	8	196,863	29	25	21,395	31	23	4,881
2001	8	8	197,842	28	25	21,531	32	25	4,885
2002	7	7	222,010	29	27	22,372	30	26	4,752
2003	7	7	222,358	29	27	22,522	30	26	4,763
2004	7	7	222,703	29	27	22,387	30	27	4,731
2005	7	7	210,578	30	29	22,292	30	27	4,710
2006	6	6	217,189	30	29	22,058	30	27	4,680
2007	7	7	191,359	29	29	22,043	30	28	4,878
2008	7	7	187,352	29	29	21,872	28	27	4,998
2009	5	5	217,054	30	30	23,262	28	28	4,934

Table 2-3 presents the estimated coefficients of the online diversification rate of large or high-circulation newspapers. The model tells us that among large organizations, there is no impact of circulation or age on the likelihood of going online. Most of the large newspapers went online (and experimented with the online platform) before smaller newspapers did. But within this subsample, there was no significant variation.

The ecological variables, however, tell a more interesting story. Both Model 1 and Model 2 in Table 2-3 shows that high-circulation newspapers, "large organizations" in this study, do, indeed, have the hypothesized curvilinear effect on the rate of entry into

the online news market. Not only is density linear and positive, as would be expected during a legitimation phase, but large organizations also exhibit a negative curvilinear effect, suggesting that they become subject to competitive forces over time. In these models, the negative coefficients for density-squared (-0.0397 and -0.0361) suggests that the rate of entry into online news by large newspapers does have an inverted-U shaped relationship with the annual density of similarly-sized newspapers that have gone online.

Interestingly, there were no other significant effects for large organizations. This suggests that it is likely that high-circulation newspapers are highly influenced by the activity of other high-circulation newspapers. The large organizations in this sample are not as affected by other environmental or organizational factors.

Table 2-3. Large Organizations: Entry into Online News Arena

		1	2
	Intercept	-4.1314	-4.5404
Organizational			
Variables	Circulation (ln)	0.0878	0.0977
	age	-0.00103	-0.0009
<b>Ecological Variables</b>	Density (large)	0.7911**	0.722**
	Density-sq (large)	-0.0397**	-0.0361*
	Large Previous Foundings - Online	-0.2634	-0.2404
	Total Previous Failures - Print	-0.0246	-0.0149
State	New York (dummy)	-0.1213	-0.1181
Shocks to System	Year 1995		0.4338
-2LogL		96.694	96.576

Table 2-4 presents the estimated coefficients of the online diversification rate of medium-sized (or medium-circulation) newspapers. Model 5 demonstrates that among medium-sized newspapers, those with higher circulation are more likely to go online. So,

medium-sized newspapers behave more like large newspapers, if they have the resources to do so.

Ultimately, the ecological variables show that the density of medium organizations moving online do not have any significant impact on likelihood of going online (Model 5). As we move from Model 2 to Model 5, we see that the density of medium-sized organizations is less significant when controlling for other factors, most notably, the online diversification of larger organizations in the previous year. In Model 2, we see that both density and density-sq are significant in the way we might expect. The more medium-sized organizations that go online, the more likely it is for a similarly-sized newspaper to diversify its operations by going online as well. And the quadratic term suggests that over time, medium-sized newspapers do exhibit the inverted-U shaped relationship as articulated by Haveman.

But in Model 3, we see that when controlling for the large organizations that went online in the previous year, the effects of the quadratic term in Model 2 are no longer significant. This means that the activity or larger organizations is quite strong, and it increases the likelihood that a medium-sized organization will go online.

Model 4 tells us that there was no significant impact by state, and that, in fact, the size of the organization (and its larger set of resources) played a greater role in the likelihood of a medium-sized organization going online. Model 5, however, introduces the period effect of 1995, wherein MSN launched its very popular Internet Explorer web browser. Browsers are especially important in that they provided the basic graphical user interface and platform from which audiences could access websites. Now that browsers could be used by the masses, unique websites like www.nytimes.com could be accessed

no matter what Internet Service Provider someone subscribed to. While the popularity of search engines was still a few years away, the very existence of the platform rendered the impact of the density of medium organizations not-significant.

Model 5 also demonstrates that the impact of large organizations moving online was among the most powerful influences on medium organizations' decisions to diversify. And, with "circulation" still significant, the model suggests that medium organizations are looking to the activity of large organizations when considering their innovation strategies.

Table 2-4. Medium Organizations: Entry into Online News Arena

	Variable	1	2	3	4	5
	Intercept	-2.2851	-8.4924**	-10.1797**	-11.0626**	-12.6041**
Organizational Variables	Circulation (ln)	-0.0196	0.4544	0.5267	0.6262**	0.6246**
v arrables	Age	0.00257	0.00452	0.00433	0.00478	0.00446
	Density (medium)		0.1283**	0.1143**	0.1186**	0.0458
E. d. d. d	Density-sq (medium) Large Previous		-0.00136**	-0.00079	-0.00087	-0.0001
Ecological Variables	Foundings - Online			0.3694**	0.3725**	0.1799**
	Total Previous Failures - Print			-0.0125	-0.013	-0.00401
	New York					
State	(dummy)	•	•	•	-0.3501	-0.3426
Browser Shock	Year - 1995					3.377**
-2LogL		404.626	325.981	298.217	297.038	283.025

Table 2-5 presents the estimated coefficients of the online diversification rate of small-sized (or low-circulation) newspapers. The overall story here seems to be that unlikely medium organizations, that are powerfully affected by the activity of large organizations, smaller organizations are more impacted by print failures in the industry as a whole.

When we look at Model 3, it is clear that for smaller newspapers, ecological variables did, indeed, play a role in impacting the likelihood of them moving operations online. The density of smaller newspapers that have gone online significantly impacts the likelihood of going online by others (0.2428). We also see an inverted-U shaped relationship (-0.00353) among smaller organizations. Even more interesting, however, is that both the previous year's diversification by large organizations and the total number of print failures in the previous year significantly impact the likelihood the smaller organizations will go online. Environmental factors play a significant role in impacting small organizations' decisions to diversify.

However, in Model 5, all ecological effects, except for previous failures become insignificant once period effects are controlled for. Browsers allows for newspapers to put their material online in a way that "freed" their content to anyone who could open a browser on a computer. Audiences did not require a specific relationship with a particular Internet provider in order to access a particular set of content. Instead, we see that diversification efforts on the part of smaller organizations had to do with failures across the industry; the more failures in the previous year, the more likely the small organization was to go online (.25).

The impact of previous failures on online movement for smaller organizations is not completely unexpected. As Boczkowski (2004) finds in his study of print newspapers, as time went on, newspapers were not so much "innovating" as they were lead by the mass tidal wave of online publishing. As time went on, they had little choice but to move operations online. And as smaller organizations became increasingly adopted by larger media conglomerates, content templates, ways of organizing digital content were already in place.

Table 2-5. Medium Organizations: Entry into Online News Arena

Small Newspape	Small Newspapers (<10,000)							
	Variable	1	2	3	4	5		
	Intercept	-1.1879	-7.6936**	-10.9912**	-10.7255**	-22.833		
Organizational Variables	Circulation (ln)	-0.2727	0.4111	0.6868	0.6314	0.7078		
	Age	0.01*	0.000587	-0.00007	0.000327	-5E-05		
Ecological Variables	Density (small)		0.322**	0.2428**	0.2403**	0.0873		
	Density- sq(small)		-0.00648**	-0.00353*	-0.00338**	-0.0005		
	Large Previous Foundings - Online			0.3054**	0.3051**	0.0907		
	Total Previous Failures - Print			0.2471**	0.2541**	0.25**		
State	New York (dummy)				0.3559	0.3434		
Browser Shock	year1995					13.3585		
-2LogL		295.74	231.178	212.244	211.493	200.937		

### Conclusion

The work done in this chapter adapted the density-dependence model of competition and legitimation and applied it to a novel set of outcomes – rates of entry into new markets – further validating the model offered by Heather Haveman in her study of California thrifts.

To summarize, the study shows support for H1, in that the inverted-U shaped relationship with annual density of similarly-sized newspapers that have gone online holds true for large and small organizations, but not for medium-sized organizations. The study also shows support for H2 for large- and medium-sized organizations, in that they have an inverted U-shaped relationship with the annual density of large (high circulation) newspapers that have gone online. There was no support for smaller newspapers. There were no significant effects for H3 or H4. There was support for H6, in that the rate of entry into the online news market had an inverted U-shaped relationship with the number of entrants in the previous year. To be sure, "large" organizations were used the models instead of the "total" population effects as the latter diluted the statistical impact of other variables. And finally, there was support for H9a, in that 1995 proved to have significant period effects. However, it is most likely that these period effects are due to the resolution of the browser wars, which concluded with "free" browser access for the masses.

This study shows that the legitimation of new markets for newspapers was made possible primarily by the movement of large organizations. And so there is evidence that the neoinstitutional arguments, which focus on the pull of imitation, played a role in newspapers moving online. Large organizations imitated other large organizations.

Medium-sized organizations followed just behind large newspapers' moves online. In fact, the activity of large organizations were more influential on the likelihood of medium-sized organizations going online.

Low-circulation newspapers, however, seem quite unlike medium- and largeorganizations in this sample. They are most powerfully affected by the "failures" in the industry as a whole. In other words, they are not so much imitating other organizations, as they are using the entire industry as a barometer. If the threat of organizational failure seems widespread across the industry, they may turn to examine the strategies of both their competitors and more successful organizations ("large" newspapers in this study).

### Chapter 3: The Viability of Newspapers in an Online Age

### Introduction

As web use and online news grew in popularity in the 1990s, the print daily newspaper industry was showing signs of economic decline. Boczkowski argues that "[t]his decline resulted from, among other things, the trends that had propelled the industry to pursue consumer-oriented nonprint alternatives in the 1980s."<sup>175</sup> For Boczkowski, these alternatives referred to the exploration of Videotex and other distribution technologies, the failures of which made newspapers somewhat reluctant to invest in online initiatives in the 1990s. But Boczkowski's point is important, in that it reminds us that newspapers had long been considering nonprint alternatives as a means by which to stave off failure from a decline in profits. In this chapter, I take a closer look at socioeconomic context of the 1990s, to better understand how the impact of a nonprint alternative (namely, "going online") may have impacted the viability of print operations. More specifically, I explore the impact that going online had for individual newspapers (such as possibly staving off failure), as well as the disruptions induced by other newspapers moving online. I also explore environmental variables such as the effects of timing of innovation, period effects, and organizational factors unique to individual newspapers.

Central to this section of my dissertation is a consideration of the viability of newspapers over the past 20 years, during the environmental context created by their moves online. Did diversification efforts involving online news further impact the decline of newspapers from 1990-2010? Was the move for newspapers to the online

 $<sup>^{175}</sup>$  Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2005. Digitizing the news: Innovation in online newspapers: The MIT Press.

platform more detrimental to newspapers than existing environmental factors? Or, did the move online temporarily rescue news organizations that were already on a downward trajectory? In this chapter, I will present a brief historical overview of the socioeconomic context of the newspaper industry that lead up to the 1990s, focusing specifically on 1) the concerns over profit declines that lead to technological innovation efforts on the part of publishers, 2) the industry's experiment with Videotex distribution systems in the 1980s, and 3) the media ownership arrangements that lead into the 1990s.

### Historical Overview: The Fall of the Business of Print

The business of selling news has a well-contested history, one complicated by news' status as both a public and private good, <sup>176</sup> but one that demonstrates that newspapers take financial risks and attempt innovation, much like any other profitmotivated industry. Even amidst some risky profit-generating initiatives, for much of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, news in America has been protected and sustained by both governmental policy and corporate strategy. In the meanwhile, online news has become an increasingly large enterprise that has been running on a tight, and occasionally non-existent profit margin. <sup>177</sup> With Americans increasingly replacing online news for print news, newspapers are experiencing a state of crisis, while online news agents have yet to figure out agreed-upon profit models.

The daily print newspaper business remains a lucrative, though steadily declining business. To be sure, newspaper profit margins are significantly lower than 50 years ago,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> McChesney, Robert and John Nichol. 2010. *The Death and Life of American Journalism: The Media Revolution That Will Begin the World Again*. Philadelphia: Nation Books.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> Auletta, Ken. 2009. *Googled: The End of the World As We Know It*. New York: Penguin Press.

and continue rapid decline. The steady decline of the industry, however, has now begun to precipitate a complete dissolution of a number of dailies. The increasing rate of these "failures," and the evidence that younger audiences rarely access print media for daily news, suggests that the trend is likely to continue.<sup>178</sup>

Computers, phones, and a host of other technologies are now combining functionality in communication and information-processing. And because newspaper content only occupies one small portion of all the activity that can go on online, the print form of news media is likely to become obsolete among younger demographics of consumers. While technologies were slowly beginning to transform the way in which news and information could be accessed, they were also changing the broader economic environment for newspapers. As Manuel Castells writes, "From the whirlwind of the dot com firms emerged a new economic landscape...This sociotechnical transformation...permeates throughout the entire economic system, and affects all processes of value creation, value exchange, and value distribution." <sup>179</sup> Indeed, the "sociotechnical transformation" Castells refers to what happened when newspapers – and many other industries - moved online. As we know, from the results in the previous chapter, this transformation took a few years, with high-circulation newspapers – often with more resources – taking the lead. During this transformation, however, a number of newspapers merged with others, or went out of business. These events, whether or not a direct consequence of technological innovation, also served to characterize the industry of the time.

<sup>178</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2005. *Digitizing the news: Innovation in online newspapers*: The MIT Press.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Castells, Manuel. 2003. *The Internet galaxy: Reflections on the Internet, business, and society:* Taylor & Francis.

The issue, now, for online newspapers, is one of sustainability and survival. Currently, their economic survival takes shape amidst an industry that is increasingly closing print operations. Because online news diversification and growth were enabled by resources and funds from print divisions, sustainability of online news amidst print failures will require new resource strategies.

### Saving Print Newspapers Through Technological Innovation

Boczkowski convincingly demonstrates that the historical context in which online newspapers emerged was preceded by a period of substantial yet unsuccessful technological innovation in the early 1980s. His studies on Videotex, as discussed in Chapter One, note that American dailies began to experiment with personal computers, television, facsimile, and even regular telephones as alternative distribution means as early as the 1980s. All of these efforts were intended to save the print operations of the newspapers.

As discussed in Chapter One, many high-circulation newspapers of the 1980s funneled a great deal of money into Videotex distribution. Videotex services allowed pages of text to be delivered and displayed on a television, and consumer would pay for a reception unit while the use of the system would be paid by advertisers who could transmit promotional messages. From a publishing perspective, investment in these efforts was intense in that it involved legislative efforts and the building of interorganizational partnerships. For instance, the American Newspaper Publishers

Association lobbied for a bill that would exclude AT&T from providing electronic

publishing information and interactive services. <sup>180</sup> Industry-wide groups such as the Videotex Industry Association emerged, and were active enough to have 125 members by 1982. Members included the Hearst Corporation, Knight-Ridder Newspapers, and the Times Mirror Company. <sup>181</sup> While the membership was small, relative to the number of newspapers in the US at the time, it did include some major players – profitable media owners and high-circulation newspapers – of the industry.

Like Internet-based news that would come after its failure, Viewtron (a Videotex product) introduced the idea of the "active user" to news, in that the system allowed audiences to ask for certain types of content, and then receive it. Later, industry members would discover that the true appeal of this service lay in its ability to allow audiences to interact with one another. "In retrospect,' Roger Fidler, a member of the Viewtron team, reflected:

the interviews and usage data clearly revealed that access to databases of general news, information, and advertising was less exciting to subscribers than the ability to easily communicate with other subscribers. But that was not what anyone was prepared to hear at this time. Nearly everyone involved in the trial saw Viewtron as an advertiser-supported electronic newspaper. Its potential role as an interpersonal communication medium was considered secondary. 182

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2005. *Digitizing the news: Innovation in online newspapers*: The MIT Press.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo and José A. Ferris. 2005. "Multiple Media, Convergent Processes, and Divergent Productions: Organizational Innovation in Digital Media Production at a European Firms." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 597:32-47.

Videotex services ended-up being a financial failure for newspapers. Unfortunately, industry members took consolation in the failure and felt reassured that print newspapers were not under threat of extinction. Instead, they may have used the knowledge gained from the process when they later moved operations online. There is little doubt that the 1980s marked a period of great exploration and attempts at innovation for American dailies. In many ways, they explored innovation along all possible lines: technical, editorial, and commercial. At the same time, Boczkowski argues, "newspapers tended to project features of the print paper in the electronic environment. That is, they usually replicated existing information artifacts and practices, rather than creating something different." In fact, both wire services and newspapers were sources of Viewtron stories.

So by the time the World Wide Web comes around, newspaper publishers were understandably hesitant about experimenting with new distribution forms. Previous risks and investments taken had made some publishers pause before considering new efforts. Unlike previous efforts at bringing efficiencies to newspaper distribution, the World Wide Web, as a platform, became wildly popular far beyond the news world. Videotex, on the other hand, attached the platform and news service to the form of content – the medium and the content were exclusively bound to one another. And so, it is likely not surprising

т

Boczkowski, Pablo. 1999. "Understanding the development of online newspapers." *New Media & Society* 1:101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> The *Atlanta Journal-Constitution* was particularly involved in Audiotex. The *AJC*'s general manager of voice information systems commented: "These services are not particularly profitable, but they serve the readers...It's a lot like color. You don't make a profit using color but it helps maintain readers."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2005. *Digitizing the news: Innovation in online newspapers*: The MIT Press.

that media firms did not put newspapers online until the late 1990s. As Boczkowski writes, "A handful of US newspapers had published on the web before 1995, but this was a small number compared to the 175 that had built sites by the end of that year." In its early days, the web may have seemed much like Videotex, and the lesson publishers extracted from that venture was that ultimately, readers prefer the print form of news.

Arguably, the two primary characteristics of newspapers in the 1990s that were lacking in the online newspaper form were "periodicity" and "standardization." One element, periodicity, which characterized print newspapers, was the fact that they all had clearly defined publication cycles. News was published and delivered at predictable moments in the day. Standardization, on the other hand, meant that even as daily news stories and content changed, recent issues of the same papers looked quite alike in terms of form and content categorization. These two elements were as yet unknowable online. The lack of these two elements may have made newspaper content unrecognizable online. Only time would tell us that news cycles would quickly diminish in rigidity, and that online platforms would eventually implement standards that would make content access familiar.

The failed Videotex experiment provides a historical backdrop to online diversification on the part of newspapers. Online diversification was not the first effort by newspapers to save their print operations. However, it was not an effort that took over the entire industry. It was an effort pursued by profitable, resource-rich, and high-circulation newspapers. It is possible that by the time the World Wide Web became

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> "Number of papers with online edition tripled," *Editor and Publisher*, February 24, 1996, p.39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo J. 2005. *Digitizing the news: Innovation in online newspapers*: The MIT Press.

popular, these key industry players that had previously experimented with new technologies were experiencing innovation fatigue and fear of even greater financial loss. And like online ventures, Videotex was understood through the lens of print in that publishers imagined that audiences and advertisers would navigate the "new" medium in much the same way they had navigated print. The difference between Videotex and the Internet, however, was that Videotex represented a very proactive venture on the part of newspapers. The Internet, however, was much more reactive, in that the medium and its use expanded before print newspapers could conceptualize their place online.

Boczkowski argues this perspective by describing newspaper response to the Internet as "reactive:"

The word 'reactive' underscores that actors followed technical and social trends rather than proactively preceding them. I use the word 'defensive' to emphasize that newspapers focused more on maintaining the territory occupied by the print franchise rather than on offensively trying to move into new areas. By 'pragmatic' I mean that they mostly sought the short-term well-being of what was identified as core business, rather more idealistically pursuing projects that seemed promising but could pay off only in the long term. <sup>188</sup>

In order to make sense of the more contemporary processes of print newspapers going out of business, it is important to note that there was already in existence, a deep imbalance across the industry in terms of experience with technological innovation. The Videotex example demonstrates that some publishers were interested in the commercial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Ibid.

viability of this distribution channel insofar as what it meant for their print divisions – still thought to be the "core" of their business. So long as online newspapers are not understood to be the "core" of newspaper industries, print failures will have significant consequences for the viability of online news as a whole. Again, it's more likely that publishers will have little choice but to better understand profit-generation in electronic publishing in the years to come.

To be sure, uncertainty or fear regarding financial matters did not shutdown investments in online operations for all newspapers. As Boczkowski reports, "at the end of 1999, the New York Times Company announced that it expected the losses of its web operations to grow between 100 percent and 200 percent in 2000 as a result of increased marketing and development expenses, and the president of the Washington Post Company told attendees at the last PaineWebber's media conference of the decade that, despite past losses, the company planned to spend \$100 million on online ventures because 'this isn't the time for neatness in Internet models'" Evidently, some newspapers – likely newspapers with a greater reserve of resources – were able to continue web-related initiatives. Similarly, some media owners were sure to stay ahead of the innovation game. Knight Ridder, for instance, one of the largest financial losers during the Videotex years became one of the most aggressive players in online services and the web. 190

So the history of Videotex simultaneously allowed publishers to believe that their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Boczkowski, Pablo and José A. Ferris. 2005. "Multiple Media, Convergent Processes, and Divergent Productions: Organizational Innovation in Digital Media Production at a European Firms." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 597:32-47.. p. 67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> Ibid. p.70

print operations would function without too much threat by new technologies, even as it had put some high-circulation newspapers on a continued trajectory of technological innovation. No matter their interpretation of the Videotex failure, publishers would eventually be commissioned with transforming a distribution vehicle that had remained unaltered for centuries. Even the symbolic transformation of such a shift would involve a great deal of imagination on the part of industry members.

## Saving Print Newspapers through Consolidation and Media Ownership

Newspapers, as a set of commercial products, are among the most highly protected cultural commercial entities. Through congressional hearings, legislation, and the outcome of a number of court cases (see below), the American government has consistently reinforced beliefs that a "free press" is essential to a democracy, if only to ensure an educated citizenry. And yet, most newspapers in the United States are primarily profit-generating businesses, and pursue editorial, growth and strategic initiatives grounded in traditional business motivations. The very fact of business ownership has inspired a great deal of scholarly debate over the ethics of ownership and over what kind of content actually qualifies as "news" (i.e. whether gossip, lifestyle, or celebrity news is as "fit to print" as the political news of the day). While this chapter does not attend to the latter issue of news content, I do examine movement by newspapers online, and the impact of diversification strategies on newspaper strength or weakness as a profit-generating entity able to sustain itself.

James T. Hamilton's discussion in "The Market and the Media" emphasizes that publishers and editors must, ultimately, be driven by concerns of supply and demand given that newspapers are profit-generating businesses. Ultimately, what matters is what

the "audience is willing to pay for the news, or what advertisers are willing to pay for the attention of readers, listeners, or viewers." <sup>191</sup> Hamilton also points to the necessity of examining a newspaper's competitors in order to fully understand why any given newspaper's content looks the way it does. The competitive dynamic is likely to be more pronounced in the world of televised news, but he argues that it is equally relevant to print and radio news. Looking at competition helps publishers better understand how many consumers share particular interests in a topic, given that all these organizations are vying for the same audience's attention.

When we take a look at the historical period wherein high-circulation newspapers are putting their content online, we are also looking at period wherein some newspapers are able to have their content reach non-local audiences. For example, once *The New* York Times put its content online, it could reach readers in Ithaca, NY, a smaller town, whose newspaper had not yet gone online. Of course, content by region may not always be comparable or in direct "competition" with one another. At the same time, the news environment in which the smaller print daily now runs its operations has changed substantially – whether or not it chooses to put its content online.

Added to this, of course, are the complexities of accurately assessing the costs of generating and transmitting a story, including issues of property rights that govern how news is produced, distributed and sold. While the government has extended postal and paper subsidies to newspapers in the name of supporting democratic discourse, advertising dollars go further with publishers.

<sup>191</sup> Hamilton, James T. 2005. "The market and the media." In G. Overholser and K. Hall Jamieson (Eds.), The Institutions of American Democracy: The Press (pp. 351-70). New

York: Oxford University Press.

A popular organizational strategy deployed in the twentieth century by media conglomerates, was that of "clustering." Clustering involves the process by which a company purchases properties in close proximity to one another, in this case existing newspapers. This strategy proved particularly effective early last century as it allowed companies to consolidate a number of increasingly expensive functions, such as printing, which served the resource limitations and cost concerns of smaller-circulation newspapers. But later in the twentieth century, these strategies were extended beyond the business side to the editorial as well, in the name of maximum efficiency. A choice example of this instance was with Newhouse and Gannett publishers, who own 73% of all circulation of New Jersey newspapers and consolidated editorial boards across the state. In New York State, Gannett operated all ten small local dailies of Westchester County as a cluster, keeping their individual nameplates and identities for much of the twentieth century. But in 1998, Gannett consolidated both operational and editorial functions, turning them all into Journal News, this new version of the paper ultimately developing a reputation as being a better paper than any of its predecessors.

But even newer than clustering is "synergy" which is understood to involve a "leveraging of different kinds of media holdings to enhance one another. <sup>193</sup> *The Tribune* has consistently employed this strategy over the past 20 years, using its newspapers as content factories for online sites, local television stations, and cable news outlets, all under common editorial jurisdiction. While efforts at synergy are more prominent at the editorial and publisher level, media owners – for the sake of ensuring profitability of their

<sup>192</sup> Overholser, Geneva and Kathleen Hall Jamieson. 2005. *The institutions of American democracy: The press*: Oxford University Press. p.4

<sup>193</sup> Ibid. p.5

-

various holdings – are more invested in profit-generating strategies like "diversification," that are certainly not unique to mass media industries.

So while it may be the case that many newspapers are "failing" or shutting-down operations due to insufficient revenue, the bigger picture is a lot more complex. The greater issue in this context will not be the protection of print so much as it will be the protection of journalists and editorial boards once affiliated with print production. Media ownership will subsume a number of smaller dailies, but with alternate media forms becoming increasingly popular, the protection of journalists in those environments will be ever-more imperative.

Much of the government's most influential legislation impacting newspapers has been in regards to media ownership. It is at the level of ownership and conglomeration that competition can be best assessed. While issues of antitrust and media conglomeration have been a concern to the American government for over a century, a look at the legislation passed during the onset of the digital age offers an insightful look at the evolution of debates that tried to negotiate the role the Internet would play in the daily lives of Americans. The Hutchins Report devoted considerable space to the issue of media regulation. It focused on concentration of media ownership, as well as the disparate treatment (and second-class status, from a First Amendment perspective) of the electronic media. Attempts by the Bush administration in 2003 to lift caps on media cross-ownership were met with a public and judicial backlash suggesting that concentration of media outlets in a few hands is still regarded as problematic, even with

<sup>194</sup> Ibid. p.4

the advent of new, more accessible forms of mass communication. And even though the Supreme Court affirmed that the Internet is entitled to the fullest First Amendment protection, ownership of online portals as part of conglomerates, still remains a contentious issue for legislative bodies.

# Organizations and Structural Inertia: Lessons from Finnish Newspapers

This chapter draws heavily upon previous research done by Amburgey et al.<sup>197</sup> that looked at organizational change and failure among Finnish newspapers. The authors' use of structural inertia theory is particularly valuable as a means by which to understand the recent decline of the newspaper industry in America.

Ecological theory posits that organizational change is limited by strong inertial pressures. The assumption of strong structural inertia implies that: 1) organizational change is infrequent, particularly when compared with environmental change, and 2) when change does occur, an organization's survival chances may be in jeopardy. When an organization diversifies, operating resources get diverted and consequently reduce the efficiency of existing operations. An organization may have to disrupt, sever, or establish new ties with its environment (e.g., its well-established suppliers, distributors, and clientele), consequently affecting linkages to the organizational

<sup>196</sup> Reno v. American Civil Liberties Union, 521 US 844 (1997), Miami Herald Pub. Co. v Tornillo, 418 US 241 (1974)

Hannan, Michael T and John Freeman. 1984. "Structural inertia and organizational change." *American Sociological Review*:149-164.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> Prometheus Radio Project v. Federal Communications Commission, 373 F.3d 372 3<sup>rd</sup> Circ. 2004

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Amburgey, Terry L., Dawn Kelly, and William P. Barnett. 1993. "Resetting The Clock: The Dynamics of Organizational Change and Failure." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 38:51-73.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> Haveman, Heather A. 1993. "Follow the Leader: Mimetic Isomorphism and Entry into New Markets." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 38:593-627.

environment as well as shifts in key actors or core organizational activities. It may even be the case that changes in these relationships threaten the reputation of an organization.<sup>200</sup> Hannan and Freeman's structural inertia theory<sup>201</sup> offers a model that looks to environmental factors in order to understand two primary issues, namely 1) the probability that an organization will change, and 2) the chances of survival given organizational change. Amburgey et al. employ this model to consider the latter with respect to organizational mortality in the Finnish newspaper industry.

Amburgey et al. look at a population of 1,011 Finnish newspapers over 193 years to better understand the impact of organizational change on survival. Organizational change may be hazardous in that it disrupts internal routines (e.g. switching from political to non-political content may change news gathering routines) and external linkages (e.g. increasing the frequency of publication may involve a change in target market segments, or a change in relationships with news wires). Change may be so disruptive that it contributes to mortality for an organization. More specifically, the study of Finnish newspapers looks at 1) changes in newspaper content, such as a switch from national to local content; and 2) changes in the frequency of publication, such as moving from being a weekly paper to a daily paper.

Amburgey et al. used event history analysis to understand the time periods between organizational changes, periods they referred to as "spells." The first spell for each newspaper began with the organization's founding and ended with the first organizational change, such as a change in some product characteristic (e.g., political

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> Hannan, Michael T and John Freeman. 1984. "Structural inertia and organizational change." *American Sociological Review*:149-164.
<sup>201</sup> Ibid.

versus non-political or "general" content), a merger, or a failure. If the news organization survived the first spell, then successive spells were measured from the day after the previous spell until the next organizational change. This allowed them to assess directly how particular changes pursued by newspapers, in turn, related to their subsequent likelihood and timing of failure.

In addition to assessing the impact of change-induced spells, the researchers also incorporated a number of control variables that could have likewise impinged on the failure of newspapers. For instance, they included the city population addressed by each newspaper, the logic being that highly-populated cities are likely to be serviced by more newspapers, allowing for the use of multiple density measures that could capture the effects of a crowded local market. They also considered such environmental shocks as the impact of war and political regime changes. They argued that both could matter for newspaper viability because a number of newspapers shifted from having political and party-affiliated content to more general, politically-unbiased content. Finally, they also considered the impact of organizational age. In short, they expected that the negative effects of change grow more pronounced as newspapers aged.

Amburgey and colleagues find that the main effect of organizational age overwhelms other environmental and organizational factors. That is, newspapers are less likely to make changes as they age, and further, that the effects of change are increasingly harmful as a newspaper ages. Additionally, the timing of one of the two changes (i.e., the point in time a newspaper decides to make changes in their content or alter the frequency of publication) also impacts mortality rates. And as far as the frequency of change is concerned, Amburgey et al. find that while the occurrence of change makes a

newspaper organization temporarily more malleable, a long-run pattern of change increases the rigidity of an organization. In other words, if a newspaper is able to overcome inertial forces and change successfully, the likelihood of future change is dampened by both age and elapsed time since the previous change. So the key factors influencing mortality in the case of Finnish newspapers included the age of the organization, the timing of the change, and the time elapsed since the previous change. These findings reinforce the argument made by defenders of structural inertia theory.

Amburgey et al.'s study examined newspapers from 1771-1963 and could thus not consider the impact of as yet undeveloped computer technologies, but it does provide a valuable model by which to consider diversification and inertia in the newspaper industry. The study of Finnish newspapers suggests two related hypotheses of particular relevance to this study. The first is about how a substantial change (going online) will increase the likelihood of failure. The second is about age, which will be addressed in the next set of hypotheses. So in the recent case of American newspapers, diversification efforts into the realm of online news may have been an organizational change significant enough to disrupt structural inertia and induce failure. With the institution of new technologies, relationship-building with tech and design companies, and strategic planning efforts for the new medium, newspapers diverted resources in order to create organizational change that may have had negative effects beyond market competition or other possible threats to durability. Like Amburgey et al., I hypothesize:

H1: Diversification (i.e. going online) increases the failure rate of newspaper organizations.

Hannan and Freeman<sup>202</sup> remind us that while organizational change may impact failure rates, the effects may vary based on the age of the organization. In older organizations, formal structures and routines are more thoroughly established and may have existed long enough for adaptation to environmental shifts to be more of a challenge. As such, the age of newspapers could likewise figure in their chance of failure – with both new and old newspapers facing higher mortality. By looking at the age of an organization, Amburgey et al. are able to understand the net effects of change over time, as opposed to merely an independent effect that may have occurred during the time period being measured. In so doing, Amburgey et al. demonstrate that the risk of organizational failure is dependent upon age and the number of previous organizational changes.

Organizations that are able to recover from temporary set-backs and employ strategies that enable them to institute new efficiencies and internal strategies, overcome some of the disruption the initial change instilled. Hannan and Freeman propose the notion of "the liability-of-newness" in that when organizations change, they come to resemble young organizations in their need to invest in new resources and routines. Amburgey et al. consider the liability-of-newness with Finnish newspapers by looking at the effects of an organization's age on mortality rates. The "liability of newness" may not be as strong in cases where the organizational change is somewhat related to existing competencies. The more dissimilar the new interactions and relationships are compared with existing routines, the more likely the change is to disrupt an organization's life. Change may initially disrupt routines and sever relationships, consequently setting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> Hannan, Michael T and John Freeman. 1984. "Structural inertia and organizational change." *American Sociological Review*:149-164.

conditions that make existing organizations much like young organizations, only with the cumulated impact of past disruptions.

H2a: The disruptive effect of going online increases with the age of the newspaper, thus increasing their failure rate.

H2b: The disruptive effect of going online decreases with younger newspapers, thus decreasing their failure rate.

H2c: The disruptive effect of going online is higher for older newspapers than for younger newspapers that go online.

Conversely, it may be the case that older newspaper organizations are better able to absorb any negative effects a disruptive change, such as moving online, may incur. If the changed organization can survive long enough to rebuild itself internally, it can overcome this liability-of newness clock and resume a stable existence. Older organizations tend to have established numerous routines and internal efficiencies that have enabled enough stability to allow them to remain viable over time. For newspapers, these may involve relationships with wire services, the up-keep of international offices, or the partnering of resources with other newspapers, among other things. These organizational features may be inertial features in that they ensure stability and consistence. The effort and time required to restructure any of these features may temporarily challenge any existing operational efficiencies in more complicated ways than in smaller organizations. Hannan and Freeman<sup>204</sup> argue that "core" changes, as in the case of technology changes that require skills-development on the part of employees,

change." Ibid.:149-164.

-

Freeman, John, Glenn R. Carroll, and Michael T. Hannan. 1983. "The Liability of Newness: Age Dependence in Organizational Death Rates." Ibid.48:692-710.
 Hannan, Michael T and John Freeman. 1984. "Structural inertia and organizational

may impact operations of large organizations, though likely not as strongly as changes in an organization's goals or forms of authority. The age of a newspaper may also dampen its response to both opportunities and threats offered by the organizational environment. Given that a newspaper's core includes factors other than operations technologies (such as the maintenance of journalistic standards, the pursuit of revenue from advertisers and subscribers, marketing strategies, etc.), a change in one of these core elements may not impact operations significantly. Consequently, temporary set-backs that may have been incurred based on technological and training investments may not impact a larger organization that has legitimacy among publics and competitors. The size of an organization may also dampen its mortality rate.

H3a: The disruptive effect of going online decreases with the age of the newspaper, thus decreasing their failure rate.

H3b: The disruptive effect of going online increases with younger newspapers, thus increasing their failure rate.

H3c: The disruptive effect of online diversification decreases with the age of the newspaper, consequently making the failure rate of older newspapers lower than younger newspaper organizations.

The study of Finnish newspapers made use of a number of control variables that may be of significant interest in the case of American papers. Scholars have found that newspaper consumption can vary by a number of factors such as variation in the socioeconomic status affiliations of audiences, <sup>205</sup> among age and racial lines, <sup>206</sup> as well as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Chan, Tak Wing and John H Goldthorpe. 2007. "Social Status and Newspaper Readership1." *American Journal of Sociology* 112:1095-1134.

by geographic differences.<sup>207</sup> Bogart argues that urban patterns of mass public transportation and newsstands can influence the local culture of news readership. A consideration of population may be relevant in the United States given regional differences in culture and the historical relevance of newspaper growth that occurred alongside urban growth.

H4: The disruptive effect of going online is less for newspapers in more highlypopulated cities than for newspapers in less-populated areas.

Heather Haveman reminds us that even though change can be a challenge for organizations, some do benefit. And so we must ask, when is change worth the risk, and for whom? Even though the overall population of newspapers is in decline, did some newspapers benefit from diversification efforts into the online arena? One instance in which change may be worth the risk is if an entire population of organization types is at risk of extinction. It may be the case that organizations in a population sense the possibility of being rendered completely obsolete and consequently consider diversification a risk worth taking. In the case of newspapers, the industry had been in decline for at least twenty years prior to the Internet revolution. Previous organizational strategies and orientations were already being rendered obsolete, from the competitiveness of multipaper cities to change in news cycles, subscription and advertising strategies. And so an empirical question worth addressing is: in the case of newspapers, did the diversification effort delay mortality in any way? Some might argue that the ideology of the 1990s Internet boom was designed to sustain investment into all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> George, Lisa and Joel Waldfogel. 2003. "Who Affects Whom in Daily Newspaper Markets?" *Journal of Political Economy* 111:765-784.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Peiser, Wolfram. 2000. "Cohort replacement and the downward trend in newspaper readership." *Newspaper Research Journal* 21:11.

things online. 208 The hyper celebration of innovation that marked the economic bubble of the 1990s placed a high value on change for organizations, particularly in the area of the adoption of web technologies. It may be the case that early adopters of change prolonged their lifespan as they were able to respond to the shifting environment. As such, I ask whether or not early diversification efforts were more detrimental, and for whom.

H5: Newspaper organizations that diversified earlier than others had a lower mortality rate than those who diversified later.

Like Carroll and Hannan (1989) in their study of newspapers, I include the previous year's failures (print) and foundings (online) as control variables. They explain that the number of foundings and the number of closures in the immediately preceding year function as controls for immediate variations in environmental conditions.

As Delacroix, Swaminathan, and Solt (1989) further explain in their study on the California wine industry, business failures within some industries can occur in epidemiclike waves. Organizational failures in the previous year may point to such a wave of mortality. Controlling for previous year's failures may attend to some environmental factors directly unaccounted for.

H6: Newspapers will be more likely to fail after periods in which many other newspapers failed.

Dobbin and Dowd, <sup>209</sup> in their study of railroads, also control for the number of firms founded in the previous year, and add to that a control for the number of firms in

House Digital, Inc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Leckey, Andrew. 2003. The Best Business Stories of the Year: 2002 Edition: Random

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> Dobbin, Frank and Timothy J. Dowd. 2000. "The Market That Antitrust Built: Public Policy, Private Coercion, and Railroad Acquisitions, 1825 to 1922." American Sociological Review 65:631-657.

the industry. They note that "foundings in one year may stimulate foundings in the next by signaling to prospective entrepreneurs that the time is right: capital markets, customer demand, interest rates, tax code provisions, and other conditions favor market entry." (1997, p.512) They also note, however, that a very high number of foundings in the previous year may exhaust available resources, thus making it difficult to amass resources in the following year. And so, they control for the number of firms in the industry in the current year.

H7: Newspapers will be more likely to fail after periods in which many online newspapers are founded.

H8: Newspapers will be less likely to fail when there are many firms in the industry.

### Methods

This section of my dissertation will examine the decline of daily newspapers in America, understood to involve the closing and merger of several newspaper organizations. As discussed in the previous section, I will model my analyses after Amburgey et al.'s (1993) study of Finnish newspapers. I will use event history analyses to better understand newspaper mortality, again using longitudinal data. This approach mandates the use of longitudinal data while allowing for analyses that take into account the possibility that the dependent variable itself evolves over time (Petersen, 1993: 426).

The methodological approach used in this chapter replicates that of Chapter 2. As discussed in the previous chapter, in order to implement the maximum likelihood method, the dataset must be organized in a particular way. To be sure, newspapers are kept in the dataset until the moment they fail or merge. After that, they cease to exist in the dataset

in any capacity (even if their online editions come to replace their print entities). And so in this chapter, newspapers will be coded as a "1" the year of their failure, and will cease to exist in the dataset thereafter.

Event history analysis will allow me to evaluate the conditional probability that an event occurs for a given newspaper in a given year. In this way, I will be able to point to the factors that impacted the likelihood that a newspaper would merge or close operations. Like others who have employed this analytic approach, I will look at the year of failure, as opposed to the exact date of change.

Once again, each newspaper's survival history is broken down into a set of discrete time units that are treated as distinct observations. After collecting all these observations into one dataset, I use the "logistic" procedure in SAS to estimate a binary regression model predicting whether an event did or did not occur in each time unit. More specifically, I estimate whether or not a newspaper merged or failed. The maximum likelihood method gives estimates for the effect of time on the likelihood of failure.<sup>211</sup>

## **Data Sources**

The data set will amount to a pooling of annual information from the complete population of newspapers from New York and Illinois from 1990 to 2010. The bulk of the data on organizational characteristics are available from *Editor & Publisher's International Yearbook*, which includes information on media ownership, newspaper

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> Potter, Sharyn J. and Timothy J. Dowd. 2003. "Executive Turnover and the Legal Environment: The Case of California Hospitals, 1960 to 1995." *Sociological Forum* 18: 441.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> Allison, Paul D. 1982. "Discrete-time methods for the analysis of event histories." *Sociological methodology* 13:61-98.

circulation, newsstand price, affiliated news wire services, and the age of the newspaper (See Appendix I and II). Measures that capture environmental forces are also available from EPIY, such as target city size, and region. The date a newspaper ceased operations is given in *Editor & Publisher's International Yearbook*. The year a newspaper company decided to go online will be measured by the year their online domain was registered. These data will be collected from www.alexa.com and www.whois.com, web information databases, as well as from *Editor & Publisher's International Yearbook*. The data are annual and will cover the period from January, 1990 through December, 2009.

Environmental factors will include measures of state of the overall economy, by GDP, and by the specific newspaper economy, as measured by aggregate annual national circulation numbers (also provided by *EPIY*). Variables such as "Internet penetration" and GDP were taken from World Bank data sources.

# **Dependent Variable**

This study investigates decline of the newspaper industry, understood to involve the closing and mergers of several newspaper organizations. The dependent variable in this study is "the time to mortality," which will be determined by the year a given newspaper ceased print operations or the year a given newspaper merged with another.

#### **Independent Variables**

As in the previous section, density variables that look at similarly-sized organizations will be assessed by the circulation numbers of newspapers. The age of a newspaper will be categorized relatively, with "young" and "old" newspapers assessed by the date of their original founding (as reported in EPIY).

Again, institutional logics will be treated as dummy variables, marking

transitional years that are coded "1" if a licensing agreement exists between an online portal (or search engine) and a wire service, and "0" if no licensing agreement exists that year.

Descriptions of all other variables used in this study can be found in Appendix 1.

Control variables for this study are similar to those used by Amburgey et al., in their analysis of Finnish newspapers and include the population of the city of publication, and a measure of the region in which the newspaper is commonly distributed, distinguishing between those who claim to have national reach.

Please see Appendix 2, Table 2-1 for a detailed description of all control and independent variables used in this study.

Dummy variables were used in this study to assess the impact of geography and to test for period effects. Data were used from both NY and IL, and all NY-based papers were coded "0", while all IL-based papers were coded a "1", to test for the impact of being in Illinois.

Numerous period effects were tested, including all those discussed in Chapter 2. I tested for the impact of now-popular search engines that launched in 1998 using a "0" for all years prior to their launch, and a "1" for all years after. I used a similar coding scheme to test for the impact of the 1996 Telecommunications Act, and for the dot-com era economic bubble between 1998 and 2000, and for the impact of 9/11 in 2001.

#### **Results and Discussion**

Table 1 in Appendix 2 presents descriptive statistics, including means, standard deviations, and intercorrelations for all independent and control variables. Many intercorrelations are positive and significant, and multicollinearity between variables is a

significant problem. As such, I have removed a number of variables from analysis, so as to avoid the issue in my models.

Tables 3-1a and 3-1b below offer a list of all "failures" (also understood to include mergers, or newspapers that switched from being dailies to weeklies). It is immediately clear that majority of activity occurred in New York State. Notably, in 3-1b, I offer a list of the Gannett-owned newspapers that merged in 1998 to service all of Westchester county, consequently ceasing operations as independent editorial units. They all merged to become *The Journal News*.

Table 3-1a. Print Newspapers that "Failed" (and Closed Completely)

Tuble 3 Tu. 1 Thit The wspapers that Tuble	i (and Cr	osea complete	J1 y <i>)</i>	
		Print		
		Founding	Went	Failure
	State	Year	online	Year
Daily Editor	NY	1990	•	1996
New York City Tribune	NY	1841	•	1990
New York Newsday	NY	1983	•	1995
People's Daily World	NY	1968		1990
Hudson Valley News	NY	1885		1992
Tri-State Gazette	NY	1850		1994
Schenectady Gazette*	NY	1894	1996	1990
Journal of Commerce and Commercial	NY	1827	1998	2001
South West News**	IL	1935	1995	1990
Daily Journal*	IL	1933	1996	1992

<sup>\*</sup>The newspaper stopped reporting to *Editor & Publ* isher in 1990, and was treated as a "failure" in analysis. Future steps will involve removing this from the dataset.

Table 3-1b. Print Newspapers that "Merged" Editorial and Publishing Divisions (and No Longer Operated as an Independent Unit)

	_	Print		
		Founding	Went	Failure
	State	Year	online	Year
Putnam Reporter Dispatch	NY	1990		1998
Mamaroneck Daily Times	NY	1925		1998
Mount Vernon Daily Argus	NY	1892		1998

<sup>\*\*</sup>Went from being daily newspapers, to weekly newspapers.

New Rochelle Standard-Star	NY	1923		1998
Rockland Journal-News	NY	1932		1998
Ossining Citizen Register	NY	1932		1998
Peekskill Star	NY	1922		1998
Port Chester Daily Item	NY	1899		1998
Yonkers Herald Statesman	NY	1932	•	1998

Table 3-2 below offers annual descripives on relevant ecological variables, including the number of "failures" by year. From left to right, the columns begin with the year of concern, then the total density of newspapers online, the density of large newspapers online (large organizations to have greater influence on other organizations, as demonstrated in Chapter 2), the total number of print newspaper failures in the previous year, and the total number of online foundings in the previous year. These numbers are for New York and Illinois together. A more complete list of all ecological variables tested in this study are in Appendix table A4.

Table 3-2. Descriptives of Ecological Variables by Year

			Total	Total
			Previous	Previous
	Density -	Density -	Failures -	Foundings -
Year	Total	Large	Print	Online
1990	0	0	0	0
1991	0	0	4	0
1992	1	1	0	1
1993	2	2	2	1
1994	2	2	0	0
1995	4	3	1	2
1996	20	10	1	16
1997	43	12	1	23
1998	56	14	0	13
1999	69	15	9	14
2000	92	16	0	23
2001	105	17	0	14
2002	108	17	1	3
2003	115	18	0	7
2004	117	18	0	2

2005	118	18	0	1
2006	120	18	0	2
2007	120	18	0	0
2008	125	19	0	5
2009	123	19	0	0

Table 3-3 presents the estimated coefficients for various models of the failure rate of all newspapers in my sample. Model 2 represents my baseline model; it includes organizational characteristic variables (age and size, the latter is a categorical variables, coded "1", "2", or "3", for low-, medium-, and high-circulation newspapers) and control variables (city population of the city that newspaper serves - based on annual census estimates - and a dummy variable for New York state to account for the possibility that New York, as a media hub in the US, might be a little different from other states). Baseline models demonstrate that the older the organization, the less likely it is to fail over time (-0.0215). Older newspapers are significantly less likely to fail over time, regardless of any other activity, organizational characteristic, or environmental factor.

Unlike in the previous chapter, wherein the size of the organization did have an impact on diversification, here, the actual "size" of the newspaper does not directly impact the likelihood of failure over time (-0.5487). There does, however, seem to be a significant effect when it comes to geography. New York-based newspapers are significantly more likely to fail or merge over time than Illinois-based newspapers. This makes sense given the great number of mergers that happened in New York – particularly in Westchester county – during the time period observed.

Models 3, 4 and 5 incorporate "environmental" variables taken from ecological theory. Ultimately, they explain the influences of the broader organizational environment in which an individual newspaper conducts its business. In Model 3, I add density

variables and use the density of "large," or high-circulation newspapers going online.

Results from Model 3 suggest that the number of large newspapers online did not significantly impact failure rates among other newspapers. As discussed in Chapter 2, high-circulation ("large") newspapers lead the way in diversification efforts and impacted environmental conditions for other organizations — especially when it came to diversification. Their diversification efforts, however, did not promote failure for others.

In Models 4 and 5, I add-in the total number of print newspaper failures in the previous year and the total number of online newspaper foundings in the previous year. These results demonstrate that the more newspapers that failed in the previous year, the less likely an individual newspaper was to fail (-2.0273). In other words, newspaper failures in the previous year certainly do impact failure rates for newspapers in the current year. They decrease the likelihood of failure. This might be because other newspapers get to "pick-up" the audiences left behind. Also, because "mergers" were also treated as "failures" in my study, it is possible that the merging of papers at risk of failure actually strengthens the overall population of existing papers. While a number of factors are contributing to the overall decline of the newspaper industry, it would seem that the stronger ones are surviving, and that the survivors are "strengthened" (i.e. less likely to fail) as a consequence of previous failures in the organizational environment. Neither the density of large organizations, meaning the number of large organizations that have gone online, nor the number of newspapers that went online in the previous year, directly impact the likelihood of failure. Previous online foundings in the organizational environment at-large, had no impact on failure rates, suggesting that online diversification neither strengthened nor weakened a newspaper's viability.

It would seem that the previous year's print failures are capturing the tumult of the industry. Independent of going online, newspapers are going out of business as more of their peers do so. There may be a number of reasons for this, but as I do not directly measure the impact of Videotex, it is possible that these numbers are tapping into the troubled times of that era.

Models 6-8 serve to test the hypotheses discussed above by including elapsed time clocks for each of the changes. Model 6 demonstrates that if a newspaper moves operations online, the mere fact of this change decreases its likelihood of failure over time by a factor of -2.398. This means that independent of all other factors, it was probably a good idea for a newspaper to put its content online. Diversification did, indeed, stave off failure for all newspapers in the sample.

Model 7 shows that the likelihood of failure is lower for older newspapers that go online (-0.0148). Combined with what the baseline models tells us, older organizations – already less likely to fail than others – are even less to fail once moving operations online.

In Model 8, the change-clock variable does not have a significant coefficient (-0.1526). What this means is that for most newspapers, there was no impact if they went online earlier or later – their likelihood of failure would remain the same. This finding affirms what a great deal of history tells us about how newspapers decided to move online in the early years. Publishers were still uncertain as to what their content should look like. They didn't know what to offer audiences online, so the first few years of online publishing were highly experimental. It was primarily the larger newspapers that engaged in this experiment, but until some kind of recognizable form had been

established online, it would make little sense for smaller newspaper to move operations online. And so, there were no significant advantages in being and early adopter of the new technologies, or even being among the first newspapers online.

The "clock" variables used in these models help tell a more detailed story of what was going on with newspapers at the time. They tell us that it was probably a good idea for all newspapers to go online. And given discussion in Chapter 1, it is likely that they did not have a great deal of choice anyway. The Internet, as a medium, was taking over the daily lives and routines of many Americans, and so newspapers would increasingly have less and less of a choice of whether or not to move online if they still wanted to stay in business.

The clock variables also tell us that moving online did not impact their time to failure. This may be explained, on the one hand, by cross-media ownership trends of the time. A newspaper holding that fails to generate sufficient revenue may survive off the profits or resources of other holdings of a media owner. On the other hand, it may be explained by the fact that with the use of "shovelware," the new online product was not that different from the print product. Once a daily newspaper had set-up its technological infrastructure and put resources towards its establishment, there would be few additional expenses to the daily running of the online version of the print paper.

To be sure, I include the density of "large" organizations in my models intentionally. I tested similar models with "total density" instead (referring, then, to the total number of daily newspapers online at the time). When total density was in the model instead of large density, the effects of all "clock" hypotheses were washed out. This is likely because the population being studied had many more small- and medium-

sized organizations than large organizations. And so, I remove "total density" as a variable in the model and include "large density" instead as it allows the impact of the timing of change to emerge. In many ways, this makes sense given what we know of the industry. In most cases, high-circulation newspapers were among the first to put their content online. As discussed earlier on this chapter, larger organizations were already well-positioned to innovate, given their experiments with Videotex technologies. And further, it was more likely that their content would be accessed by audiences in smaller towns and cities. Generally-speaking, larger newspapers publish a great deal of content that doesn't necessarily relate only to their local audiences. Smaller newspapers, on the other hand, are more likely to keep their content coverage on local and community events that are of little interest to those beyond city and township limits. So while the density of large organizations moving online had no direct effects on organizational failure, they are a key environmental influence.

Table 3-3. Impact of Large Organizations Going Online (Large Density) on Failure of all Newspapers (all sizes)

Parameter	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
Intercept	-1.8405	-2.6499**	-2.7118**	-1.9146*	-1.947*	-2.6656**	-2.7408**	-2.2803*
Age	-0.023**	-0.0215**	-0.0221**	-0.0235**	-0.0227**	-0.0201**	-0.0169**	-0.0217**
Size	-0.2507	-0.5487	-0.5451	-0.5189	-0.5698	-0.328	-0.4673	-0.4354
City Population		1.243E-08	-1.93E-09	-4.32E-08	1.08E-08	-1.45E-07	-6.33E-08	-5.72E-08
State (NY-Dummy)		1.7493**	1.7685**	1.8185**	1.814**	1.8403**	1.9105**	1.8089**
Density - Large			0.00999	-0.0149	-0.0482	0.0775	0.0303	0.0107
Total Previous Failures -								
Print	•	•	•	-1.636*	-2.0273**	-2.2128**	-2.1698**	-1.9825**
Total Previous Foundings -					0 0 C <b>0</b> Out	0.004	0.040.5	0.0004
Online	•	•	•	•	0.0628*	0.024	0.0425	0.0284
H1ChangeOrNot				•		-2.3983**		
H2&3 EffectsWithAge							-0.0148*	
H5TimeSinceChange	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	-0.1526
-2 Log L	248.305	227.661	227.558	213.029	209.249	197.668	203.719	207.466

<sup>\*\*&</sup>lt;.01 Chi-Square

<sup>\*&</sup>lt;.05

Table 3-4 presents the estimated coefficients for various models of the failure rate of all "small," or low-circulation newspapers in my sample. The baseline Model 2 includes organizational characteristic variables (age and size, the latter is a categorical variables, coded "1", "2", or "3", for low-, medium-, and high-circulation newspapers) and control variables (city population of the city that newspaper serves - based on annual census estimates - and a dummy variable for New York state). Baseline models demonstrate that the older the organization, the less likely it is to fail over time (-0.0462). Also, among small newspapers, circulation matters. So, the higher the circulation, the more likely the newspaper is to fail over time (2.9666). This is likely because very low-circulation newspapers are often owned by larger media companies who can absorb any profit losses or resource concerns in ways that small, independent newspapers may not be able to. Also, there is no significant, independent effect of state on failure rate (1.776), suggesting that small newspapers in New York are no different than those in Illinois when it comes to their likelihood of failure over time.

Models 3, 4, and 5 incorporate "environmental" variables taken from ecological theory. In Model 5, once I have controlled for the previous year's online foundings (0.1141), the impact of previous year's print failures becomes significant (-3.1065). The more failures in the previous year, the less likely a small newspaper is to fail. Perhaps this suggests a "wave" of print failures during this time period.

Model 6 provides support for H1, and demonstrates that independent of all other factors, if a low-circulation newspaper went online, they were less likely to fail over time (-3.2022). Moving online did, indeed, stave off failure rates for smaller papers. Model 7 shows that the older the daily that went online, the less likely they were to fail over time

as well (-0.0369). So, among small newspapers, older ones were able to better adapt to change. Again, this may be due to media conglomeration as a number of smaller newspapers were provided with online templates and directives on design and technological implementation. And finally, Model 8 demonstrates no support for H5, in that the time elapsed after moving operations online did not significantly impact failure rates (-15.2964). Smaller newspapers did not benefit by moving online sooner.

Table 3-4. Impact of Large Density (Moving Online) on Failure of Small Organizations (or Merger)

Parameter	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
Intercept	-25.0647**	-26.0569**	-30.7703**	-31.7157**	-32.3605**	-32.6827**	-33.7634**	-29.3503*
Age	-0.0427**	-0.0462**	-0.0579**	-0.0636**	-0.0608**	-0.0585**	-0.0567**	-0.0547**
Circulation (ln)	2.8919**	2.9666**	3.5467**	3.7738**	3.8177**	3.8206**	3.9185**	3.3719*
City Population		6.897E-09	-5.29E-08	-8.14E-08	6.575E-08	1.078E-07	2.173E-07	0.000012
State (NY-Dummy)		1.1776	1.2423	1.447*	1.4667*	1.383	1.4628	1.3806
Density - Large			0.0767	0.0651	-0.00818	0.1393	0.1659	0.1998
Total Previous Failures -					- 10 1			- 0
Print	•	•	•	-1.9821	-3.1065*	-3.4968*	-3.3415*	-2.8557*
Total Previous Foundings - Online					0.1141*	0.0658	0.0431	-0.00575
H1ChangeOrNot	•	•	•	•	0.1141	-3.2022*	0.0431	-0.00373
H2&3 EffectsWithAge	•	•	•	•	•	-3.2022	-0.0369*	•
· ·	•	•	•	•	•	•	-0.0309	15 2064
H5TimeSinceChange	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	-15.2964
-2 Log L	99.227	94.239	92.069	83.369	78.793	70.655	69.07	63.739

<sup>\*\*&</sup>lt;.01 Chi-Square

<sup>\*&</sup>lt;.05

#### Conclusion

In the Conclusion of her study on California thrifts, Haveman recommends that future research build on her study by examining the flip side of diversification – the narrowing of organizational domains through exits from markets. The work done in this chapter does just that. I have explored the impact of product diversification strategies on market exit, in this case, newspaper failures.

I recognize, however, the limitations in treating both mergers and failures equally in this study. If a newspaper merged with another, I coded and treated it just like a "failure." While mergers and failures are treated similarly in this study, in that they are coded similarly and constitute the same dependent variable, they could actually mean quite different things. A newspaper failure may signify a "weakening" in the system, while a "merger" may represent a strengthening, brought about by a consolidation of resources. When an organization fails, its ties to other organizations cease to exist and it no longer produces anything for consumers, thereby leaving open a vacancy for a competitor to occupy. In the case of a merger, the newspaper may still be able to reach its geographic constituents and is likely to maintain many of the ties it had with other organizations (such as contractors, tech companies, investors, etc.). In future work, I intend to treat mergers and failures as distinct occurrences.

This section of my study shows that in moving operations online, newspapers may not have involved so much in an effort to "innovate," so much as they were engaged in an effort to "prevent failure." The clock variables, modeled after Amburgey et al.'s work help verify this statement. Moving operations online proved to be a valuable way to decrease the likelihood of failure. Given that newspapers would have to funnel new

resources into that endeavor, it doesn't follow dominant logic, and in fact refutes H1. Moving online did not, in fact, hurt print newspapers, many of which were already in decline. Instead, it helped keep print operations stronger. Ecological theory might explain this by arguing that the "online" and "print" versions of the newspaper were not significantly different products.

Older, more established firms were also able to "innovate" to their advantage, decreasing their likelihood of failure when moving operations online. This suggests that older newspapers are less invested in maintaining the status-quo of their organizations. In other words, the inertial forces in older organizations are not so strong as to impact their move online. And so, the results of this analysis provide support for H3 in that the disrupt effect was less for older newspapers.

And finally, the time passed since the move online did not impact the stability of the newspaper or its risk of failure, thus not providing any support for H5.

The results from the event history analysis in Chapter 3 suggest that at the organizational level, going online does stave off the likelihood of failure (H1-Change or Not). At the population level, however, we see that the number of print failures in the previous year also powerfully impacted the rate of failure. It is valuable to contrast these observations with the models presented in Chapter 2. Table 2-5 shows us that for small newspapers, aggregate-level variables – rather than organizational-level variables – actually had a very powerful effect on the likelihood of moving online. These aggregate-level variables included 1) the total number of print failures in the previous year, 2) the total density of newspapers online, and 3) the number of large organizations to have gone online in the previous year. Chapter 2 shows us that population dynamics were powerful

and impelled many small newspapers to go online. Chapter 3 (Table 3-3) shows us that moving online did decrease the likelihood of failure on the organizational level. The aggregate-level variables in Chapter 2 suggest that newspapers were all going online eventually. In fact, they had little choice. So while going online may have decreased the likelihood of failure for some organizations, these newspapers are still subject to the population dynamics at play – many of which indicate that newspaper failures still characterize the industry. Failures and mergers continue to occur at a rapid pace in the industry as a whole, and this activity will certainly impact the movement of organizations. Together, these observations do not affirm that moving online saved organizations from failure. Rather, they may have slowed down failure/merger rates for certain organizations within a population that is declining as a whole.

#### Conclusion

The gradual demise of the newspaper industry remains one of the most pressing issues facing the news and publishing industries today. To truly address what would be required to preserve the print form of newspapers would involve answering larger questions on the relevance of print forms in an increasingly digital and digitized world. And further, arguments would need to be made in regards to the inherent value of the medium itself.

But what is truly at stake is not so much the actual ink and paper of the newspaper. Digital publishing has now prompted new behaviors and reading styles. American consumption of news itself has changed drastically. For those who uphold the important place of a free press for a democracy, the question becomes: How do we ensure that newspapers maintain and inspire civic engagement online? For those who recognize that the press is a private enterprise that serves consumers no matter how civic-minded they may be, the question becomes: How do we ensure that news content is profitable enough to be sustainable? News readership can still exist – with digital or print newspapers – but publishers have now been fit with a challenge of ensuring the resources to support active editorial boards for online audiences. Quality journalism, no matter how it is defined, requires money and resources – some of which may be difficult to muster with declining revenue.

One of the most powerful and problematic solutions to the concerns raised in the above questions comes from media ownership. Cross-media ownership may allow for dailies to be less profitable, and yet still have the resources to engage in responsible journalism. On the other hand, profit motives may weaken an organization's drive for

investigative journalism, often considered to be significantly more expensive, even as it often most powerfully serves to educate citizens. No matter what its impact, further research into the dynamics and influences of media ownership on product diversification will significantly strengthen the findings of this study thus far. Even as they have been addressed briefly in Chapter 1, they are noticeably absent in Chapters 2 and 3.

Ultimately, Internet technologies inspired a remarkable sea change in a number of industries – most especially, in publishing – but also in the realms of commerce and communications. And as we know, looking back in time from 2013, we can see that websites and "online newspapers" were only the beginning of the massive overhaul in digital publishing. The very fact that the published unit of news has moved from "newspaper" to "news article," makes for ever-more new possibilities. Given that many Americans now access news stories from their phones, or while waiting in line at the grocery store, news stories must make themselves ever-more adapted for particular media. As my discussion in Chapter 1 points out, the evolution of news publishing will involve many disparate voices – from technological, news, and media organizations. What, then, is the meaning of the demise of newspapers?

To address this question, I turn to the findings of this study. Chapter 1 demonstrated that changes in the newspaper industry, internet industries, media ownership, and media legislation would enable the emergence of online news. Together, these various entities would enable the "launch" of online news by the print news business. As we know from Chapter 3, the newspaper industry was already in a dire situation, having experimented with alternate distribution methods for sometime, publishers were exhausted and nervous about trying out new technologies. In fact, the

"failures" in the industry – namely, the closings and mergers of medium- and small- sized dailies – were coming to characterize the industry and set a tone of demise. But as other legislation enabled and encouraged all American industries to begin putting operations online, newspapers found a new home. It would take years for them to adapt to the new medium (and perhaps even more time to figure out profit-making strategies), but audiences were certainly moving online with or without newspapers. Given Amburgey et al.'s use of "spells," I believe it may be valuable to consider the Videotex efforts by newspapers as another "spell," to better understand whether those newspapers that engaged in the effort were more or less likely to fail.

Chapters 2 and 3 – through the application of ecological theory – demonstrate that the broader environment in which newspaper organizations conducted their business mattered. In Chapter 2, the impact of "large" or successful newspapers was significant, in that it created an environment that made other newspapers more likely to attempt product diversification online. Larger and smaller newspapers were impacted by the diversification efforts of their peers, while medium-sized newspapers were moved more by high-circulation or "successful" newspapers. Chapter 3, on the other hand, shows that previous year's activities – particularly with respect to the failures of other newspapers – characterized the organizational environment of the time.

And while Chapters 2 and 3 point to the importance of environmental factors in their direct impact on diversification and failure rates, Chapter 1 offers a much more exhaustive look at the various environmental factors at play. The true value of the qualitative examination offered by the Production of Culture perspective lies in its ability to demonstrate that the statistical models offered in Chapters 2 – while valuable – may

not be able to point to the various nuances of the environment that launched online newspapers, or what the impact of that environment was on the print industry that created online newspapers (Chapter 3). Together, these three chapters reveal that historical factors made online newspapers possible at a particular point in time, and that their launch was deeply connected to factors that go far beyond the particulars of any given newspaper publisher.

This study shows that history matters in very specific ways. Chapter 2, in its look at period effects, reminds us that technologies must not just be "available" to the masses, they must be made "accessible." For newspapers, it wasn't until web browsers were free and accessible that their content was truly in "demand" by audiences. Chapters 1 and 3 show that previous attempts at innovation (i.e. Videotex) can both negatively and positively impact the likelihood of attempting future innovations. Historical factors tell us that the demise of newspapers is not merely a function of "supply and demand," so much as it is powerfully influenced by the changing behaviors of audiences and producers in realms that extend far beyond newspapers.

And so to look at the demise of newspapers in the specific context of the rise of online newspapers is to remind us that product diversification, innovation, or any effort to rescue a failing industry means that organizations must contend with a complex set of challenges – many of which extend beyond their control or understanding.

Organizational change – in the form of diversification – was not achieved by publishers that made "daring moves" into new, unknown lines of business. Instead, for newspapers, diversification was evidence of environmental factors that "launched" a new industry. The launch was based on a set of circumstances enabled and constrained by technologies,

legislation, and organizational dynamics that extended far beyond the confines of newspaper publishing. And further, the launch was based on a set of historical events that fashioned these environmental factors. To carve out 20 years of the newspaper industry is to examine only a portion of an industry that has been in motion for over 200 years, but further evidences that it has always been formed by its own history and environment.

# Appendix

Table A1. Independent Variables - Summary Table, Definitions

Variable	Variable Name	Definition
Demographics	Census	Population for city or town in which daily newspaper serves.
	State	State newspaper serves.
	Publication Cycle	Dailies are often published 5-days or 6-days per week.
	Founding - Print	Year print newspaper was founded.
	Founding - Online	Year print newspaper first had a unique URL associated with it.
	Circulation	Circulation rate in that year.
	AdRate	Advertising rate, per square inch.
Daily Newspaper Characteristics	Size	Newspapers grouped and coded by size: "large," "medium," "small" based on circulation. The circulation ranges vary by state. In NY, "large" organizations have a daily circulation rate of greater than 100,000; "medium" organizations have a daily circulation between 10,000 and 100,000; "small" organizations have a circulation of less than 10,000. In IL, "large">50,000 daily copies distributed, "medium"=10,000-50,000 daily circulation, and "small"<10,000 daily copies distributed.
	Age	Age is a continuous variable, beginning with "0" the year the print newspaper was established. Age increases at the beginning of each year.
	Age-sq	Age of print newspaper, squared.

Table A1. Independent Variables - Summary Table, Definitions - continued

Variable	Variable Name	Definition
		Total number of newspapers online at year's start (cumulative foundings minus
	cumulative failures).	
	• •	Square of total density.
	Total Previous Foundings - Online	Total number of online newspaper foundings in the previous year.
	Total Previous Foundings-sq - Online	Square of total previous foundings.
	Total Previous Failures - Online	Number of online newspaper failures in the previous year.
	Total Previous Failures-sq - Online	Square of online newspaper failures.
	Total Previous Failures - Print	Total number of print newspaper failures in the previous year.
	Total Previous Failures-sq - Print	Square of print newspaper failures.
	Large Density - Online	Number of high-circulation newspapers online at year's start.
	Large Density-sq - Online	Square of high-circulation density.
	Large Previous Foundings - Online	Number of high-circulation newspapers that went online in previous year.
	Large Previous Foundings-sq - Online	Square of high-circulation density in previous year.
	Large Previous Failures - Online	Number of high-circulation online newspapers that failed in the previous year.
Organizational	Large Previous Failures-sq - Online	Square of high-circulation online failures in previous year.
Ecology Variables	Large Previous Failures - Print	Number of high-circulation print newspapers that failed in the previous year.
variables	Large Previous Failures-sq - Print	Square of high-circulation print failures in previous year.
	Medium Density - Online	Number of medium-circulation newspapers online at year's start.
	Medium Density-sq - Online	Square of medium-circulation density.
	Medium Previous Foundings - Online	Number of medium-circulation newspapers that went online in previous year.
	Medium Previous Foundings-sq - Online	Square of medium-circulation newspapers that went online in previous year.
	Medium Previous Failures - Online	Number of medium-circulation online newspapers that failed in the previous year.
	Medium Previous Failures-sq - Online	Square of medium-circulation online failures in previous year.
	Medium Previous Failures - Print	Number of medium-circulation print newspapers that failed in the previous year.
	Medium Previous Failures-sq - Print	Square of medium-circulation print failures in previous year.
	Small Density - Online	Number of medium-circulation newspapers online at year's start.
	Small Density-sq - Online	Square of low-circulation density.
	Small Previous Foundings - Online	Number of low-circulation newspapers that went online in previous year.
	Small Previous Foundings-sq - Online	Square of low-circulation newspapers that went online in previous year.
	Small Previous Failures - Online	Number of low-circulation online newspapers that failed in the previous year.

Small Previous Failures-sq - Online	Square of low-circulation online failures in previous year.
Small Previous Failures - Print	Number of low-circulation print newspapers that failed in the previous year.
Small Previous Failures-sq - Print	Square of low-circulation print failures in previous year.

Table A1. Independent Variables - Summary Table, Definitions - continued

Variable	Variable Name	Definition
	Economic Period 1	Dummy variable, coded "1" for every year, 1992 and onwards.
	Economic Period 2	Dummy variable, coded "1" for every year, 1993 and onwards.
	Economic Period 3	Dummy variable, coded "1" for every year, 1994 and onwards.
Economic	Economic Period 4	Dummy variable, coded "1" for every year, 1995 and onwards.
Periods	Economic Period 5	Dummy variable, coded "1" for every year, 1996 and onwards.
	TelecomAct	Dummy variable, coded "1" for every year after the 1996 Telecom Act was signed (1997 and onwards).
	Economic Period 7	Dummy variable, coded "1" for every year, 1998 and onwards.
	Economic Period 8	Dummy variable, coded "1" for every year, 1999 and onwards.
A garagata	AggCirc	Aggregate Circulation: National Circulation Rates in that year
Aggregate Variables	AggAdExpend	Aggregate Advertising Expenditures: Total National AdvertisingExpenditure in that year
	AggTotalPapers	Aggregate Number of Newspapers: Total Number of Print Newspapers in operation that year
World Bank	GDP	Gross Domestic Product
Variables	Internet Penetration	Percent of total American Households online, defined as "People with access to the World Wide Web network."
	Internet Penetration-sq	Square of Internet penetration
Media	NYPapersSold	Number of daily print newspapers in NY State that were sold from one media owner to another.
Ownership Variables	ILPapersSold	Number of daily print newspapers in IL that were sold from one media owner to another.
	TotalPapersSold	Total number of daily print newspapers in NY and IL that were sold from one media owner to another.

Table A2. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Demographic and Ecological Variables, N = 1265

	1 1	2 0.14548	3 -0.1488	4 -0.1501	5 -0.1448	6 -0.1327	7 -0.1345	8 -0.1129	9 -0.0463	10 -0.1019	11 -0.0791	12 -0.0111	13 -0.1347	14 -0.1457
1		<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.0999	0.0003	0.0049	0.6937	<.0001	<.0001
	0.14548	1	0.0728	0.07663	0.07889	0.08634	0.08582	0.08843	0.01368	0.0291	0.02577	-0.0031	0.05608	0.08778
2	<.0001		0.0096	0.0064	0.005	0.0021	0.0023	0.0016	0.6269	0.3011	0.3598	0.9137	0.0461	0.0018
	-0.1488	0.07281	1	0.97412	0.92252	0.79959	0.84196	0.66214	0.39945	0.74599	0.64468	0.10807	0.88584	0.89055
3	<.0001	0.0096		<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.0001	<.0001	<.0001
	-0.15012	0.07663	0.9741	1	0.98155	0.90292	0.92909	0.78163	0.24055	0.64854	0.59296	0.12574	0.9067	0.9553
4	<.0001	0.0064	<.0001		<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001
	-0.14483	0.07889	0.9225	0.98155	1	0.95492	0.96467	0.84371	0.06151	0.57458	0.53892	0.14191	0.91558	0.97543
5	<.0001	0.005	<.0001	<.0001		<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.0287	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001
	-0.13274	0.08634	0.7996	0.90292	0.95492	1	0.98668	0.95388	-0.0737	0.33956	0.36631	0.09041	0.77868	0.97736
6	<.0001	0.0021	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001		<.0001	<.0001	0.0087	<.0001	<.0001	0.0013	<.0001	<.0001
	-0.13452	0.08582	0.842	0.92909	0.96467	0.98668	1	0.95109	0.00792	0.39813	0.4688	0.01157	0.8043	0.97625
7	<.0001	0.0023	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001		<.0001	0.7784	<.0001	<.0001	0.681	<.0001	<.0001
	-0.11292	0.08843	0.6621	0.78163	0.84371	0.95388	0.95109	1	-0.103	0.14452	0.26655	-0.0878	0.60568	0.90786
8	<.0001	0.0016	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001		0.0002	<.0001	<.0001	0.0018	<.0001	<.0001
	-0.04628	0.01368	0.3995	0.24055	0.06151	-0.0737	0.00792	-0.103	1	0.42517	0.33306	-0.0654	0.02172	0.07702
9	0.0999	0.6269	<.0001	<.0001	0.0287	0.0087	0.7784	0.0002		<.0001	<.0001	0.02	0.4402	0.0061
	-0.10193	0.0291	0.746	0.64854	0.57458	0.33956	0.39813	0.14452	0.42517	1	0.66978	0.18138	0.76693	0.46457
10	0.0003	0.3011	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001		<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001
	-0.07908	0.02577	0.6447	0.59296	0.53892	0.36631	0.4688	0.26655	0.33306	0.66978	1	-0.0053	0.62065	0.43635
11	0.0049	0.3598	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001		0.8506	<.0001	<.0001
	-0.01109	-0.0031	0.1081	0.12574	0.14191	0.09041	0.01157	-0.0878	-0.0654	0.18138	-0.0053	1	0.15386	0.09168
12	0.6937	0.9137	0.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.0013	0.681	0.0018	0.02	<.0001	0.8506		<.0001	0.0011
	-0.13469	0.05608	0.8858	0.9067	0.91558	0.77868	0.8043	0.60568	0.02172	0.76693	0.62065	0.15386	1	0.82996
13	<.0001	0.0461	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.4402	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001		<.0001
	-0.14567	0.08778	0.8906	0.9553	0.97543	0.97736	0.97625	0.90786	0.07702	0.46457	0.43635	0.09168	0.82996	1
14	<.0001	0.0018	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	0.0061	<.0001	<.0001	0.0011	<.0001	

1=Circulation, 2=Age, 3=Large Density, 4= Large Density Sq, 5= Medium Density, 6= Medium Density-sq, 7= Small Density, 8= Small Density-sq, 9= Previous Year Founding (Large), 10=Previous Year Founding(Medium), 11= Previous Year Founding(Small), 12= Previous Year Founding(Total), 13 = Telecom Act (after 1996), 14= Internet Penetration

Table A3. Ecological Variables – Ecological Variables, Descriptives Over Time

Variable	1990	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999
Total Density - Online	0	0	1	2	2	4	20	43	56	69
Total Density-sq - Online	0	0	1	4	4	16	400	1849	3136	4761
Total Previous Foundings - Online	0	0	1	1	0	2	16	23	13	14
Total Previous Foundings-sq - Online	0	0	1	1	0	4	256	529	169	196
Total Previous Failures - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Total Previous Failures-sq - Online		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Total Previous Failures - Print	0	4	0	2	0	1	1	1	0	9
Total Previous Failures-sq - Print	0	16	0	4	0	1	1	1	0	81
Large Density - Online	0	0	1	2	2	3	10	12	14	15
Large Density-sq - Online	0	0	1	4	4	9	100	144	196	225
Large Previous Foundings - Online	0	0	1	1	0	1	7	2	2	1
Large Previous Foundings-sq - Online		0	1	1	0	1	49	4	4	1
Large Previous Failures - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Large Previous Failures-sq - Online		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Large Previous Failures - Print	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
Large Previous Failures-sq - Print	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
Medium Density - Online	0	0	0	0	0	1	7	23	30	40
Medium Density-sq - Online	0	0	0	0	0	1	49	529	900	1600
Medium Previous Foundings - Online	0	0	0	0	0	1	6	16	7	10
Medium Previous Foundings-sq - Online	0	0	0	0	0	1	36	256	49	100
Medium Previous Failures - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Medium Previous Failures-sq - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Medium Previous Failures - Print	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3
Medium Previous Failures-sq - Print	0	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9
Small Density - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	8	12	14
Small Density-sq - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	9	64	144	196
Small Previous Foundings - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	5	4	3
Small Previous Foundings-sq - Online		0	0	0	0	0	9	25	16	9

Small Previous Failures - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Small Previous Failures-sq - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Small Previous Failures - Print		1	0	2	0	1	0	1	0	5
Small Previous Failures-sq - Print	0	1	0	4	0	1	0	1	0	25

Table A3. Ecological Variables – Ecological Variables, Descriptives Over Time - continued

I WOIGHT IN . E COTO BICKET VILLE COTO E										
Variable	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009
Total Density - Online	92	105	108	115	117	118	120	120	125	123
Total Density-sq - Online	8464	11025	11664	13225	13689	13924	14400	14400	15625	15129
Total Previous Foundings - Online	23	14	3	7	2	1	2	0	5	0
Total Previous Foundings-sq - Online	529	196	9	49	4	1	4	0	25	0
Total Previous Failures - Online	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Total Previous Failures-sq - Online	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
Total Previous Failures - Print	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total Previous Failures-sq - Print	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Large Density - Online	16	17	17	18	18	18	18	18	19	19
Large Density-sq - Online	256	289	289	324	324	324	324	324	361	361
Large Previous Foundings - Online	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
Large Previous Foundings-sq - Online	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
Large Previous Failures - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Large Previous Failures-sq - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Large Previous Failures - Print	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Large Previous Failures-sq - Print	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Medium Density - Online	47	55	55	59	61	61	63	63	64	64
Medium Density-sq - Online	2209	3025	3025	3481	3721	3721	3969	3969	4096	4096
Medium Previous Foundings - Online Medium Previous Foundings-sq -	7	8	0	4	2	0	2	0	1	0
Online	49	64	0	16	4	0	4	0	1	0
Medium Previous Failures - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Medium Previous Failures-sq - Online	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Medium Previous Failures - Print	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Medium Previous Failures-sq - Print	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Small Density - Online	29	33	36	38	38	39	39	39	40	39
Small Density-sq - Online	841	1089	1296	1444	1444	1521	1521	1521	1600	1521
Small Previous Foundings - Online	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Small Previous Foundings-sq - Online	225	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Small Previous Failures - Online	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2
Small Previous Failures-sq - Online	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
Small Previous Failures - Print	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Small Previous Failures-sq - Print	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table A4. Sample Coding Scheme for "Clocks"

Coding Scheme:

H1ChangeOrNot: "1" if online and "0" if not online H2&3EffectsWithAge: "0" if not online; "AGE" if online

H5TimeSinceChange: "0" for the year it went online; then +1 for every additional year online (so if org went online in 1995, 1996 gets coded "1", 1997 is coded "2", etc.)

Year	NAME	PrintFounding	OnlineYr	Online	AGE	H1ChangeOr Not: "whether or not change occurred"	H2&3Effects with Age: "disruptive effects inc/dec with age"	H5TimeSinceChange: "elapsed time since change"
1990	Times Union	1856	1995	0	134	0	0	0
1991	Times Union	1856	1995	0	135	0	0	0
1992	Times Union	1856	1995	0	136	0	0	0
1993	Times Union	1856	1995	0	137	0	0	0
1994	Times Union	1856	1995	0	138	0	0	0
1995	Times Union	1856	1995	1	139	1	139	0
1996	Times Union	1856	1995	1	140	1	140	1
1997	Times Union	1856	1995	1	141	1	141	2
1998	Times Union	1856	1995	1	142	1	142	3
1999	Times Union	1856	1995	1	143	1	143	4
2000	Times Union	1856	1995	1	144	1	144	5
2001	Times Union	1856	1995	1	145	1	145	6
2002	Times Union	1856	1995	1	146	1	146	7
2003	Times Union	1856	1995	1	147	1	147	8
2004	Times Union	1856	1995	1	148	1	148	9
2005	Times Union	1856	1995	1	149	1	149	10
2006	Times Union	1856	1995	1	150	1	150	11
2007	Times Union	1856	1995	1	151	1	151	12
2008	Times Union	1856	1995	1	152	1	152	13
2009	Times Union	1856	1995	1	153	1	153	14

## **Bibliography**

- Abrahamson, E., & Rosenkopf, L. (1993). Institutional and competitive bandwagons:

  Using mathematical modeling as a tool to explore innovation diffusion. *Academy of management review, 18*(3), 487-517.
- Adams. (1995). Chain growth and merger waves: A macroeconomic historical perspective on press consolidation. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 72(2), 376-389.
- Ahlers, D. (2006). News consumption and the new electronic media. *Press/Politics*, *II*(1), 29-52.
- Allan, S. (2006). *Online news*. New York: Open University Press.
- Allison, P. D. (1982). Discrete-time methods for the analysis of event histories. *Sociological Methodology*, *13*(1), 61-98.
- Allison, P. D. (2012). Survival analysis using SAS: a practical guide. SAS Institute.
- Amburgey, T. L., Kelly, D., & Barnett, W. P. (1993). Resetting the clock: The dynamics of organizational change and failure. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 38(1), 51-73.
- Anand, N. (2000). Defocalization the organization: Richard A. Peterson's sociology organizations. *Poetics*, 28, 173-184.
- Anand, N. (2000). Defocalizing the organization: Richard A. Peterson's sociology of organizations. *Poetics*, 28(2), 173-184.
- Auletta, K. (2002). World War 3.0: Microsoft vs. the US Government, and the battle to rule the digital age: Broadway Books.
- Auletta, K. (2009). Googled: The end of the world as we know it. New York: Penguin

- Press.
- Battani, M., & Hall, J. R. (2000). Richard Peterson and cultural theory: From genetic, to integrated, and synthetic approaches. *Poetics*, *28*(2), 137-156.
- Baum, J. A., & Ingram, P. (1998). Survival-enhancing learning in the Manhattan hotel industry, 1898–1980. *Management Science*, 44(7), 996-1016.
- Baum, J. A., & Mezias, S. J. (1992). Localized competition and organizational failure in the Manhattan hotel industry, 1898-1990. Administrative Science Quarterly, 580-604.
- Baum, J. A., & Mezias, S. J. (1992). Localized competition and organizational failure in the Manhattan hotel industry, 1898-1990. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 580-604.
- Baum, J. A., & Oliver, C. (1991). Institutional linkages and organizational mortality. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 36(2), 187-218.
- Baum, J. A., & Oliver, C. (1996). Toward an institutional ecology of organizational founding. *Academy of Management Journal*, *39*(5), 1378-1427.
- Benson, R., & Saguy, A. C. (2005). Constructing social problems in an age of globalization: A French-American comparison. *American Sociological Review*, 70(2), 233-259.
- Berman, S. J., Battino, B., & Feldman, K. (2011). New business models for emerging media and entertainment revenue opportunities. *Strategy & Leadership*, 39(3), 44-53.
- Besley, J. C., & Chris Roberts, M. (2010). Cuts in newspaper staff change meeting coverage. *Newspaper Research Journal*, 31(3), 22.

- Boczkowski, P. (2008). Information Visibility: Technology, Monitoring, and Imitation in Contemporary News Work. *Conference Papers -- American Sociological Association*, 1.
- Boczkowski, P. (2009). Rethinking Hard and Soft News Production: From Common Ground to Divergent Paths. *Journal of Communication*, *59*, 98-116.
- Boczkowski, P. (2009). Technology, Monitoring, and Imitation in Contemporary News Work. *Communication, Culture & Critique*, *2*, 39-59.
- Boczkowski, P., & Ferris, J. A. (2005). Multiple Media, Convergent Processes, and

  Divergent Productions: Organizational Innovation in Digital Media Production at
  a European Firms. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social*Science, 597(32), 32-47.
- Boczkowski, P. J. (2004). The Mutual Shaping of Technology and Society in Videotex

  Newspapers: Beyond the Diffusion and Social Shaping Perspectives. *Information Society*, 20(4), 255-267.
- Boczkowski, P. J. (2004). The Processes of Adopting Multimedia and Interactivity in Three Online Newsrooms. *Journal of Communication*, *54*(2), 197-213.
- Boczkowski, P. J. (2005). *Digitizing the news: Innovation in online newspapers*: The MIT Press.
- Boczkowski, P. J. (2010). The Consumption of Online News at Work. *Information, Communication & Society, 13*(4), 470-484.
- Boczkowski, P. J., & De Santos, M. (2007). When more media equals less news: Patterns of content homogenization in Argentina's leading print and online newspapers.

  \*Political Communication, 24(2), 167-180.

- Boeker, W. (1989). The Development and Institutionalization of Subunit Power in Organizations. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *34*(3), 388-410.
- Bogart, L. (1984). The Public's Use and Perception of Newspapers. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 48(4), 709-719.
- Bromley, M. (1997). The end of journalism? Changes in workplace practices in the press and broadcasting in the 1990s. *A journalism reader*, 330-350.
- Bustamante, E. (2004). Cultural industries in the Digital Age: some provisional conclusions. *Media, Culture & Society, 26*(6), 803-820.
- Carlson, M. (2007). Order versus access: news search engines and the challenge to traditional journalistic roles. *Media, Culture & Society, 29*(6), 1014-1030.
- Carroll, G. R. (1984). Dynamics of publisher succession in newspaper organizations. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 93-113.
- Carroll, G. R., & Delacroix, J. (1982). Organizational Mortality in the Newspaper Industries of Argentina and Ireland: An Ecological Approach. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 27(2), 169-198.
- Carroll, G. R., & Hannan, M. T. (1989). Density Dependence in the Evolution of Populations of Newspaper Organizations. *American Sociological Review*, 54(4), 524-541.
- Carroll, G. R., & Hannan, M. T. (1989). Density dependence in the evolution of populations of newspaper organizations. *American Sociological Review*, 524-541.
- Carroll, G. R., & Huo, Y. P. (1986). Organizational task and institutional environments in ecological perspective: Findings from the local newspaper industry. *American Journal of Sociology*, 838-873.

- Carroll, G. R., & Swaminathan, A. (1991). Density Dependent Organizational Evolution in the American Brewing Industry from 1633 to 1988. *Acta Sociologica (Taylor & Francis Ltd)*, 34(3), 155-175.
- Carroll, G. R., & Wade, J. (1991). Density Dependence in the Organizational Evolution of the American Brewing Industry across Different Levels of Analysis. *Social Science Research*, 20(3), 271-302.
- Carroll, G. R., & Yangchung Paul, H. (1986). Organizational Task and Institutional Environments in Ecological Perspective: Findings from the Local Newspaper Industry. *American Journal of Sociology*, *91*(4), 838-873.
- Castells, M. (2003). The Internet galaxy: Reflections on the Internet, business, and society: Taylor & Francis.
- Chan, T. W., & Goldthorpe, J. H. (2007). Social Status and Newspaper Readership1. *American Journal of Sociology, 112*(4), 1095-1134.
- Chung, D. S. (2009). How readers perceive journalists' functions at online community newspapers. *Newspaper Research Journal*, *30*(1), 72-80.
- Chyi, H. I. (2005). Willingness to Pay for Online News: An Empirical Study on the Viability of the Subscription Model. *Journal of Media Economics*, 18(2), 131-142.
- Chyi, H. I., & Sylvie, G. (2001). The Medium is Global, the Content is Not: The Role of Geography in Online Newspaper Markets. *The Journal of Media Economics*, *14*(4), 231-248.
- Clemons, E. K., Gu, B., & Lang, K. R. (2002). Newly Vulnerable Markets in an Age of Pure Information Products: An Analysis of Online Music and Online News. Paper

- presented at the Proceedings of the 35th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, IEEE, Hawaii.
- Conboy, M., & Steel, J. (2008). The Future of Newspapers: Historical perspectives. *Journalism Studies*, 9(5), 650-661.
- Cook, T. E. (2006). The News Media as a Political Institution: Looking Backward and Looking Forward. *Political Communication*, *23*(2), 159-171.
- Crane, D. (1976). Reward Systems in Art, Science, and Religion. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 19(6), 719.
- Crane, D. (1997). Globalization, organizational size, and innovation in the French luxury fashion industry: Production of culture theory revisited. *Poetics*, *24*(6), 393-414.
- Delacroix, J., & Carroll, G. R. (1983). Organizational Foundings: A Ecological Study of the Newspaper Industries of Argentina and Ireland. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 28(2), 274-291.
- Delacroix, J., Solt, M. E., & Swaminathan, A. (1989). Density Dependence Versus

  Population Dynamics: An Ecological Study of Failings in the California Wine

  Industry. *American Sociological Review, 54*(2), 245-262.
- Delacroix, J., & Swaminathan, A. (1991). Cosmetic, speculative, and adaptive organizational change in the wine industry: A longitudinal study. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 631-661.
- Demers, D. P. (1997). Structural pluralism, intermedia competition, and the growth of the corporate newspaper in the United States. *Mass media and society*, 85-108.
- Dertouzos, J. N., & Quinn, T. H. (1985). *Bargaining Responses to the Technology Revolution*: Rand Corporation.

- Dertouzos, J. N., & Trautman, W. B. (1990). Economic effects of media concentration: estimates from a model of the newspaper firm. *The Journal of Industrial Economics*, 1-14.
- Deuze, M. (2005). Popular journalism and professional ideology: tabloid reporters and editors speak out. *Media, Culture & Society, 27*(6), 861-882.
- Deuze, M. (2006). Participation, Remediation, Bricolage: Considering Principal Components of a Digital Culture. *Information Society*, 22(2), 63-75.
- DiMaggio, P. (2000). The production of scientific change: Richard Peterson and the institutional turn in cultural sociology. *Poetics*, *2000*, 107-136.
- DiMaggio, P. (2000). The production of scientific change: Richard Peterson and the institutional turn in cultural sociology. *Poetics*, 28(2), 107-136.
- DiMaggio, P., & Bonikowski, B. (2008). Make money surfing the web? The impact of Internet use on the earnings of US workers. *American Sociological Review*, 73(2), 227-250.
- DiMaggio, P., Hargittai, E., Neuman, W. R., & Robinson, J. P. (2001). Social Implications of the Internet. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *27*(1), 307.
- DiMaggio, P., Hargittai, E., Neuman, W. R., & Robinson, J. P. (2001). Social implications of the Internet. *Annual review of sociology*, 307-336.
- DiMaggio, P., & Hirsch, P. M. (1976). Production Organizations in the Arts. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 19(6), 735.
- DiMaggio, P. J., & Powell, W. W. (1997). The Iron Cage Revisited: Institutional Isomorphism and Collective Rationality in Organizational Fields *Classical Tradition in Sociology: The American Tradition* (Vol. 4, pp. 50-72).

- Dobbin, F., & Dowd, T. J. (1997). How policy shapes competition: Early railroad foundings in Massachusetts. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 42(3), 501-529.
- Dobbin, F., & Dowd, T. J. (2000). The Market That Antitrust Built: Public Policy, Private Coercion, and Railroad Acquisitions,1825 to 1922. *American Sociological Review, 65*(5), 631-657.
- Dobrev, S. D. (2000). Decreasing Concentration and Reversibility of the Resource

  Partitioning Process: Supply Shortages and Deregulation in the Bulgarian

  Newspaper Industry, 1987-1992. *Organization Studies (Walter de Gruyter GmbH & Co. KG.)*, 21(2), 383-404.
- Domingo, D. (2008). Interactivity in the daily routines of online newsrooms: dealing with an uncomfortable myth. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, *13*, 680-704.
- Donovan, R. J. (1992). *Unsilent revolution: television news and American public life,* 1948-1991: Cambridge University Press.
- Dowd, T. J. (2004). Production perspectives in the sociology of music. *Poetics*, *32*, 235-246.
- Dowd, T. J. (2007). Innovation and diversity in cultural sociology. Notes on Peterson and Berger's classic article. *Sociologica*, *1*(1), 0-0.
- Edelman, L. B., & Suchman, M. C. (1997). The Legal Environments of Organizations. *Annual Review of Sociology, 23*(1), 479.
- Fligstein, N. (1985). The Spread of the Multidivisional Form Among Large Firms, 1919-1979. *American Sociological Review*, *50*(3), 377-391.
- Fligstein, N. (1989). Institutional Patterns and Organizations: Culture and Environment.

- Administrative Science Quarterly, 34(3), 501-503.
- Fligstein, N. (1991). The New Competition: Institutions of Industrial Restructuring (Book). *Contemporary Sociology, 20*(5), 717-718.
- Fligstein, N., & Dauber, K. (1989). Structural Change in Corporate Organization. *Annual Review of Sociology, 15*(1), 73-96.
- Fligstein, N., & Dauber, K. (1989). Structural change in corporate organization. *Annual review of sociology*, 73-96.
- Fortunati, L., & Sarrica, M. (2010). The future of the press: Insights from the sociotechnical approach. *The Information Society*, 26(4), 247-255.
- Freeman, J., Carroll, G. R., & Hannan, M. T. (1983). The Liability of Newness: Age

  Dependence in Organizational Death Rates. *American Sociological Review, 48*(5),
  692-710.
- Gentzkow, M., Glaeser, E. L., & Goldin, C. (2006). The Rise of the Fourth Estate. How Newspapers Became Informative and Why It Mattered *Corruption and Reform:*Lessons from America's Economic History (pp. 187-230): University of Chicago Press.
- George, L. (2007). What's fit to print: The effect of ownership concentration on product variety in daily newspaper markets. *Information Economics and Policy, 19*(3), 285-303.
- George, L., & Waldfogel, J. (2003). Who Affects Whom in Daily Newspaper Markets? *Journal of Political Economy, 111*(4), 765-784.
- Gilbert, C. G. (2005). Unbundling the structure of inertia: Resource versus routine rigidity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 48(5), 741-763.

- Gilbert, R. J., & Katz, M. L. (2001). An economist's guide to US v. Microsoft. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 15(2), 25-44.
- Gompers, P., & Lerner, J. (2001). The venture capital revolution. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 15(2), 145-168.
- Granovetter, M. (1985). Economic Action and Social Structure: The Problem of Embeddedness. *American Journal of Sociology*, *91*(3), 481-510.
- Hamilton, J. T. (2005). The market and the media. *The press, ed. G. Overholser and KH Jamieson*, 351-370.
- Hannan, M. T., & Freeman, J. (1984). Structural inertia and organizational change.

  \*American Sociological Review, 149-164.
- Hargittai, E. (2004). Internet access and use in Context. *New Media & Society, 6*(1), 115-121.
- Hargittai, E. (2005). Survey measures of web-oriented digital literacy. *Social Science Computer Review*, 23(3), 371-379.
- Hargittai, E. (2010). Digital Na(t)ives? Variation in Internet Skills and Uses among Members of the "Net Generation". *Sociological Inquiry*, 80(1), 92-113.
- Haveman, H. A. (1993). Follow the Leader: Mimetic Isomorphism and Entry into New Markets. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 38(4), 593-627.
- Haveman, H. A., & Rao, H. (1997). Structuring a theory of moral sentiments: institutional and organizational coevolution in the early thrift industry 1. *American Journal of Sociology*, 102(6), 1606-1651.
- Haveman, H. A., & Rao, H. (2006). Hybrid Forms and the Evolution of Thrifts. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 49(7), 974-986.

- Haveman, H. A., Rao, H., & Paruchuri, S. (2007). The Winds of Change: The Progressive Movement and the Bureaucratization of Thrift. *American Sociological Review*, 72(1), 117-142.
- Haveman, H. A., Rao, H., & Paruchuri, S. (2007). The winds of change: The progressive movement and the bureaucratization of thrift. *American Sociological Review*, 72(1), 117-142.
- Hesmondhalgh, D., & Pratt, A. C. (2005). Cultural industries and cultural policy. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 11(1), 1-13.
- Hintz, A., & Milan, S. (2009). At the margins of Internet governance: grassroots tech groups and communication policy. *International Journal of Media & Cultural Politics*, 5(1-2), 1-2.
- Hirsch, P. M., & Fiss, P. C. (2000). Doing sociology and culture: Richard Peterson's quest and contribution. *Poetics*, 28(2), 97-105.
- Hobbs, R. (2010). Digital and media literacy: A plan of action. *The Aspen Institute*.
- Humphrey, T. E. (1970). Newspaper Preservation Act: An Ineffective Step in the Right Direction, The. *BC Indus. and Com. L. Rev.*, *12*, 937.
- Huseyin, L., Salancik Gerald, R., Anne, C., & Tom, K. (1991). Institutional change and the transformation of interorganizational fields: An organizational history of the US radio broadcasting industry. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 36(3), 333-363.
- Janssen, S., Kuipers, G., & Verboord, M. (2008). Cultural globalization and arts journalism: The international orientation of arts and culture coverage in Dutch, French, German, and US newspapers, 1955 to 2005. *American Sociological Review*, 73(5), 719-740.

- Ji, H., & Sheehy, M. (2010). Growing number of bloggers see their work as journalism.

  Newspaper Research Journal, 31(4), 38.
- John, S. (2009). *Informing communities: Sustaining democracy in the digital age*: Aspen Institute.
- Kadushin, C. (1976). Networks and Circles in the Production of Culture. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 19(6), 769.
- Kadushin, C. (1976). Networks and Circles in the Production of Culture. *American behavioral scientist*, 19(6), 769-784.
- Kaufman, J. (2004). Endogenous explanation in the sociology of culture. *Annual review of sociology*, 335-357.
- Leblebic, H., Salancik, G. R., Copay, A., & King, T. (1991). Institutional Change and the Transformation of Interorganizational Fields: An Organizational History of the U.S. Radio Broadcasting Industry. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *36*(3), 333-363.
- Leckey, A. (2003). *The Best Business Stories of the Year: 2002 Edition*: Random House Digital, Inc.
- Lena, J. C., & Peterson, R. A. (2008). Classification as culture: Types and trajectories of music genres. *American Sociological Review*, 73(5), 697-718.
- McChesney, R., & Nichol, J. (2010). *The Death and Life of American Journalism: The Media Revolution That Will Begin the World Again*. Philadelphia: Nation Books.
- Mitchelstein, E., & Boczkowski, P. J. (2009). Between tradition and change: A review of recent research on online news production. *Journalism*, 10(5), 562-586.
- Mitchelstein, E., & Boczkowski, P. J. (2010). Online news consumption research: An

- assessment of past work and an agenda for the future. *New Media & Society,* 12(7), 1085-1102.
- Mott, F. L. (2000). Newspapers in Presidential Campaigns. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 8(3), 348-367.
- Muehlfeld, K., Rao Sahib, P., & Van Witteloostuijn, A. (2012). A contextual theory of organizational learning from failures and successes: A study of acquisition completion in the global newspaper industry, 1981–2008. *Strategic Management Journal*, 33(8), 938-964.
- Myers, B. A. (1998). A brief history of human-computer interaction technology. *interactions*, 5(2), 44-54.
- Myers, D. J. (1997). Racial rioting in the 1960s: An event history analysis of local conditions. *American Sociological Review*, 94-112.
- Negus, K. (2002). The work of cultural intermediaries and the enduring distance between production and consumption. *Cultural studies*, *16*(4), 501-515.
- Neiva, E. M. (1996). Chain building: The consolidation of the American newspaper industry, 1953-1980. *Business History Review, 70*(1), 1-42.
- Nicholas, D., Williams, P., Cole, P., & Martin, H. (2000). *The impact of the Internet on information seeking in the Media1*. Paper presented at the Aslib proceedings.
- Nord, D. P. (2001). *Communities of journalism: A history of American newspapers and their readers*: University of Illinois Press.
- O'Sullivan, J., & Heinonen, A. (2008). Old Values, New Media: Journalism role perceptions in a changing world. *Journalism Practice*, 2(3).
- Overholser, G., & Jamieson, K. H. (2005). The institutions of American democracy: The

- press: Oxford University Press.
- Paul, D., & Hirsch, P. M. (1976). Production organizations in the arts. *American behavioral scientist*, 19(6), 735-752.
- Pavlik, J. (2000). The impact of technology on journalism. *Journalism Studies*, 1(2), 229-237.
- Peiser, W. (2000). Cohort replacement and the downward trend in newspaper readership.

  Newspaper Research Journal, 21(2), 11.
- Peiser, W. (2000). Cohort Trends in Media Use in the United States. *Mass Communication & Society*, 3(2/3), 185.
- Petersen, T. (1993). Recent advances in longitudinal methodology. *Annual review of sociology*, 425-454.
- Peterson, R., & Berger, D. G. (1975). Cycles in symbol production: The case of popular music. *American Sociological Review*, 40(2), 158-173.
- Peterson, R. A. (1976). The Production of Culture. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 19(6), 669.
- Peterson, R. A. (1976). The Production of Culture A Prolegomenon. *American behavioral* scientist, 19(6), 669-684.
- Peterson, R. A. (1982). Five Constraints on the Production of Culture: Law, Technology, Market, Organizational Structure and Occupational Careers\*. *The Journal of Popular Culture*, *16*(2), 143-153.
- Peterson, R. A. (1985). Six constraints on the production of literary works. *Poetics*, *14*(1), 45-67.
- Peterson, R. A. (1990). Why 1955?: Explaining the advent of rock music. *Popular Music*,

- 9(1), 97-116.
- Peterson, R. A. (2000). Two ways culture is produced. *Poetics*, 28, 225-233.
- Peterson, R. A., & Anand, N. (2004). The Production of Culture Perspective. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 30(1), 311-334.
- Peterson, R. A., & Anand, N. (2004). The production of culture perspective. *Annual review of sociology*, 311-334.
- Phillips, D. P. (1974). The influence of suggestion on suicide: Substantive and theoretical implications of the Werther effect. *American Sociological Review*, 340-354.
- Picard, R. G. (2004). *Strategic responses to media market changes*: Jönköping International Business School.
- Picard, R. G., & Brody, J. H. (1997). *The newspaper publishing industry*: Allyn and Bacon Boston.
- Picard, R. G., & van Weezel, A. (2008). Capital and control: Consequences of different forms of newspaper ownership. *The International Journal on Media Management*, 10(1), 22-31.
- Potter, S. J., & Dowd, T. J. (2003). Executive Turnover and the Legal Environment: The Case of California Hospitals, 1960–1995. *Sociological Forum, 18*(3), 441.
- Quandt, T. (2008). (No) News on the World Wide Web?: A comparative content analysis of online news in Europe and the United States. *Journalism Studies*, *9*(5), 717-738.
- Rao, H., Monin, P., & Durand, R. (2005). Border Crossing: Bricolage and the Erosion of Categorical Boundaries in French Gastronomy. *American Sociological Review*, 70(6), 968-991.

- Rao, H., & Neilsen, E. H. (1992). An ecology of agency arrangements: Mortality of savings and loan associations, 1960-1987. Administrative Science Quarterly, 448-470.
- Rebillard, F., & Touboul, A. (2010). Promises unfulfilled? 'Journalism 2.0', user participation and editorial policy on newspaper websites. *Media, Culture & Society, 32*(2), 323-334.
- Romanelli, E. (1989). Environments and Strategies of Organization Start-up: Effects on Early Survival. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *34*(3), 369-387.
- Romanelli, E. (1989). Organization Birth and Population Variety: A Community Perspective on Origins. *Research in Organizational Behavior, 11*, 211.
- Romanelli, E. (1991). The Evolution of New Organizational Forms. *Annual Review of Sociology, 17*(1), 87-103.
- Ryan, J. (2000). The production and consumption of culture: Essays on Richard A.

  Peterson's contributions to cultural sociology: A prolegomenon. *Poetics*, 28(2), 91-96.
- Sacher, S. (2011). Antitrust issues in defining markets in the newspaper industry. *Available at SSRN 1967667*.
- Schneiberg, M., & Clemens, E. S. (2006). The Typical Tools for the Job: Research Strategies in Institutional Analysis. *Sociological Theory*, *24*(3), 195-227.
- Schudson, M. (2003). *The sociology of news*: Norton New York.
- Schulhofer-Wohl, S., & Garrido, M. (2009). Do newspapers matter? Evidence from the closure of The Cincinnati Post: Discussion papers in economics/Princeton University, Woodrow Wilson School of Public and International Affairs.

- Schulhofer-Wohl, S., & Garrido, M. (2009). Do Newspapers Matter?: Evidence from the Closure of *The Cincinnati Post. Discussion Papers in Economics: Woodrow Wilson School of Public and International Affairs, Discussion Paper* #236.
- Siles, I., & Boczkowski, P. J. (2006). Making sense of the newspaper crisis: A critical assessment of existing research and an agenda for future work. *New Media & Society, 14*(8), 1375-1394.
- Singer, J. B. (2006). Stepping Back from the Gate: Online Newspaper Editors and the Co-Production of Content in Campaign 2004. *Journalism and Mass Communication Quarterly*, 83(2), 265-280.
- Singer, J. B. (2010). Quality control: Perceived effects of user-generated content on newsroom norms, values and routines. *Journalism Practice*, 4(2), 127-142.
- Stamm, K., & Underwood, D. (1993). The relationship of job satisfaction to newsroom policy changes. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 70(3), 528-541.
- Starr, P. (2012). An Unexpected Crisis The News Media in Postindustrial Democracies. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, 17(2), 234-242.
- Sundar, S. S. (2000). Multimedia Effects on Processing and Perception of Online News:

  A Study of Picture, Audio, and Video Downloads. *Journalism & Mass*Communication Quarterly, 77(3), 480-499.
- Tak Wing, C., & Goldthorpe, J. H. (2007). Social Status and Newspaper Readership. *American Journal of Sociology, 112*(4), 1095-1134.
- Thornton, P., & Ocasio, W. (2008). Institutional Logics. In R. Greenwood, C. Oliver, R. Suddaby & K. Sahlin-Andersson (Eds.), *The Sage Handbook of Organizational Institutionalism*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.

- Thornton, P. H., & Ocasio, W. (1999). Institutional logics and the historical contingency of power in organizations: Executive succession in the higher education publishing industry, 1958-1990 1. *American Journal of Sociology, 105*(3), 801-843.
- Thornton, P. H., & Ocasio, W. (1999). Institutional logics and the historical contingency of power in organizations: Executive succession in the higher education publishing industry, 1958-1990 1. *American Journal of Sociology, 105*(3), 801-843.
- Thornton, P. H., & Ocasio, W. (2008). Institutional logics. *The Sage handbook of organizational institutionalism*, 840.
- Thornton, P. H., Ocasio, W., & Lounsbury, M. (2012). *The institutional logics*perspective: A new approach to culture, structure, and process: Oxford University

  Press.
- Useem, M. (1976). Government Patronage of Science and Art in America. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 19(6), 785.
- Useem, M. (1976). Government patronage of science and art in America. *American behavioral scientist*, 19(6), 785-804.
- Van Lente, D., & De Goey, F. (2008). Trajectories of Internationalization: Knowledge and National Business Styles in the Making of Two Dutch Publishing Multinationals, 1950–1990. *Enterprise and Society*, *9*(1), 165-202.
- Zelizer, B. (1992). CNN, the Gulf War, and journalistic practice. *Journal of Communication*, 42(1), 66-81.
- Zillien, N., & Hargittai, E. (2009). Digital Distinction: Status-Specific Types of Internet

Usage. Social Science Quarterly (Blackwell Publishing Limited), 90(2), 274-291.